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Key figures  
according to IFRS

in EUR m

2011 2010 +/– %

Group revenue 1,093.5 929.7 17.6

Automotive revenue 680.3 610.2 11.5

Seating Systems revenue 438.0 341.9 28.1

Income statement    

EBITDA 76.9 59.2 29.6

EBITDA-margin (in %) 7.0 6.4 0.6 %-points

EBIT 49.4 32.9 50.2

EBIT-margin (in %) 4.5 3.5 1 %-point

Profit/loss (–) before income taxes 34.3 20.6 66.5

Net profit/loss (–) 22.1 16.3 35.6

Statement of financial position    

Total assets 625.2 559.4 11.8

Equity 211.2 173.1 22.0

Equity ratio (in %) 34 31 3 %-points

Net financial debt 92.1 113.8 –19.1

Gearing (in %) 44 66 –22 %-points

Investments (without M & A) 37.6 38.1 –1.3

Depreciation and amortization 27.5 26.3 4.6

Employees (December 31) 8,726 7,955 9.7

Key share data    

Share price (Xetra closing price, in EUR) 13.02 18.30 –28.9

Number of shares 11,544,674 10,495,159 10.0

Market capitalization (in EUR m) 150.3 192.1 –21.8

Dividend (in EUR) 0.40* 0.00 –

Earnings per share (in EUR) 2.02 1.60 26.3

* Proposal

Revenue by regions (previous year in brackets)

Far East/Others 13.6 (15.0) % 

Americas 20.2 (21.0) %

Europe 66.2 (64.0) %
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Company profile

GRAMMER AG, Amberg, Germany is specialized in the development and production of components 
and systems for automotive interiors, as well as driver and passenger seats for offroad vehicles, 
trucks, busses and trains. With roughly 9,000 employees, GRAMMER has facilities worldwide and is  
a leading global player in the automotive and seating segments.

GRAMMER worldwide 
 
Increasing market dynamics, utilization of cost advantages, tapping new sales potential, and the 
heightened international involvement of our customers and suppliers are the primary drivers of our 
global presence. As a global player in the automotive and commercial vehicle segments, we have 
locations across 4 continents in 24 fully consolidated companies with more than 30 production and 
distribution centers in 18 countries – a local partner to all of our customers.

America
Argentina
Brazil
Mexico
USA

Asia
China
Japan
Turkey

Europe
Belgium
Bulgaria
Czech Republic
France
Germany
Great Britain

Poland
Russia
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Key figures Seating Systems

in EUR m

2011 2010

Revenue 438.0 341.9

EBIT 30.6 17.6

EBIT-margin (in %) 7.0 5.1

Investments 22.1 15.8

Employees (December 31) 3,377 2,744

Key figures Automotive

in EUR m

2011 2010

Revenue 680.3 610.2

EBIT 26.9 21.4

EBIT-margin (in %) 4.0 3.5

Investments 14.8 22.0

Employees (December 31) 5,148 5,034

Our Divisions

Seating Systems Automotive

Around the world, GRAMMER Seating Systems develops and produces 

driver and passenger seats for agricultural and construction vehicles, fork-

lifts, trucks, busses and trains. Following the “Design for use” philosophy, 

GRAMMER Seating Systems products are made to be ergonomic, user-

friendly, comfortable and safe. With our innovate systems, GRAMMER is 

the global leader in seats for offroad vehicles, and is among the top pro-

ducers of truck, bus and train seats. 

Our Automotive division supplies headrests, armrests and center consoles to 

well-known carmakers and systems suppliers for the automotive industry. 

Our interior components are distinguished by their comfort, design and 

safety. Because of our competitive and high-quality products, leading car-

makers and automotive system suppliers prize GRAMMER Automotive as a 

source of new ideas and a driving force for innovation in the area of auto-

motive interior components.

Key business segments Key business segments

•	Offroad 
	� Driver seats for commercial vehicles  

(agricultural and construction machinery, forklifts)

•	Headrests 
 
 

•	 Truck & Bus 
	 Driver seats for trucks and busses

•	Armrests 

•	Railway 
	 Passenger seats for trains 
	 Train driver seats

•	Center consoles 
 

Strategy
Seating Systems Automotive

•	 ��Expansion of technology leadership for innovative seating systems

•	 �Utilization of growth potential in Asia and North America

•	 �Strengthening of worldwide market position through market/ 

customer-oriented solutions for offroad and truck seats

•	 �Targeted market development with selected customers in  

Europe, Asia and NAFTA with a complete product range

•	 �Expansion of our position as first tier supplier for interior 

components

•	 �Cost leadership in the headrest segment and operational  

excellence in all processes through optimization of production 

technologies and value chains 

 



Milestones 2011 

GRAMMER Group once again looks back upon a year of successes 
in 2011, in which we achieved important milestones. Our investment 
in new markets and products is beginning to pay off – with new 
records set in terms of revenue and operating profit.

On the financing front, our foundations have been strengthened sig-
nificantly through a capital increase and restructuring of our financial 
liabilities. For the first time since the year 2008, we will again pay 
a dividend so that shareholders can participate in the success of the 
Company.

Through introduction of numerous new products and acquisition of 
Belgian electronics specialist, EiA Electronics, we have opened the 
next chapter in a successful future. 

Our 2012 milestones focus on leveraging the immense growth poten-
tial, especially in Asia and America. We aim to become even more 
profitable and to further optimize cash flow in order to ensure ad-
equate free liquidity to finance a sustainable dividend and strategic 
investments in new markets and products. 
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looking back on 2011, it was a year characterized on the one hand by a further recovery of our markets in 

Germany and abroad, but on the other by the debt crisis in Europe and the United States. Despite the result-

ing uncertainties and a very volatile exchange rate environment, GRAMMER Group has successfully main-

tained its growth trajectory. After an increase of 18 percent, revenue has once again surpassed the billion 

mark for the first time since 2008, setting a new record at EUR 1.1 billion. And operating profit also set a new 

record in 2011. Although sometimes severe volatility in commodity and currency markets were not without 

effect on our earnings situation, earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) was 50 percent higher at 

EUR 49 million.

Particularly pleasing for me is that, for the first time since 2008, GRAMMER will again ensure that share

holders participate in the success of the Company by paying a dividend. At the Annual General Meeting on 

May 23, 2012, the Executive and Supervisory Boards will propose payment of a dividend in the amount of 

EUR 0.40 per share for the 2011 fiscal year. The re-alignment of GRAMMER Group over the past few years 

paved the way for a return to our traditional status as an attractive dividend paying stock.

In the Automotive division, the main impetus last year came from the premium segment and the sustained 

strength of German car exports. We saw especially gratifying development in center console business. Within 

only a few years, GRAMMER has gone from newcomer in this area to a trusted and innovative tier 1 supplier. 

Our goal is to double center console revenue by 2016, building on existing orders and new projects.

In our second division, Seating Systems, the offroad segment has contributed substantially to our positive 

earnings performance. In order to strengthen our technological leadership, we acquired the Belgian electronic 

specialist EiA Electronics in July 2011. This high-tech company specializes in development, integration and 

distribution of electronic components for commercial vehicles. With this new addition to the GRAMMER 

family, we will be able to integrate displays, consoles, control elements and communication modules into our 

seats and offer customers individualized solutions for their vehicle cabs. Thus, the acquisition of EiA Electron-

ics marks an important step in our corporate strategy to accomplish the extension of the value chain and 

targeted expansion of our know-how in electronics.

Moreover, the start of production for our new generation truck seats in Europe and the US marks another 

important milestone of our growth strategy in the commercial vehicle segment and substantially strengthens 

our competitive position in markets worldwide.

In order to further improve the efficiency of our research and development (R&D) activities, we intend to 

soon begin construction of a new R&D center. It will play an important role in securing our continued techno-

logical and innovative leadership. At the R&D center, our engineers will not only develop new and innovative 

products or research new materials such as hybrids. They will also work to advance innovative manufacturing 

processes, like laser welding or gas injection molding. At the same time, our local R&D centers in China,  

Turkey, Brazil and the US will adapt our existing product and basic developments to the specific requirements 

of their countries and customers. In this way, we will be able to be competitive with local suppliers. It will also 

allow us to keep pace internationally with the global players in the industry. 
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The investments in the future that have yet to be made at our home location have already been completed 

in other locations. For instance, we have completed expansion of the Tachov plant in the Czech Republic to 

equip it for final assembly and distribution of our new generation MSG 115 truck seats. The major metal 

components for the seat are sourced from our Haselmühl plant near Amberg, where we have made targeted 

investments in new process technologies and production systems. Our investments totaling more than 

EUR 5 million serve to expand and optimize our core competencies in metal production at the Haselmühl 

location.

GRAMMER also reached important milestones on the financial front in 2011. Our equity base was strength-

ened and the balance sheet structure improved through the successful 10 percent capital increase in April. 

And, in summer, we completely restructured our financial liabilities. An existing syndicated loan agreement 

was redeemed early and replaced with a debenture bond issue at considerably better conditions. This gives 

us the financial flexibility for further organic and external growth. 

By accomplishing these key goals, GRAMMER has gone a long way towards ensuring sustainable success 

and readying us to take on the coming challenges. Investments in new markets and products, along with 

strategic and operational measures aimed at restructuring GRAMMER Group over the past several years are 

now paying off, as well as improving our competitive position and earnings strength. GRAMMER will con-

tinue to pursue this successful strategy through targeted investment in new markets and innovations.

In addition, we now have to focus on future challenges and realize our immense growth potential – espe-

cially in Asia and America. To this end, we are working to strengthen our local presence and looking into 

regional partnerships in China, India, Russia and the US in order to further reduce dependence on single 

markets and regional economic conditions, as well as better offsetting the effects of economic and market 

swings.

A primary focus in 2012 will be on achieving even greater profitability and optimizing cash flows. This will 

ensure that adequate liquidity is always available for attractive dividend payments and further reductions in 

bank liabilities, as well as for financing of strategic acquisitions. 

We would like to thank all of our shareholders and customers for the trust they have placed in us, along with 

our employees for their high degree of commitment and motivation. In 2012, we look forward to continuing 

our work together for the successful future of GRAMMER.

Sincerely

Hartmut Müller

Chief Executive Officer of GRAMMER AG
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from left to right

Manfred Pretscher
Member of the Executive Board since August 2010
Purchasing/SCM, Operations, Operations Performance Management, Human Resources

Hartmut Müller
Chief Executive Officer since August 2010
Member of the Executive Board since 2007
Strategic Product Planning, Internal Control, R&D, Legal, IT

Alois Ponnath
Member of the Executive Board since 2000
Central Services, Investor Relations, Communications & Marketing, 
Quality Management & Systems, Sales & Projects

Executive Board
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Leading the way 

Worldwide, GRAMMER is among the top manufacturers of truck seats 
for the commercial vehicle sector. Thanks to promising new product 
launches in Europe and the US, we will continue to increase market 

share in this dynamic growth segment. 
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Redefining ergonomics and comfort 

Leading supplier of seating systems
Everywhere that people drive in their vehicles, our 
innovations provide maximum of safety, comfort and 
ergonomics. This customer-led focus is the key to our 
leading market position in commercial vehicles and 
passenger seating worldwide. Modular seat construc-
tion also allows fast adjustment to market demands and 
individual needs.

US truck makers also put their trust in GRAMMER
In the 4th quarter of 2011, GRAMMER – alongside joint 
venture partner, Magna Seating – achieved a major suc-
cess in the US truck market. Truck maker, Paccar, chose 
the GT700 seat series for its premium vehicles Kenworth 
T700 and Peterbilt 587. The GT700 was developed espe-
cially for these models, to meet the specialized needs of 
the drivers. It offers a full range of options and functions,  
including a state-of-the-art pneumatic suspension 
system that automatically adjusts to the weight of the 
driver.

On board with leading truck manufacturers
The newly developed MSG 115 suspended seat offers 
unmatched comfort. Horizontal vibrations and shocks are 
optimally absorbed through the seat’s fore/aft isolator, 
while the nine-way adjustable shock absorber provides 
additional suspension comfort. The pneumatic lumbar 
support further improves sitting posture, with two in-
dividually inflatable chambers and side contour adjust-
ments. The seat is ventilated to prevent a buildup of heat 
and moisture. The MSG 115 even offers height-adjustable 
neck and shoulder supports. The quality of this new 
generation GRAMMER seat has impressed leading truck 
manufacturers: It is a standard feature in both the new 
Actros from Daimler and in cabs of another European 
truck manufacturer.

A total of 3.0 million heavy trucks were produced in 2011.

Strengthening our market position
Successful launch of production for the new generation 
truck seats marks an important milestone in our growth 
strategy, while strengthening our market position in Eu-
rope and the US. Already today, truck seats have become 
a source of considerable impetus for our business perfor-
mance. With our new generation of seats, we will realize 
our full growth potential over the coming years and sig-
nificantly improve our competitive position internationally.

A  milestone in seating technology: The new MSG 115 suspended seat from GRAMMER. 

2011e 2012e 2013e 2014e 2015e 2016e

Worldwide production heavy trucks 2011–2016 (in millions of units)

3.0
3.2

3.6 3.6

4.0
3.8

2.5

3.5

4.5

Source: J. D. Power

3.0 million trucks
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Paving the way

GRAMMER is the technology leader in suspended seats for  
agricultural, forestry, construction machinery and forklifts and has 
been pioneering the field since introduction of the first pneumatic  

suspension seats more than 30 years ago.
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Leading expertise – on and offroad

Solidly in the driver’s seat
In the offroad segment, extreme operating conditions place 
the highest of demands on both vehicle and driver. As the 
principle interface between man and machine, the driver’s 
seat has a decisive influence on the work environment. 
Especially vehicles that have no suspension or are only 
partially equipped with suspension components, such as 
tractors, forklifts or construction machines require robust, 
shock-absorbing seat suspension. That’s why, as an innova-
tion leader and trend-setter for seating systems, GRAMMER 
is focused on biomechanics, shock and vibration reduction, 
user-friendly operation and seat climate control. 

Winners put their trust in GRAMMER
At the world’s largest agricultural machinery trade fair, 
Agritechnica, the editors from dlv (Deutscher Land-
wirtschaftsverlag) present awards every 2 years for the 
best innovations in agricultural machinery. All of the 
9 award-winning self-propelled models that took the 
“Machines of the Year” award in 2011 were equipped 
with driver seats from GRAMMER. There is no better 
reflection of our outstanding market position in seat-
ing systems for offroad vehicles. The competence built 
up successively over the past half century in the area of 
high-end seating systems for agricultural machines is 
the basis for this success. With our uncommonly broad 
range of products, we offer the optimum seat for every 
type of machine – from tractors to harvesters.

Seats with integrated control modules 
The next step in strengthening our competitive posi-
tion has already been undertaken. With the acquisition 
of Belgian electronic specialist EiA Electronics in the 
summer of 2011, the foundations have been laid for 
strategic expansion of the product range.

EiA Electronics strengthens our technological base and 
will allow GRAMMER to pursue targeted expansion of our 
leadership in innovation. The combination of electronic 
and ergonomic components marks the first time that a 
leading seat manufacturer is in a position to offer cus-
tomers integrated and customized solutions for optimum 
design of driver workplaces.
 

Unrivaled selection

Evolution in suspension comfort: Active, electronic suspension controls reduce the 
effects of shocks and vibrations to a minimum.

As a trend-setter and innovation leader, GRAMMER offers seating systems with  
optimum suspension and seating comfort for any type of vehicle.
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Going the distance

Since 1990, GRAMMER has been involved in  
development of passenger seats for Germany’s ICE  

high-speed trains – and has remained a  
supplier throughout every successive generation.
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In the lead at every turn

Comfortable travel
GRAMMER has been developing driver and passenger seats 
in the railway segment for more than 20 years. The product 
range covers the full spectrum of rail applications, and is 
characterized by ergonomic comfort, quality and design. 
As a supplier of passenger seats for all three ICE genera-
tions, GRAMMER seats make rail travel in Germany an 
incomparably comfortable experience. But Germany isn’t 
the only place that passengers can enjoy such incred-
ible seating comfort. Our systems are used in a variety of 
market segments around the world: From local subway and 
commuter rail services, to suburban and regional railways, 
long-distance trains and high-speed services such as the 
Transrapid. This complete product range makes GRAMMER 
a competent partner in the railway segment.

Premium train seats 
We received the coveted recipient “red dot design award” 
for the passenger seats of the Austrian National Railway. 
These premium seats set the bar for design and comfort. 
Top-quality manufacturing and robust materials make 
them a prime example of “design for use”. The seats can be 
intuitively adjusted by the passengers and control elements 
are ergonomically situated. The trademark “ergomechanics® 
inside” shows that the latest scientific findings from the 
fields of seat ergonomics and biomechanics and more have 
gone into development of the seats.  

Immense potential in Asia 
Railway network is set to grow significantly in the coming 
years, especially in Asia. As one of the leading manufac-
turers of train seats, we aim to participate in this growth. 
Already today, China is the world’s second-largest market 
for rail vehicles. The focus of investments in the country 
is on expansion of the high-speed rail network and, as 
urbanization continues to increase, regional rail services 
and subway systems.

There are also promising opportunities opening up in coun-
tries like Ukraine or Russia, where investment demand has 
been pent up severely over the past decades. GRAMMER’s 
core market, however, continues to be Europe, where more 
than three-fourths of revenue in the railway segment was 
generated in 2011. Highly comfortable at high speeds: GRAMMER’s ICE seats offer the perfect blend of 

ergonomics and first-class features.

-

Revenue by region

Western Europe 36%
(excluding Germany)

Germany 50% 

Eastern Europe 6%
  

Asia/Others 4%
America 4%

In 2010, GRAMMER’s ICE passenger seats were used by 
nearly 220 thousand people every day.

220,000
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In the fast lane

Center consoles are the latest – as well as the most rapidly  
growing – product segment at GRAMMER Automotive. In addition to 

elegant design, high-quality feel and finish, GRAMMER center consoles 
also offer excellent functionality and numerous multi-media controls. 
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From newcomer to trusted partner

Targeted investments in development,  
production and logistics
In the center consoles product segment, which was only 
launched in 2004, we have built a reputation very quickly 
as an innovative and reliable tier one supplier of automo-
tive interiors. This achievement was only possible through 
systematic expansion of development, production and 
supply chain capacities. The high number of options for the 
various models and features requires a logistic concept tai-
lored to individual customer needs. GRAMMER’s perfectly 
harmonized procurement, manufacturing and logistics 
planning enables us to supply interior systems worldwide 
just-in-time or even just-in-sequence.

Focus on innovation
With our consistent focus on innovation in products and 
processes, GRAMMER is following through with its growth 
strategy in center consoles. At our 3 development centers 
in Amberg (Germany), Troy (USA) and Shanghai (China), 
our engineers work on these solutions within our group-
wide R&D network. For example, we have begun to use the 
mono-sandwich process for production of center consoles, 
which makes it possible to manufacture a high-quality 
center console with a modern design at reasonable cost. 
An important strategic improvement in this area will be 
the integration of electronic components into the center 
consoles. 

Significant growth potential in the coming years
The fact that GRAMMER center consoles offer the right 
blend of design and functionality can be seen in the num-
ber of new orders and the development of revenue in the 
segment. Our goal is to double center console revenue by 
2016, building on existing orders and new projects.

13

GRAMMER center consoles: functionality and elegant design.

An important factor for outstanding driving comfort: GRAMMER center consoles.

In the fast lane: More and more passenger cars are equipped with  
GRAMMER center consoles.
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Passenger cars with GRAMMER center consoles (number)
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Effective passenger 
safety

When it comes to protecting vehicle passengers,  
the headrest plays an important role. The broad spectrum  

of GRAMMER systems offers a maximum of safety  
and comfort.
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Intelligent answers to safety

Active and sensitive
Even something as simple as the headrest, a product that 
has been in the market for decades, can be targeted for 
improvement. And this is just what we have done, with an 
innovative model that combines active support with sen-
sor technologies. The crash active head restraint system 
has the advantage over static headrests that, in the event 
of an accident, it moves forward at several centimeters 
in the blink of an eye in order to prevent uncontrolled 
backward acceleration of the head.

The crash active module is triggered in a rear-end collision 
by compression springs or pyrotechnic charges, thus sig-
nificantly reducing the likelihood of injury to the cervical 
spine. Under normal conditions, however, the headrest 
maintains a sufficient distance from the back of the head 
and offers optimum seating comfort. This is yet another 
proof that GRAMMER innovations bring more quality and 
safety to mobile people.

Improvement of passive systems
Due to higher costs, crash active systems are generally 
only included in upper medium and premium vehicles. 
Consequently, we have also developed a passive system 
with similar safety characteristics – the horizontaly  
adjustable headrest. With simple manual or electric 
adjustment in the horizontal plane, it can be moved to 
the ideal position to protect the head of the passenger, 
thus also effectively reducing the likelihood of whiplash 
injuries. 

Objective: Cost leadership
Headrests, are so-called me-too products, which can be 
manufactured by suppliers throughout the world. In order 
to thrive in this tough competitive environment, GRAMMER 
aims to achieve cost leadership. This will be accomplished 
though increased reliance on our sewing centers in low-
cost regions, as well as a focus on standardized products 
and modular component systems for headrest mounts and 
mounting rods. 

Head protection is among the most important factors in car passenger safety. 
GRAMMER headrest systems: innovative technology, state-of-the-art safety.
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Headrests produced by GRAMMER (in million units)

Active support combined with lightning fast sensor tech-
nology – within milliseconds, the headrest snaps forward 
several centimeters to effectively reduce head impact.

55 ms
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The groundwork has been laid for sustainable success. 
Now, it is time to concentrate on future challenges and 

realize our growth potential – especially in Asia  
and America.

The long haul
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Investments in growth markets

The growing importance of China and America
Traditionally, GRAMMER have had its strongest footing 
in Europe. This is where we generate at least half of our 
revenue, and where we have optimized 2 of our major 
manufacturing sites by investing in truck seat production 
(Tachov/Czech Republic) and metal production (Hasel-
mühl/Germany). But, as market leader in many segments, 
we are stepping-up our search for growth opportunities 
outside of Europe. For instance, in China, which has de-
veloped into the world’s second-largest car market and is 
taking on a dominant position with respect to commercial 
vehicle demand. We have had a presence there for more 
than 10 years, and intend to expand our footprint in the 
coming years. America also holds great potential, which 
we will further develop going forward. This applies equally 
to automotive interiors for local carmakers, our new 
generation of truck seats and penetration of new markets 
in offroad business. 

Greater independence through regional partnerships 
Successful implementation of the projects we have been 
awarded in the US and China will result in further localiza-
tion of production capacities and new plant construction. 
2 of the measures in planning are a new location in the 
US and another plant in China. At the same time, we are 
looking into regional partnerships in China, India, Russia 
and the US. This will further reduce the risk of depen-
dence on single markets and regional economic condi-
tions, as well as better offsetting the effects of market 
swings.

Local presence is a key to success
As a global player in the automotive and commercial ve-
hicle segments, we have locations across 4 continents in 
24 fully consolidated companies with more than 30 pro-
duction and distribution centers in 18 countries – a local 
partner to all of our customers. This is the only way to 
maintain active customer relations. It also allows project, 
engineering and sales teams to coordinate quickly and 
communicate directly with customers. A milestone in our 
long-standing commitment in Asia was the setup of our 
Shanghai production site in 2009. In China, we now have 
a total of 3 production locations.

In North America, from our plants in Mexico and the 
sales and engineering offices in Troy/Michigan and 
Greenville/South Carolina, we are able to serve the entire 
North American automotive market. In the commercial 
vehicle market, we work together with our long-standing 
partner, Magna, via the joint venture GRA-MAG. Our 
Hudson/Wisconsin location serves the North American 
offroad market. GRAMMER intends to penetrate this 
segment and additional markets via new, individualized 
products and customer solutions. In South America, our 
long-standing plant in Atibaia near Sao Paulo guarantees 
our leadership in truck and offroad seats within this key 
region for GRAMMER.

GRAMMER is positioned 
throughout the world as a 
global partner to the car and 
commercial vehicle industries.

Investments by region (previous year in bracket)

Far East/Others 9.0 (5.7) % 

Americas 11.6 (8.7) %
  

Europe 79.4 (85.6) %

30 locations
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In order to strengthen our leadership in innovation, we have  
to expand our competencies. With acquisition of EiA Electronics,  

we have found the ideal partner. The company has a broad  
spectrum of know-how for integration of electronic  

components into our products.

Individualized solutions
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Seats with integrated control modules

Two specialists that ideally complement each other
GRAMMER dominates the seating systems market for 
offroad vehicles, such as agricultural and construction 
machinery or forklifts. EiA Electronics has also been active 
in this market segment for many years. The Belgium-based 
company is a development and distribution partner for 
individualized customer solutions, and has been selling 
displays, controls, consoles, control levers and commu-
nication modules, as well as intelligent sensors for more 
than 20 years. 

Focus on offroad business
Through the acquisition of EiA Electronics in the summer 
of 2011, we are systematically pursuing our corporate 
strategy of extending the value chain. This makes sense 
given that agricultural and construction machinery cus-
tomers were already using EiA technologies as separate 
components with selected GRAMMER products. We now 
have the technological expertise to integrate electronic 
sensors and controls in-house. This makes us the first 
leading seat manufacturer to offer customers complete 
seating systems with matching control elements. Our 
product development activities are currently focused on 
offroad commercial vehicles, where we are strengthening 
our leading position in suspended driver seats with 
the combined product range of EiA Electronics and 
GRAMMER. Our goal is to begin offering the first jointly 
developed products in the coming months. 

Untold possibilities
As the next step, EiA know-how will then be used for in-
novative solutions in the truck and automotive markets. 
An important strategic advance for the Automotive 
division will be the integration of electronic components 
into the center consoles. In this area, a further strategic 
investment or partnership may come about.

19Milestones 2011

GRAMMER EiA Electronics specializes in development, production and distribution of individualized electronic solutions for offroad vehicles.

New member of the family: GRAMMER EiA Electronics has 
roughly 50 employees and generated revenue of approxi-
mately EUR 27 million in 2011.

100 % electronic
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Through additional equity and restructuring of financial 
debt, GRAMMER has improved its capital structure, and 

laid the groundwork for further growth. 

Solid structure

20 GRAMMER Annual Report 2011
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Renewed financial strength
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Successful capital increase
In order to raise fresh capital, GRAMMER implemented a 
capital increase in April 2011. The 10-percent increase in 
share capital yielded EUR 19.1 million, with 1.05 million 
new shares placed. Demand was high among institutional 
investors in Germany and other European countries. The 
proceeds from the issue serve to improve the Company’s 
balance sheet, as well as creating additional scope for 
organic and external growth. 

Financial liabilities restructured
The capital increase was just one step taken as part of our 
new financing strategy. In August 2011, GRAMMER also 
issued a EUR 60 million debenture bond, along with early 
prolongation of a EUR 9.5 million tranche of the existing 
debenture bond and a new global credit facility totaling 
EUR 78.5 million, to replace the EUR 110 million syndicated 
loan agreement that was set to expire in March 2013. The 
new conditions represent a significant improvement over 
the existing syndicated loan agreement. At the same time, 
we expanded our creditor base and significantly aligned the 
maturities of liabilities. 

Improved cost structure and cash flow
For GRAMMER, 2011 was extremely successful in terms of 
both revenue and earnings. But, we can and will make the 
Company even more profitable. To do so, we must continue 
to optimize cost structures and increase our competitive 
position. The aim is greater profitability throughout the 
Group. One focus in this respect is on improving free cash 
flow (liquidity available after investments). This will ensure 
that adequate liquidity is always available for attractive 
dividend payments, as well as further reduction of bank 
liabilities and financing strategic acquisitions. 

In April 2011, GRAMMER placed 1.05 million new shares 
with a gross proceeds of EUR 19.1 million.

EUR 19.1 million

21Milestones 2011
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Corporate Governance Report 
and Statement in accordance 
with section 289 a of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB)

Declaration of Compliance
On December 6, 2011, the Executive and Supervisory Boards of 
GRAMMER AG issued the following declaration in accordance with 
section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act on compliance 
with the German Corporate Governance Code (GCGC).

In accordance with section 161 of the German Stock Corpora-
tion Act (Aktiengesetz – AktG), the Executive and Supervisory 
Boards of GRAMMER AG hereby affirm their past and future 
compliance with the recommendations of the German Corporate 
Governance Code, in the version dated May, 26 2010 and pub-
lished in the electronic Federal Gazette on July 2, 2010, with the 
following exceptions:

The Annual General Meeting of GRAMMER AG resolved on 
May 26, 2011, at the proposal of the Executive Board and Super-
visory Board of GRAMMER AG that the remuneration for mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board is restructured as of fiscal year 
2011 and – in deviation from the recommendation under item 
5.4.6 paragraph 2 GCGC – to eliminate the variable remunera-
tion component for service on the Supervisory Board. 

The Executive and Supervisory Boards of GRAMMER AG are of 
the opinion that payment of a commensurate fixed salary and 
elimination of the variable component for members of the Su-
pervisory Board underlines the independence of the Supervisory 
Board and better serves to prevent potential conflicts of interest 
in regard to its decisions, and that a salary based purely on 
membership in the Supervisory Board is better suited to the 
monitoring function of the members.

GRAMMER AG maintains voluntary compliance with the recom-
mendations of the GCGC, with the following exception:

• �Presently, the GRAMMER AG Annual General Meeting cannot be 
viewed via modern communication media (e.g. Internet).

This declaration, along with all Declarations of Compliance issued 
in previous years, is permanently available on the GRAMMER AG 
website under www.grammer.com/en/investor-relations/corporate-
facts/corporate-governance.

Relevant information on management practices outside  
the scope of statutory requirements
The Code of Conduct in effect within GRAMMER Group is a binding 
guideline for the legal and responsible conduct of all employees 
worldwide. It contains rules governing the conducting of business 
at GRAMMER and sets high ethical standards. In addition to the 
Code of Conduct, GRAMMER AG has issued additional explanations 
and specifications of the rules and offers web-based training to 
support employees with compliance and implementation. The Com-
pany ensures that all employees have access to specialist-support 
for questions pertaining to the Code of Conduct. This “Code Team” 
assists in the rectification of violations of the code, and works to 
pursue instances of improper conduct. 

Description of the work processes of the Executive and  
Supervisory Boards and of the membership and  
methods of the Supervisory Board committees
As a stock corporation under German law, GRAMMER AG has a dual 
management system comprising the Executive Board and Supervi-
sory Board, each of which has distinct competencies. In the context 
of management and monitoring of the Company, the Executive and 
Supervisory Boards of GRAMMER AG work together in a close and 
trusting relationship. Management of GRAMMER AG is carried out 
by the Executive Board on the basis of statutory guidelines and the 
rules of procedure defined by the Supervisory Board. The Executive 
Board is advised and monitored by the Supervisory Board. The mem-
bers of the Executive Board are appointed by the Supervisory Board, 
which has approval power over material business transactions.

Supervisory Board
The twelve members of the GRAMMER AG Supervisory Board in 
accordance with German law and the Company’s Articles of Asso-
ciation include six shareholders and six employee representatives. 
All members of the Supervisory Board, elected by the Annual Gen-
eral Meeting are independent persons, having no business or per-
sonal relationships with the Company or the Executive Board. 

The following members Mr. Udo Fechtner, Dr. Bernd Blankenstein 
and Mr. Frank Himmelhuber left the Supervisory Board in 2011.  
To succeed them, the following people were court appointed as 
members of the Supervisory Board: Mr. Martin Bodensteiner,  
Ms. Ingrid Hunger and Mr. Harald Jung. All employee representa-
tives in the Supervisory Board have been elected until conclusion 
of the Annual General Meeting in 2015. The Supervisory Board  
will nominate Ingrid Hunger for election to the Supervisory Board 
at the 2012 Annual General Meeting. The term of office of  

Corporate Governance Report
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Dr. Peter Stehle ends upon conclusion of the Annual General Meet-
ing in 2013. The remaining members were elected by the sharehold-
ers until conclusion of the Annual General Meeting in 2015. 

The Supervisory Board advises and monitors the Executive Board in 
matters relating to management of the Company. The Supervisory 
Board is involved in strategy and planning, as well as in all issues 
that are of key importance to the Company.

The Supervisory Board of GRAMMER AG performs its duties in ac-
cordance with its own rules of procedure. The Supervisory Board 
report provides detailed information on the activities of the Board 
as well as its cooperation with the Executive Board. 

The Supervisory Board appoints and discharges the members of the 
Executive Board. When filling vacant seats on the Executive Board, 
the Supervisory Board ensures the professional qualifications, in-
ternational experience and leadership quality of the candidate, as 
well as maintaining a view to diversity and, in particular, adequate 
consideration of female candidates. The Supervisory Board will 
therefore emphasize inclusion of qualified female applicants in the 
selection process and adequate consideration of these applicants 
when next there is a vacancy to be filled on the Executive Board. 

The Executive and Supervisory Boards of GRAMMER AG are obliged 
to act in the interest of the Company. Conflicts of interest on the 
part of Supervisory Board members must be disclosed to the Su-
pervisory Board. No conflicts of interest were identified among the 
members of the Supervisory Board in fiscal year 2011.

Supervisory Board’s efficiency review
The Supervisory Board regularly conducts a review to evaluate the 
efficiency of its activities. At the September meeting of the Super-
visory Board, critical issues and proposals for improvement were 
discussed and measures adopted to increase efficiency.

Objectives of the Supervisory Board with regard  
to its composition
During fiscal year 2010, the Supervisory Board adopted a set of 
objectives, the status of which was reviewed in 2011:

• �With the court appointment of Ms. Ingrid Hunger as shareholder 
representative on the Supervisory Board of GRAMMER AG, there 
are now two women serving on the Board. 

• �At the March 2011 meeting, the Supervisory Board created and 
adopted a qualification profile, in the context of which the mem-
bers were surveyed with respect to the knowledge, skills and pro-
fessional experience necessary for proper performance of their 
functions as a basis for qualification of future Board members.

The Supervisory Board also adopted measures in support of  
autonomous training and continuing education measures. 

Supervisory Board Committees
The Supervisory Board of GRAMMER AG has formed four commit-
tees: the Strategy Committee, the Audit Committee, the Standing 
Committee and the Nominating Committee. The work of the com-
mittees is based on the rules of procedure of the Supervisory 
Board. The Audit Committee has its own rule of procedure. The  
Audit Committee meets at least once each quarter. The remaining 
committees meet as needed. 

The composition of the Supervisory Board and its committees is 
outlined on page 26. Remuneration of the Supervisory Board is 
explained on page 42 f.

Executive Board
The Executive Board of GRAMMER AG comprises three members: 
Mr. Hartmut Müller, Chief Executive Officer of GRAMMER AG, 
Mr. Alois Ponnath and Mr. Manfred Pretscher. The Executive Board 
bears joint responsibility for managing the business of the Com-
pany. Rules of procedure govern their individual responsibilities and 
internal cooperation. In accordance with the applicable rules of 
procedure, certain decisions by the Executive Board require the 
approval of the Supervisory Board. 

At regular meetings, the Executive Board provides the Supervisory 
Board with prompt and comprehensive information, verbally and  
in writing, about current business developments and management 
issues. The focus of these meetings is on the strategy, ongoing 
business and economic situation of the Company and the Group,  
as well as risk management.

The Executive Board members of GRAMMER AG are obliged to act 
in the interest of the Company. Conflicts of interest on the part of 
the members of the Executive Board must be disclosed immediately 
to the Supervisory Board and the other members of the Executive 
Board. No conflicts of interest were identified among the members 
of the Executive Board in fiscal year 2011.

The Executive Board already decided in August of 2010 to achieve  
a 15 % quota of women in top management and 20 % in middle 
management by 2015, and presented a corresponding strategy for 
doing so. The current status of these objectives were discussed at 
the December meeting of the Supervisory Board.

The composition of the Executive Board is explained on page 108 f. 
Remuneration of the Executive Board and an explanation of the 
remuneration system are presented in the remuneration report on 
page 42 f.

Corporate Governance Report
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Ownership of shares
Members of the Executive and Supervisory Boards, along with all 
other employees having management duties, are obliged in accor-
dance with section 15a of the German Securities Trading Act  
(Wertpapierhandelsgesetz – WpHG), to disclose the purchase and 
sale of GRAMMER shares or financial instruments relating to them. 
This obligation also applies to persons closely associated with the 
above group. In the reporting year, no such transactions were  
disclosed to GRAMMER AG.

On the balance sheet date of December 31, 2011, members of the 
Executive Board and the Supervisory Board directly or indirectly 
held less than 1.0 % of the Company’s shares. This also takes into 
account shares owned by persons closely associated with members 
of the Executive and/or Supervisory Board within the meaning of 
section 15a (1) sentence 2 WpHG.

Relationships with our shareholders and investors

Relationship with our shareholders
The shareholders of GRAMMER AG exercise their rights of co-
determination and control in the context of the Annual General 
Meeting. All matters mandated by law are voted on by the Annual 
General Meeting, with binding effect for the shareholders and the 
Company; each share accords one vote. Among the tasks assigned 
to the Annual General Meeting by law are deciding on the appro-
priation of net retained profit, approval of the actions of the mem-
bers of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board, appointment of 
auditors, election of the members of the Supervisory Board and 
decisions about amendments to the Articles of Association. The 
Annual General Meeting also serves as a platform for dialogue  
between shareholders and members of the Executive and Super
visory Boards.

After timely registration and presentation of evidence of share 
ownership, all shareholders have the right to attend and exercise 
voting rights at the Annual General Meeting. Absent shareholders 
may exercise their voting rights by proxy through an authorized 
representative with full power of attorney or a voting representa-
tive subject to shareholder instructions. Moreover, GRAMMER AG 
permits shareholders to vote by absentee ballot. 

The invitation to the Annual General Meeting, as well as reports 
and information necessary as background for voting, are published 
by GRAMMER AG in accordance with the German Stock Corpora-
tion Act. This information is also available on the Company website 
www.grammer.com. 

Investor relations 
As a matter of principle, GRAMMER reports about the Company 
and current developments equally and at the same time to all  
relevant target groups. The Executive and Supervisory Boards are 
committed to the continuing improvement of communication, in 
order to ensure comprehensive and transparent information of  
the public.

At the website www.grammer.com, both institutional and private 
investors have direct access to in-depth coverage of relevant top-
ics. In addition to current press releases, all Declarations of Compli-
ance with the German Corporate Governance Code, information 
about the Executive Board and Annual General Meeting are pub-
lished here as well as annual and quarterly reports. The Internet site 
also provides information on all important dates and publications, 
ad hoc notifications and transactions subject to disclosure require-
ments (director’s dealings). The Annual Document in accordance 
with section 10 of the German Securities Prospectus Act (Wertpa-
pierprospektgesetz – WpPG) as well as other information of interest 
to investors, such as road show presentations, are also included.

Accounting and auditing
GRAMMER AG prepares its consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 
The separate financial statements are prepared in accordance with 
the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch – HGB).

The auditing firm appointed by the Annual General Meeting  
– Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Steuer-
beratungsgesellschaft, Nuremberg – audited both the consolida-
ted financial statements and the annual financial statements of  
GRAMMER AG. Both audits were performed in compliance with all 
German accounting rules and taking into account the Generally 
Accepted Standards in Germany for the Audit of Financial State-
ments promulgated by the German Institute of Auditors (Institut 
der Wirtschaftsprüfer – IDW).

The audit also covered risk management and compliance with cor-
porate governance reporting requirements under section 161 of the 
Stock Corporation Act. It was contractually agreed that the auditor 
would immediately notify the Supervisory Board as to any grounds 
for disqualification or conflicts of interest, as well as any key find-
ings and occurrences during the audit. No such notification needed 
to be made. The annual financial statements and the consolidated 
financial statements were both awarded an unqualified audit opinion.

Risk management
A responsible approach to business risks is a fundamental element 
of good corporate governance. Group-wide and company-specific 
management accounting and control systems ensure that the Ex-
ecutive Board and management of GRAMMER AG are able to read-
ily and comprehensively identify, assess and manage risks. The  
Audit Committee regularly monitors accounting processes and re-
porting, the effectiveness of the internal control system, the risk 
management system and the internal audit system. Details on  
risk management are available in the Management Report on  
pages 43 ff.

Corporate Governance Report
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Report of the Supervisory Board

Dear shareholders, 

in this report, the Supervisory Board provides information on its 
activities during fiscal year 2011. The main focus were its consul-
tations with the Executive Board regarding the Company’s new 
structure and the Company’s strategic development, in particular 
expansion in Asia and the US, as well as acquisition of Belgium-
based EiA Electronics N.V. and restructuring of the Group’s 
financing.

In fiscal year 2011, the Supervisory Board fulfilled its duties with 
utmost care in accordance with the Articles of Association and the 
law. The Supervisory Board regularly discussed fundamental and 
strategic issues concerning corporate planning, business policy, 
business development, the risk situation and risk management with 
the Executive Board. The Executive Board regularly made compre-
hensive and prompt verbal and written reports to the Supervisory 
Board with regard to all events of material importance and con-
cerning the development of the Company’s key financial and non-
financial figures. The Supervisory Board was consulted promptly 
and intensively with respect to all decisions of significance for the 
Company. Collaboration with the Executive Board was character-
ized by an open exchange of information. The Executive Board no-
tified the Supervisory Board immediately of important events that 
were of material importance for the evaluation of the position and 
performance, as well as management of the Company. In the case 
of particularly urgent processes, the Executive Board consulted 
with the Supervisory Board Chairman even before the regular 
meetings.

Numerous topics and business transactions requiring Board ap-
proval were discussed and decided at the various Supervisory 
Board meetings. In all, five meetings were held. The committee 
chairs reported regularly to the full Supervisory Board concerning 
the content and recommendations of the preceding committee 
meetings. It was not necessary to call any extraordinary Super
visory Board meetings during the past fiscal year.

Focal points of the Supervisory Board’s activities
During the 2011 reporting year, the Supervisory Board addressed, 
in depth, GRAMMER AG’s business situation, finances and strategy. 
Special attention was paid to the growth strategy as well as to the 
current earnings situation, including the risk situation and risk 
management. The state of the Company and its economic and 
financial situation were discussed in detail at each of the regular 
Supervisory Board meetings. When business developments varied 
from planning and targets, the Executive Board also provided 
detailed explanations in writing or verbally. 

At the meeting held on March 28, 2011 to review the financial 
statements, the Supervisory Board addressed the financial state-
ments and management reports for GRAMMER AG and for the 
Group as of December 31, 2010. During this meeting, the Super
visory Board discussed the agenda for the Annual General Meeting 
and decided on the resolution proposals to be submitted. The 
Supervisory Board addressed the financial restructuring measures, 
and in this context approved a capital increase with subscription 
rights, at times placing the Strategy Committee in charge of draft-
ing the necessary resolutions. The Executive Board also presented 
the risk report for the first quarter of 2011. At this meeting, the 
Supervisory Board dealt with training and continuing education 
measures for Supervisory Board members, as well as adopting a 
qualification profile for shareholder representatives in the Supervi-
sory Board. The decision was made to extend Mr. Hartmut Müller’s 
appointment as a member of the Executive Board and CEO until 
January 31, 2017 and, effective April 1, 2011, to change the powers 
of representation held by Mr. Hartmut Müller and Mr. Alois Pon-
nath to a joint power of representation. 

At the second meeting on May 25, 2011, final preparations were 
made for the Annual General Meeting. Moreover, the Executive 
Board reported on potential strategic acquisitions within the 
electronic segment as well as internal succession planning and 
the program for management talent development.

An organizational meeting of the Supervisory Board was held 
following the Annual General Meeting in Amberg on May 26, 2011. 
At this meeting, Dr. Klaus Probst, who was once again elected to 
the Supervisory Board by the Annual General Meeting, was con-
firmed as Chairman of the Supervisory Board and member of the 
Strategy, Standing and Nominating Committees. 

The main topics of the fourth regular Supervisory Board meeting 
on September 27, 2011 were the Company’s strategy until 2016,  
the Supervisory Board’s efficiency review, integration of newly 
(July 2011) acquired electronics specialist EiA Electronics N.V., 
Aartselaar/Belgium and business development during the first 
eight months of the fiscal year. 

The fifth and final regular meeting held on December 6, 2011 
focused on the budget of GRAMMER Group for 2012, the Declara-
tion of Compliance with the GCGC and the current status of the 
diversity goals. The Supervisory Board and the Executive Board 
jointly approved the budget for the new 2012 fiscal year.

There was no member of the Supervisory Board who took part in 
fewer than half the meetings.

Report of the Supervisory Board
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In fiscal year 2011, the Supervisory Board also adopted three re
solutions by way of a vote circulated in writing. The subject of the 
resolution on April 20, 2011 was appointment of Mr. Wolfgang Rösl 
as a member of the Audit and Standing Committees. The second 
circular resolution on June 6, 2011 related to approval by the 
Supervisory Board for acquisition by GRAMMER AG of 100 %  
of equity in Belgian electronics specialist EiA Electronics N.V., 
Aartselaar/Belgium at a maximum price of EUR 10.5 million. Super
visory Board approval for placement of a new debenture bond in 
the amount of at least EUR 50.0 million with the option of an in-
crease up to a maximum of EUR 65.0 million in the event of over-
subscription, and partial prolongation of the exising EUR 70.0 mil-
lion debenture bond issued August 22, 2006 of up to EUR 50.0 
million was granted via the circular resolution on July 26, 2011. 

Supervisory Board Committees
In fiscal year 2011, the four Supervisory Board committees were 
comprised as follows:

•	� Strategy Committee: 
Joachim Bender 
Dr. Bernd Blankenstein (until June 30, 2011) 
Udo Fechtner (until March 31, 2011) 
Dr. Klaus Probst (Chairman as of March 4, 2011) 
Wolfgang Rösl (as of April 1, 2011)

•	� Standing Committee: 
Joachim Bender 
Udo Fechtner (until March 31, 2011) 
Georg Liebler 
Dr. Klaus Probst (Chairman as of March 4, 2011) 
Wolfgang Rösl (as of April 20, 2011)

•	� Audit Committee: 
Udo Fechtner (until March 31, 2011) 
Wolfram Hatz (Chairman) 
Tanja Jacquemin 
Wolfgang Rösl (as of April 20, 2011) 
Dr. Bernhard Wankerl

•	� Nominating Committee: 
Wolfram Hatz 
Dr. Klaus Probst 
Dr. Bernhard Wankerl 

The Audit Committee met four times and once by telephone. The 
topics covered were the audit of the separate and consolidated 
annual financial statements for 2010, the risk report and its re-
spective updating, GRAMMER’s investments in China and the 
interim financial reports in fiscal year 2011. Following a thorough 
analysis, the Audit Committee recommended to the Supervisory 
Board that it once again recommend to the Annual General Meet-
ing on May 26, 2011 Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungs
gesellschaft, Nuremberg, as the auditor for the financial state-
ments of the Company and of the Group for fiscal year 2011.

Prior to the court appointment of Ms. Ingrid Hunger as a member 
of the Supervisory Board, the Nominating Committee held a 
meeting via telephone, where it recommended appointment of 
Ms. Ingrid Hunger to the Supervisory Board. 

The Standing Committee met three times during fiscal year 2011. 
The topics covered were the joint power of representation of  
Executive Board members, extension of the contract of employ-
ment with Mr. Hartmut Müller and his appointment as CEO of 
GRAMMER AG, as well as the performance evaluation of the 
Executive Board for 2010. Dr. Klaus Probst was elected as Chairman  
of the committee.

The Strategy Committee met once in person and two times via 
teleconferencing during fiscal year 2011. The in-person meeting 
covered the current M&A activities, restructuring of financing, 
strategic planning and changes to Supervisory Board remunera-
tion, as well as implementation of and pricing for the capital in-
crease. Dr. Klaus Probst was elected Chairman of the committee.

Annual and consolidated financial statements
At the Annual General Meeting held on May 26, 2011, 
Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Nuremberg, 
was appointed as the auditor for the reporting year. At its meeting 
of November 3, 2011, the Audit Committee engaged the auditor for 
the 2011 single-entity financial statements and the consolidated 
financial statements. The auditor submitted the Statement  
of Auditor’s Independence as required by the German Corporate 
Governance Code and disclosed the auditing and consulting fees 
charged during the fiscal year. Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschafts-
prüfungsgesellschaft audited the GRAMMER AG annual financial 
statements prepared in accordance with the German Commer- 
cial Code (HGB) and the consolidated financial statements of 
GRAMMER Group prepared in accordance with IFRS, as well as the 
management reports for both GRAMMER AG and the Group. The 
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auditor issued an unqualified opinion in both cases. Ernst & Young 
GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft determined that the man-
agement reports for GRAMMER AG and the Group truly and fairly 
represent the situation of the Company and of the Group, as well 
as the opportunities and risks with regard to future development. 
The reports and financial statement documents were provided to 
the members of Supervisory Board by the auditor in a timely 
manner and were examined thoroughly. Ernst & Young GmbH 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft reported on the key results of the 
audit during the corresponding meeting of the Audit Committee 
dealing with the annual and consolidated financial statements, a 
separate discussion with the Audit Committee Chairman and at 
the Supervisory Board meeting held on March 27, 2012 to review 
the financial statements. After thorough examination of the annual 
financial statements and consolidated financial statements as well 
as the management reports, the Supervisory Board raised no 
objections in this regard. The Supervisory Board thus endorsed  
the audit results by Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungs
gesellschaft and approved the annual financial statements for 
GRAMMER AG and the Group. The GRAMMER AG annual financial 
statements have therefore been officially approved. The Super
visory Board agreed with the Executive Board proposal for appro-
priation of net retained profits.

Corporate Governance
On December 6, 2011, the Executive Board and the Supervisory 
Board provided an updated Declaration of Compliance, which was 
made permanently and publicly available on the Company’s website. 
The recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Codex 
were followed, with one exception: Remuneration of the Super
visory Board was restructured beginning in fiscal year 2011. The 
members of the Supervisory Board now receive a fixed salary, and 
the variable component has been eliminated because the Executive 
and Supervisory Boards of GRAMMER AG are of the opinion that 
this will underline the independence of the Supervisory Board and 
serve better to prevent potential conflicts of interest in regard to its 
decisions, and that a salary based purely on membership in the 
Supervisory Board is better suited to the monitoring function of  
the members.

The diversity goals defined by the Supervisory Board were reviewed 
and continuing education courses were introduced for members of 
the Supervisory Board. 

No conflicts of interest arose among Supervisory Board members in 
relation to their activities as members of the GRAMMER AG Super-
visory Board. 

Membership of the Executive and Supervisory Boards
The composition of the Supervisory Board changed as follows 
during the reporting year: Mr. Udo Fechtner left the Company,  
and thus also the Supervisory Board of GRAMMER AG on 
March 31, 2011. Based on a petition by the Executive Board, 
Mr. Martin Bodensteiner was appointed by the Amberg local court 
on April 20, 2011 as his successor to the Supervisory Board. With 
effect from June 30, 2011, Dr. Bernd Blankenstein left the Super
visory Board. His office was taken over by the Executive Board’s 
nominee, Ms. Ingrid Hunger, by court appointment on August 22, 
2011. Frank Himmelhuber left the Company on November 15, 2011, 
on which date he also departed from the Supervisory Board. The 
Amberg local court, as petitioned by the Executive Board, appointed 
Mr. Harald Jung as executive management representative to the 
Supervisory Board of GRAMMER AG on December 22, 2011.

The composition of the Executive Board remained unchanged in 
2011, with Hartmut Müller as Chief Executive Officer, Alois Ponnath 
and Manfred Pretscher. Mr. Ponnath and the Supervisory Board 
have amicably agreed that the current CFO will leave the Company 
at the end of May 2012. 

The Supervisory Board would like to express its thanks to the 
members of the Executive Board, all of the employees and the 
employee representatives of GRAMMER AG, and its appreciation 
for their personal commitment and hard work during fiscal year 
2011.

Amberg, March 2012

On behalf of the Supervisory Board

 
 
Dr. Klaus Probst 
Chairman
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GRAMMER Share

Stock markets end a turbulent trading year  
deep in negative territory 
Stock markets were extremely volatile worldwide over the course of 
2011. The natural catastrophe in Japan, the European debt crisis 
and the rating downgrade of the US and numerous European coun-
tries played major roles in the sometimes extreme price fluctua-
tions last year.

International index levels experienced a veritable roller coaster  
ride throughout 2011. Germany’s benchmark DAX peaked in early 
May 2011 at 7,528 points. By September, the DAX had fallen to its 
lowest point of the year at 5,072 points. On December 30, 2011,  
the index finished the year down a total of 15 % year-over-year at 
5,898 points, marking one of the worst year’s ever for the index.

The SDAX, where the GRAMMER share is listed, also experienced 
similar volatility in 2011. The index of 50 small-cap companies 
reached its highest level in July, when it hit 5,611 points. In the 
subsequent weeks, it too followed the steep downward trajectory 
of markets globally, to close 2011 down roughly 15 % from the 
2010 year-end level, at 4,421 points.

GRAMMER share in the vortex of  
international financial markets
The price of the GRAMMER share was also extremely volatile over 
the past trading year, and despite positive earnings figures, was 
unable to counter the trends in financial markets internationally.

Following publication of the final financial figures for 2010 and 
announcement of a capital increase, the GRAMMER share price 
rose temporarily in April 2011 to more than EUR 20. The high for 
the year was reached on April 5, when the GRAMMER share traded 
for EUR 20.50. After a recovery in July, the share saw low trading 
volumes and, caught in the vortex of the overall downward trend, 
fell to its lowest level of 2011 on August 22 to EUR 10.87.

Given the general state of uncertainty about further global eco-
nomic developments, the share price could not be buoyed to any 
significant extent by the favorable quarterly figures reported by 
GRAMMER AG and the upward revision of the full-year guidance. 
Consequently, the GRAMMER share closed on December 30, 2011 
at a price of EUR 13.02 – this represents a decline of nearly 29 % 
from the 2010 closing price.

Average daily trading volume in 2011 was more than 66,500 shares. 
The GRAMMER share thus remains firmly in the upper middle 
rankings of the SDAX.

GRAMMER AG and SDAX Performance Index 2011 price trend (in %)

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

December 31, 2010 = 100%

GRAMMER AG
SDAX Performance Index

40

60

80

100

120



29GRAMMER Share

Equity base strengthened through  
successful capital increase 
On April 14, 2011, GRAMMER AG implemented an accelerated  
book building procedure to place 1,049,515 new shares with quali-
fied institutional investors in Germany and Europe. After conclu-
sion of the capital increase, the share capital of the Company totals 
EUR 29,554,365.44 divided into 11,544,674 shares.

The new shares were placed at a price of EUR 18.20 per share. The 
total gross proceeds of the issue, EUR 19.1 million, will serve to 
improve the structure of the balance sheet and finance further 
organic and external growth of GRAMMER AG.

Upon commercial registration of the capital increase on 
April 14, 2011, the new shares were made available for trading  
on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange and the Munich Stock Exchange 
on April 18, 2011, and included under the current listing 
ISIN DE0005895403. The new shares carry full dividend rights  
for fiscal year 2011. Global coordinator and sole bookrunner  
for the transaction was Baader Bank Aktiengesellschaft, with 
M.M.Warburg & Co. as co-lead manager.

The proceeds from the issue will strengthen the equity side of the 
balance sheet and improve the balance sheet ratios. At the same 
time, the Company now has more freedom to invest in research 
and development of technologies and processes, as well as acquisi-
tions to complete the value chain.

On July 26, GRAMMER AG acquired 100 % of equity in Belgian 
electronics specialist, EiA Electronics N.V. for a price of 
EUR 10.5 million from the proceeds of the capital increase. The 
company is based in Aartselaar, Belgium and specializes in devel-
opment, integration and distribution of electronic components  
for commercial vehicles. With the acquisition, GRAMMER has  
expanded its technological competence in the area of electronics 
while strategically broadening the Group’s product range.

GRAMMER basic share data

Key figures GRAMMER share

2011 2010

Share price at year-end (12/31)   13.02 18.30

Annual high (in EUR) 20.50 19.49

Annual low (in EUR) 10.87 5.45

Number of shares (12/31) 11,544,674 10,495,159

Market capitalization (in EUR m) 
(12/31) 150.3 192.1

Earnings per share (in EUR) 2.02 1.60

Dividend per share (in EUR) 0.40* 0
* proposal

 
On December 31, 2011, the share capital of GRAMMER AG totaled 
approximately EUR 29.6 million, divided into 11,544,674 bearer 
shares. Thereof 330,050 own shares are held by the Company. The  
GRAMMER share is listed in the SDAX, and trades on the Frankfurt 
and Munich stock exchanges via the electronic trading system, 
Xetra, as well as in over-the-counter trading at the Stuttgart, Berlin 
and Hamburg stock exchanges.

Restoration of dividend
For the first time since the 2008, GRAMMER AG will again pay a 
dividend so that shareholders can participate in the success of the 
Company. The Executive Board and Supervisory Board will propose 
to the Annual General Meeting on May 23, 2012 distribution of a 
dividend of EUR 0.40 per share for fiscal year 2011. This results in a 
dividend yield of close to 3.1 % based on the 2011 closing price.

Investor Relations in open dialog with all target groups
Investor Relations at GRAMMER is characterized by open, prompt 
and comprehensive communication. We supply our target groups 
with news about the Company at our yearly press and analyst con-
ference as well as at the Annual General Meeting in Amberg and in 
our quarterly, semi-annual and annual reports. 
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In addition to offering comprehensive information for private 
investors, we also place a strong emphasis on regular dialog with 
institutional investors and analysts. To this end, the Company par-
ticipated this past September in Munich at the German Investment 
Conference of UniCredit and in November at the Deutsche Börse AG 
Equity Forum in Frankfurt am Main.

We conducted one-on-ones with investors and analysts at numer-
ous road shows in Germany and throughout Europe in places like 
London, Paris, Zurich, Vienna and Scandinavia.

Avid investor interest in GRAMMER was demonstrated in 2011 
through both in-depth media coverage and in research by banks 
and independent analysts. Presently, six analysts regularly cover 
the GRAMMER share. All of them currently maintain a buy recom-
mendation for GRAMMER or overweight the GRAMMER share.

Since November 30, 2011, the GRAMMER website has been re-
launched with a brand new design. The Investor Relations section, 
in particular, has been completely overhauled, to offer interested 
users a number of new features, especially in the area of share 
price information. All financial reports, press releases, presenta-
tions, audio recordings of the quarterly telephone conferences and 
other important information about GRAMMER are always available 
in the Investor Relations section of both the existing GRAMMER AG 
website and the new GRAMMER AG mobile website.

Shareholder structure
On July 18, 2011, the number of shares held by Electra QMC Europe 
Development Capital Funds plc in Dublin/Ireland fell below the  
10 % threshold; the company now holds 9.26 % of voting capital 
(1,069,311 shares). Electra QMC Europe Development Capital Funds 
thus remains the largest shareholder in GRAMMER AG.

The second largest shareholder in GRAMMER AG is DWS Invest-
ment GmbH in Frankfurt am Main/Germany. On August 31, 2011, 
the number of shares held by DWS Investment GmbH exceeded the 
3 % threshold; as of that date the company held 3.026 % of voting 
capital (349,300 shares). In October 2011, DWS Investment GmbH 
also notified the Company that its number of shares passed above 
the threshold of 5 % on October 7, 2011 to 5.176 % of voting capital 
(597,500 shares).

In June 2011, GRAMMER AG received notification from Sparinvest 
Fondsmæglerselskab A/S, Taastrup/Denmark that its holdings 
passed above the 3 % threshold on June 20, 2011; the company 
now holds 3.03 % of voting capital (349,769 shares). The entire 
3.03 % of voting capital (349,769 shares) is attributable to  
Sparinvest Fondsmæglerselskab A/S pursuant to section 22 (1)  
sentence 1 no. 6 in conjunction with sentence 2 WpHG.

The percentage share of voting capital held by Wynnefield Partners 
Small Cap Value L.P., New York/USA, totals 3.04 %.

Only notifications relating to voting rights holdings of greater than 
3 % have been presented here.

Shareholder structure 

Own shares 2.86 %

Sparinvest 3.03 %  

Free Float 76.63 %

Wynnefield Partners 3.04 %  

EQMC 9.26 %

DWS Investment 5.18 %  

as of December 31, 2011
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Group Management Report 

 
•	 Group revenue hits new record at EUR 1.1 billion.
•	 Net profit continues to improve.
•	 Dividend proposed.

Company structure and operations 
GRAMMER Group is a specialist in the development and production 
of components and systems for automotive interiors as well as 
driver and passenger seats for trucks, trains and offroad commer-
cial vehicles. In addition to the parent company, GRAMMER AG, 
based in Amberg/Germany, the Group includes 23 other fully con-
solidated companies. GRAMMER Group is represented in 18 coun-
tries worldwide.

Business divisions
The Automotive division supplies premium automakers and automo-
tive system suppliers with products such as seating components, 
including headrests, armrests and center consoles. In the Seating 
Systems division, the Company operates as both tier 1 and after-
market supplier for complete seat units and seating systems. Our 
customers include manufacturers of trucks and offroad vehicles – 
including agricultural, forestry and construction machines and fork-
lifts. Other customer groups we supply include rail transport OEMs, 
rail operators and bus manufacturers. 

Corporate management
GRAMMER’s value-based corporate management system is primar-
ily oriented towards the key management indicators revenue, earn-
ings before interest and taxes (EBIT), working capital, gearing and 
GRAMMER economic value added (GEVA). The latter is based on 
economic value added (EVA®) and measures the efficiency with 
which the Company’s capital is being employed.

Overall economic conditions and developments

Debt crisis hampers global economic output
The global economic recovery lost momentum over the course of 
2011. Following significant growth of 5.2 % in 2010, global output 
increased by just 3.8 % last year. The substantial rise in commodity 
prices was a drag especially in the first half, and the major earth-
quake in Japan hindered production, not only in that country 
alone. As these temporary effects wore off, production resumed a 
stable rise worldwide in the third quarter, until the debt crisis 
stalled the recovery – particularly in the eurozone. But economic 
activity was also considerably weaker in emerging markets. 

In the US, where economic activity picked up somewhat over the 
course of the year, there is a glimmer of hope. GDP in the fourth 
quarter strengthened to an annualized rate of 2.8 % according to 
the Commerce Department. That is the best showing since the 
spring of 2010. Be that as it may, growth overall in 2011 reached 
only 1.7 %. In spite of persistently high unemployment, household 
consumption in the US rose at the end of the year. US exports 
increased by 4.7 %.

Economic output in emerging markets also cooled off consider-
ably over the course of 2011, along with export activity. Moreover, 
in some countries economic policy was aimed until the middle of 
the year at fighting inflation. Many central banks thus raised in-
terest rates and minimum reserve requirement, as well as imple-
menting unconventional measures to slow capital inflows. These 
conditions even saw the Chinese economy losing some steam. 
With growth of 9.2 % overall, GDP expansion in 2011 lagged be-
hind the 10.3 % achieved the previous year. In fact, according to 
the National Bureau of Statistics (NBS), Q4 2011 saw the weakest 
result in ten quarters. 

Developments in the Eurozone were substantially influenced by 
the escalating sovereign debt crisis during 2011. After a promising 
start, the economy lost significant momentum as the year pro-
gressed. In addition to the debt crisis, increasingly restrictive  
financial policies throttled output and consumption within the 
single market. Without the strength of Germany, economic expan-
sion in the Eurozone would have stalled in the third quarter. For 
the year as a whole, however, it was enough to pull out growth of 
1.6 %. The darkening clouds on the horizon globally have not been 
completely without effect on the German economy. However, in 
price adjusted terms, gross domestic product increased by a hefty 
3.0 % in 2011 – more than double the average rate since German 
reunification.

Very positive performance Group-wide despite  
cooling economy
Despite the difficult economic conditions, GRAMMER Group gen-
erated very positive performance last year. New orders and rev-
enue increased by nearly 18 % on the strength of continued high 
demand in our markets, and following on already strong growth 
of 28 % the previous year. The increase in demand that started at 
the end of 2010 continued at an even faster pace in the first half 
of 2011, and endured at a high level in the latter half. Thus, the 
Group was able to put in a repeat performance of strong earnings 
for the year. The positive result was possible thanks to high rates 
of revenue growth and correspondingly reduced fixed costs. 
Implementation of measures to optimize cost structures and 
adjustments to the much stronger demand influenced results 
throughout the Group over the past fiscal year.
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Changes in fiscal year 2011
The closure of GRAMMER AG’s Immenstetten plant arranged to-
gether with the local works council was completed in August 2011.

On April 14, 2011, GRAMMER AG implemented an accelerated book 
building procedure to place 1,049,515 new shares with qualified 
institutional investors in Germany and Europe. After conclusion of 
the capital increase, the share capital of the Company totals 
EUR 29,554,365.44 divided into 11,544,674 shares.

On July 26, GRAMMER AG acquired and fully consolidated 100 % 
of equity in Belgian electronics specialist, EiA Electronics N.V., 
based in Aartselaar/Belgium, for a price of EUR 10.5 million from 
the proceeds of the capital increase. EiA Electronics N.V. special-
izes in development, integration and distribution of electronic 
components for commercial vehicles. With the purchase, the 
Group has expanded its technological competence in the area of 
electronics. The new company, GRAMMER EiA Electronics N.V., has 
roughly 50 employees and generated revenue of approximately 
EUR 27 million in 2011.

Group revenue reaches a new record of nearly EUR 1.1 billion
Based on these macroeconomic and industry-specific conditions, 
the GRAMMER Group was able to realize total revenue of 
EUR 1,093.5 million in 2011 (2010: 929,7) and therefore could 
achieve a new record during its more than 50-years company his-
tory. The high rates of revenue growth of up to 30 % during the 
first six months of 2011 in the individual business segments were 
maintained over the remainder of the year. The positive market con-
ditions and new production starts gave rise to further revenue 
gains in Q4 2011 as compared to the same quarter one year prior.  
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Group revenue by quarters (in EUR m)
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in EUR m

2011 2010

Q1 263.0 203.0

Q2 274.5 241.5

Q3 272.9 232.5

Q4 283.1 252.7

Total year 1,093.5 929.7

Performance within GRAMMER Group was regionally varied 
throughout the year: In Europe, revenue increased by 
EUR 129.2 million to EUR 724.4 million (2010: 595.2), or 21.7 %, 
slightly outpacing total revenue. Particularly the first two quarters 
in the Seating Systems division were considerably stronger in  
Europe than they were in the comparable prior-year period. But the 
Automotive division also saw outstanding growth in Europe as a 
result of high demand for premium vehicles and German carmak-
ers’ export strength. In the Americas, following a successful year in 
2010, revenue was again slightly improved in 2011, as a result of 
new production starts and further market recoveries. In this region, 
GRAMMER generated revenue of EUR 220.7 million in the reporting 
year, after EUR 195.2 million the previous year. Year-over-year, this 
equates to a further 13.1 % increase, after a 65.1 % growth in 2010 
as the economy recovered from the financial and economic crisis. 
Business in Asia continued to see very positive development. Rev-
enue in the countries belonging geographically to the Far East/Oth-
ers region rose by 6.5 % to EUR 148.4 million in 2011 (2010: 139.3). 
As a result of very high annual rates over the past two years, 
growth in the region normalized as expected in the fiscal year.

 

Revenue by regions (previous year in brackets)

Far East/Others 13.6 (15.0) % 

Americas 20.2 (21.0) %

Europe 66.2 (64.0) %

 

in EUR m

2011 2010

Europe 724.4 595.2

Americas 220.7 195.2

Far East/Others 148.4 139.3

Total 1,093.5 929.7

Automotive industry continues to flourish
The global car market was robust in 2011, despite the broad re-
gional variance displayed by figures from the German Automobile 
Manufactures Association (VDA). Contrasting with the high single-
digit or even double-digit growth in the USA, China and Russia, 
new car sales were down by 1 % in Western Europe. The Japanese 
car market recovered more quickly than expected, but clearly 
lagged at 16.3 %. In total, global new car sales were up 6 % to 
65.4 million units.

In the US Light Vehicles (cars and light trucks) market, sales in-
creased by 10 % to 12.7 million units. For the first time, German 
manufacturers have sold more than 1 million light vehicles in the 
market, which pushes up their market share for the seventh con-
secutive time, to 8.2 %.
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In Asia, the Chinese market set course towards normalization after 
years of substantial growth. At 12.2 million cars, volume for the full 
year was up 8 % on the prior year. India, despite restrictive mon-
etary policy and higher petroleum prices, saw 6 % more new vehicle 
registrations for a total of 2.5 million. Though the Japanese market 
recorded impressive double-digit growth in the fourth quarter,  
it was impossible to balance out the full-year decline as a result of 
the spring earthquake. New vehicle sales dropped 16 % to 3.5 million.

Russia, on the other hand, achieved a 39 % increase to nearly 
2.7 million units. The Brazilian market was up 3 % to just over 
3.4 million vehicles. Sales volumes in December, however, declined 
by 9 % to 329,200 units. 

As expected, the Western European car market saw sideways 
movement with 12.8 million new vehicle registrations (–1 %).  
Volume sank 4 % in December, however, to 927,000 cars sold. 
Whereas the German market picked up by 6 % in December, sales 
volumes in the rest of Western Europe were largely down on prior-
year figures: France saw a decline of nearly 18 %, Italy 15 %, the UK 
and Spain 4 % each.

In the new EU countries, new vehicle registrations at 760,700 units 
– a 2.9 % decrease year-over-year – failed to top prior-year figures.

For the full year, Germany added 3.2 million cars, an increase of 
9 %. In an ever more difficult environment, the market saw more 
stable than expected development. Upper medium and premium 
vehicles were very strong, with double-digit growth rates, as  
opposed to the small and compact car segments, which grew only 
marginally. German export volumes were up 7 % to more than 
4.5 million cars. This more than makes up for the slump in 2009, 
with volumes setting a new record in just two years’ time. Nearly 
5.9 million cars were produced by German carmakers in 2011 –  
also a new record.  

Automotive division benefiting from export strength
The Automotive division once again enjoyed an exceptionally good 
order situation last year. Every quarter saw double-digit gains in 
revenue. Given the stability of demand in the premium segments 
and the very high export rate of the German auto industry, order 
books remained full and the most recent forecasts have been opti-
mistic. For the year as a whole, our product development activities 
and new production starts, along with the continued strength of 
new car sales by premium manufacturers in Germany had a posi-
tive impact on business performance. Despite the effects of the 
euro crisis, our market position in the premium segment, along 
with the OEMs’ record results made strong revenue growth pos-
sible. The strategic expansion of our center console product range 
also contributed to revenue growth in the Automotive division. 

Revenues in all regions increased at already high levels. In Europe, 
new production starts pushed revenues still higher year-over-year, 
and capacity utilization at our plants in some cases hit the limit, as 
sporadic demand lead to repeated order surges. Volumes at our Chi-
nese production facilities in Shanghai and Changchun were also 
better than planned. The domestic Chinese market and the perfor-
mance of our local customers proved to be very robust, and we 
were once again in a position to profit from these developments. In 
addition to the positive economic situation, our expanded center 
console product range also provided fuel for additional growth. 
Following the renewed strength of the market last year, revenue 
performance in the NAFTA countries also remained positive, which 
can be largely attributed to the expansion of our customer base 
and product range. 

To strengthen the earnings situation of the Automotive division 
long term, we continue to implement measures to improve profit-
ability and cost efficiency. In addition to initiatives aimed at en-
hancing processes and structures, these involve optimization of 
the worldwide production network. One example is the closure of 
the Immenstetten plant near Amberg, which was concluded in Au-
gust 2011. Capacities at our facilities in Schmölln and Zwickau were 
expanded as planned. As new projects were added in the area of 
center consoles, additional front-end production facilities were 
established. Thus, we were able to further improve capacity utiliza-
tion of center console production sites in line with additional cus-
tomer orders in this segment.

Dynamic commercial vehicle markets
According to the VDA, Western European truck and bus markets 
grew by a total of 9 % in 2011, in a continuation of the stabilizing 
trend. New registrations reached 1.9 million units, with significant 
regionalized variations: Whereas Germany (+19 %), the UK (+17 %) 
and the Netherlands (+25 %) experienced robust growth, France 
(+6 %) and Ireland (+9 %) had to settle for much more restrained 
improvements. Markets in the countries hardest hit by the debt 
crisis, such as Italy (–3 %), Spain (–7 %) and Portugal (–23 %) were 
down, significantly in some cases, with Greece bringing up the rear 
at –43 %.

In the US, strong industrial activity coupled with pent-up demand 
for replacements in the truck market vitalized the market. Sales 
volumes of medium and heavy commercial vehicles accelerated by 
41 % year-over-year to 306,200 units. Demand for heavy trucks 
was extremely dynamic, with 60 % more vehicles – or 171.400 units – 
being sold. Medium trucks saw an increase of 22 %.
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In Asia, the Indian commercial vehicle market grew at an annual-
ized rate of 18 %, with 774,700 new vehicles sold. After many years 
of booming sales, volumes in China were down (–7 %). At 6.3 mil-
lion new commercial vehicle registrations, however, the market 
remains very strong. As expected, the Japanese market for com-
mercial vehicles also shrank in 2011. During the year, which was 
dominated by the effects of the natural disaster, new vehicle regis-
trations were down 8 % to 685,400 units. 

In the new EU countries, new commercial vehicle registrations were 
highest in December 2011. Although volumes remain far away from 
the pre-crisis records, 2011 sales edged closer with a 26 % rise to 
roughly 144,500 new commercial vehicles. The commercial vehicle 
sector in Russia also continued its recovery. Up to November, new 
registrations increased to 212,300 units – or 22 %. 

For its part, Germany saw a steep increase in 2011 commercial  
vehicle sales. At 334,800 units (+19 %), volumes were nearly back  
to pre-crisis levels from 2008. In the wake of the substantial recov-
ery in 2010, the segment for commercial vehicles over 6 t (exclud-
ing busses) once again grew by a hefty 21 %. For commercial  
vehicles up to 6 t, the number rose to 240,500 new vehicles (+18 %) 
– a new record. 

Demand high for agricultural machinery
According to Germany’s mechanical and industrial engineering 
association, VDMA (Verband Deutscher Maschinen- und Anlagen-
bau e.  V.), the number of new tractors registered in Germany dur-
ing 2011 was the highest since 1983. At 35,977 units, the market 
grew by 26 %. Looking at the individual classes, the compact trac-
tor segment up to 50 HP (37 kW) saw above-average growth of 
37 %. Total new registrations in the classes larger than 51 HP  
(38 kW) hit 28,419 units (+23 %). Demand was buoyed by positive 
income developments in the agricultural sector, coupled with a 
successive shift in engine technologies to meet new emissions 
requirements. 

Double-digit growth in material handling 
Total revenue in the German material handling industry, according 
to a survey by the industry association Bundesverbandes der Händler 
und Vermieter von mobilen Arbeitsmaschinen (bbi), increased by 
16 % to EUR 3.0 billion in 2011. Revenue from new machine busi-
ness, according to the survey, was up 16 %; used machine 
revenues improved by 15 %. 

Momentum waning for construction machines
German construction machine manufacturers continued their 
growth trajectory in 2011. According to VDMA, the industry ended 
the year with revenues more than 15 % higher. New order volumes, 
however, began to weaken over the course of the year, despite the 
fact that demand is still there globally for construction machines, 
especially in emerging markets. Already today, one in every two 
earth moving machines produced worldwide is sold in China. Eu-
rope and North America still account for at least 25 % of the world 
market. In addition to China, markets in India, Brazil and, recently, 
Russia have also begun to regain their strength.

Among industrialized countries, Germany was the standout, lead-
ing the way in Europe and taking on more construction machines 
over the course of the year than expected.

Rail industry
The German rail industry was charactrized by a business slowdown, 
but nonetheless high order volumes in the first half-year 2011. 
Revenues in the sector sank by 14.5 % to EUR 4.7 billion. The 
German Railway Industry Association (VDB) attributes this to the 
after-effects of slumping freight transport volumes in 2008 and 
2009. New order activity was robust, especially in the domestic rail 
vehicle segment. Germany’s national railway operator, Deutsche 
Bahn, contributed substantially with its initial order for 130 ICx 
trains to replace the InterCity fleet, which totaled EUR 3.7 billion. 
By contrast, foreign order volumes were down in the first six 
months of 2011 to EUR 2 billion.  

Seating Systems
Strong performance in the truck and offroad segments
As already in 2010, the Seating Systems division served as the en-
gine of growth for GRAMMER Group in 2011. This year’s dynamic 
business development started with a pleasing first quarter, bol-
stered by a further improvement of the order situation in Q2. Given 
the Company’s dominant position in the offroad and truck seg-
ments, positive order volumes resulted in  strong revenue growth 
of 28.3 %. Thus, we were able to maintain our leadership in the 
Western Europe market in 2011 as well as strengthening our com-
petitive position in numerous countries, especially Brazil and China. 

Especially in the offroad segment, sales volumes in seats for agri-
cultural machines remained very high for the year as a whole, and 
we were once again able to achieve very strong growth. Full-year 
results were similarly positive in the construction machinery seg-
ment, and the material handling segment improved further from 
the already strong prior-year level. In all, earnings development in 
these product groups were highly satisfactory in the reporting year.

In truck business, we increased our lead in the South American 
market even further in 2011. A combination of favorable economic 
conditions and our strong market position had a strongly positive 
effect on revenue and earnings in Brazil. As the economy expanded, 
sales also improved considerably in Europe and the Middle East. 

During 2011, expansion of the new production facility for truck 
seats at our Tachov plant in the Czech Republic was completed on 
schedule. Production will be launched here for a number of impor-
tant truck seat models in the first quarter of 2012. Similarly, at the 
production plant in Haselmühl near Amberg, additional capacities 
and production lines were installed for production of metal compo-
nents for the new generation of truck seats. With programs for pro-
duction optimization based on the principles of lean management, 
key components of production were also restructured. 
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To improve our cost position, the entire Group has now increased 
sourcing of seats and seating components from the plant in Tianjin/
China. In the US, we continued gradual progression toward an inde-
pendent product development, distribution and production center 
to supply the American offroad market, and were thus able to take 
timely advantage of the recovery signals in the largest market for 
offroad products. The related localization is a crucial element in the 
systematic implementation of our plans to further penetrate the US 
market and eliminate foreign exchange risks through local produc-
tion and distribution. 

Railway segment continues to improve
As part of the ongoing re-alignment of the Company, the railway 
unit further optimized and stabilized its process capabilities.  
GRAMMER continued to restructure production and focus on pro
ject business in 2011. Development of additional platforms and in-
creased acquisition of national and international projects was given 
a greater emphasis last year. New international orders from outside 
Germany were responsible for the majority of production launches.  

Earnings

Earnings bolstered by strong demand in our markets
In 2011, GRAMMER Group further operationally improved its earn-
ings situation. Gross profit rose in 2011 to EUR 142.5 million (2010: 
119.6), an increase of 19.1 %. Despite the burden from, in some cases 
sporadic revenue growth spurts, as well as new production starts 
and capacity adjustments, earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 
rose by 50.2 %, and ended the year substantially higher at 
EUR 49.4 million (2010: 32.9). All segments saw absolute and rela-
tive improvements in operating profit. In particular, the Seating 
Systems division, which was already strong in 2010, once more 
generated significant earnings gains, returning to its accustomed 
status as a profit driver. In the reporting year, GRAMMER Group 
achieved a positive EBIT margin of 4.5 % (2010: 3.5), which repre-
sents an improvement on both the strong prior year and the level 
prior to the crisis. 
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Cost development dominated by difficult  
economic environment
Costs of sales increased by 17.4 % to EUR 951.0 million (2010: 
810.2). This increase matched the proportional revenue growth, and 
is mainly a result of the massive expansion of production. Phases 
of acute capacity overload in the offroad segment from the start 
of the year initially led to proportionately higher personnel costs 
and costs for capacity measures in the first and second quarters. In 
light of the difficult economic environment marked by volatile ex-
change rates and commodity prices, sudden fluctuations in de-
mand and rapidly growing markets in the area of seating systems, 
cost management within GRAMMER Group was satisfactory. Mar-
ket and currency developments were dominated by the rapidly 
changing environment, which has placed constant demands on our 
ability to adapt. The high levels of uncertainty with respect to mar-
ket reactions to the euro crisis were particularly burdensome, as it 
impacted both pricing and order volumes.

Labour costs rose by EUR 21.2 million to a total of EUR 229.6 mil-
lion (2010: 208.4). In addition to the revenue improvements and 
capacity adjustments, earlier restructuring measures also began to 
result in lower fixed costs. The ratio of labour expenses to revenue 
at 21.0 % (2010: 22.4) was clearly lower than 2010 and the long-
term average thanks to the anticipatory introduction and consis-
tent implementation of personnel optimization measures.

In the year under review, sales expenses rose to EUR 27.8 million 
(2010: 26.5). 

Administrative expenses rose to EUR 75.4 million (2010: 68.9). As a 
result of higher revenues and expanded business activities in 
growth regions, costs increased at a lower rate than in 2010 the 
previous year. 
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Other operating income
Other operating income came to EUR 10.1 million (2010: 8.7). The 
moderate increase is attributable to increased scrap sales, as well as 
rents and passing on of costs to suppliers. 

Financial expenses
Financial expenses rose primarily as a result of higher exchange rate 
volatility and pension interest rates to EUR 15.4 million (2010: 14.9). 
As a result of financial restructuring, which is reflected in the newly 
concluded lines of credit and resulting one-off costs, interest ex-
penses remained on a level with the previous year EUR 10.3 million 
(2010: 10.3), as the conditions are otherwise more favorable for the 
Company. Other interest and other income rose from EUR 1.4 million 
to EUR 2.2 million, given that excess liquidity – e. g. from the  
capital increase – was held as cash reserves. Due to valuation ef-
fects resulting from exchange rate developments, an expense of 
EUR 2.0 million was recognized under other financial income, as 
compared to income of EUR 1.1 million in the previous year. This 
change is primarily attributable to the exchange rate turbulences in 
the wake of the euro crisis.

Taxes
As expected, income taxes were higher year-over-year at  
EUR 12.2 million (2010: 4.2). On the domestic front in particular, 
weaker operating profit components reduced income tax expenses, 
whereas income tax expenses abroad rose slightly in some cases as a 
result of positive earnings performance. Withholding taxes also in-
creased the taxes. 

Profit
GRAMMER Group’s operating earnings before interest and taxes 
(EBIT) for the year under review was EUR 49.4 million (2010: 32.9), 
with an equally pleasing improvement in EBIT margin to 4.5 % 
(2010: 3.5). Earnings after interest and taxes came to EUR 22.1 mil-
lion (2010: 16.3), whereas increases in operating earnings were bur-
dened mainly by income taxes and the financial result which was 
negatively impacted by exchange rate losses. 

Earnings per share are calculated based on net income, and  
totaled EUR 2.02 (2010: 1.60). Including own shares in the cal
culation yields a result of EUR 1.96 per share (2010: 1.55).

Appropriation of profit
Appropriation of profit by GRAMMER Group is based on net re-
tained profit/loss in the financial statements of GRAMMER AG, 
which are prepared in accordance with the German Commercial 
Code (HGB). On December 31, 2011, GRAMMER AG posted net re-
tained profit of EUR 13.1 million (2010: net loss –26.0). This takes 
into account the loss of EUR 26.0 million carried forward, the with-
drawal of EUR 24.8 million from other revenue reserves and net 
profit of EUR 14.3 million. The Executive Board will propose to the 
Supervisory Board and the Annual General Meeting that a dividend 

of EUR 0.40 be paid per share and that the remaining EUR 8.6 mil-
lion be carried forward. This decision takes into account that the 
Company holds a total of 330,050 own shares, which are not divi-
dend bearing. If the number of shares according dividend rights  
should change before the date of the Annual General Meeting  
on May 23, 2012, the Executive Board and Supervisory Board of 
GRAMMER AG will present an accordingly adjusted dividend pro-
posal to the meeting.

Divisional revenues and earnings

Strong increase in revenues within Automotive  
segment due to high demand 
Our Automotive division produces interior components for pre-
mium car manufacturers and automotive system suppliers. The 
division primarily generates its revenue through serial production 
and project business. In 2011, the division saw revenue of 
EUR 680.3 million (2010: 610.2), an increase of 11.5 % year-over-
year. This accounted for 60.8 % of Group revenue (2010: 64.1). 
Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) totaled EUR 26.9 million 
(2010: 21.4), a clear improvement over the prior year in both nomi-
nal and relative terms, and showed a further pleasing improvement 
in absolute figures as well as  percentage terms, which is attribut-
able to both revenue growth and the completed restructuring and 
optimization measures. Start-up costs and adjustment measures 
due to higher capacity requirements for new products partially 
resulted in higher expenses. The division also incurred further costs 
for plant closures, which had an impact on earnings.
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Revenue and earnings up substantially  
in the Seating Systems division
Revenue performance in the Seating Systems division was up sub-
stantially in every quarter of 2011. In the offroad segment, revenue 
rose in spite of the already strong prior year, which in some cases 
led to capacity bottlenecks. In truck seat business, order volumes 
were also strong throughout the year. The European commercial 
vehicle market grew continuously as the economy improved in 
2011, and the vigor of the markets of China and Brazil continued 
unabated. In all, the division’s revenue improved to EUR 438.0 mil-
lion in 2011 (2010: 341.9), which is 28.1 % more than in the previous 
year. Compared to crisis year 2009, revenues have improved by as 
much as 77.2 %. This illustrates just how dynamic revenue growth 
has been, which has at times presented a challenge for production 
management as a result of sudden order surges. The division also 
experienced further significant improvements in operating profit. 
During the reporting year, the Seating Systems division generated 
earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) of EUR 30.6 million (2010: 
17.6), despite impacts from the high growth rate and resulting 
capacity shortfalls. 
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Financial position

GRAMMER restructures financing 
After its success in 2010, GRAMMER Group has revised its financing 
strategy and begun to further optimize financing costs and struc-
tures. The aim is to improve the maturity structure while at the 
same time creating financial reserves for further development of 
the Group. As an initial step, GRAMMER AG implemented a capital 
increase of 10 % from authorized capital on April 14, 2011 by way of 
an accelerated book building procedure to place 1,049,515 new 
shares with qualified institutional investors in Germany and Europe. 
The new shares were placed at a price of EUR 18.20 per share. The 
total gross proceeds of the issue, EUR 19.1 million, will serve to im-
prove the structure of the balance sheet and finance the further 
organic and external growth of the Group. The second step involved 
replacement of the financing agreements concluded in 2009 
through a more cost-effective, newly structured solution. To this 
end, on August 22, 2011, GRAMMER AG issued a long-term deben-
ture bond in the amount of EUR 60 million. The volume is distrib-
uted across three tranches with maturities of three, five and seven 
years. Simultaneously, a EUR 9.5 million tranche from an existing 
debenture bond entered early into prolongation. With this transac-
tion alongside a new global credit facility in the amount of 
EUR 78.5 million maturing in 2014, the Group has taken early action 
to restructure its existing financing options and fully redeem the 
EUR 110 million syndicated loan agreement, which was originally 
scheduled for March 2013, already in September 2011. The new 
structure of the Group’s financing serves to considerably align the 
maturities of its liabilities. At the same time, it allows GRAMMER to 
improve the terms and conditions of financing in its favor, while 
expanding the creditor base.

Non-current liabilities to banks increased to EUR 129.8 million 
(2010: 97.9); the increase resulted from issue of the new debenture 
bond and, in part, from maturity extension on the existing bond. 
Current financial liabilities fell to EUR 9.1 million (2010: 33.1), which 
are matched by cash and cash equivalents totaling EUR 46.8 million, 
including cash and short-term deposits. In addition, the domestic 
entities of GRAMMER and seven commercial banks entered into a 
new global credit facility which is valid until July 1, 2014. 

Cash flow from operating activities increased as a result of the op-
erating profit and optimization measures. The cash flow generated 
was utilized to increase business volumes and complete restructur-
ing. Key projects included the expansion of production lines for the 
new generation of truck seats in Tachov and at the Haselmühl plant, 
as well as center console projects in Germany, the US and China, as 
they promise to stabilize future revenue generation. Moreover, in 
the summer of 2011, GRAMMER acquired Belgian electronics spe-
cialist, EiA Electronics N.V., which was financed from cash. Cash 
flow from investments without the acquisition of EiA Electronics 
N. V. was slightly higher year-over-year, as the increase in added 
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value and aforementioned projects aimed at expanding the Com-
pany’s business were accompanied by higher investments for pro-
duction equipment. Cash flow from financing activities improved 
significantly, due to the capital increase and the corresponding 
reduction in bank liabilities. The increase in cash and cash equiva-
lents is a result of the desired strategic liquidity reserve which has 
been created due to the long-term debenture bonds.

Net assets
On the balance sheet date, December 31, 2011, the total assets of 
GRAMMER Group amounted to EUR 625.2 million (2010: 559.4). The 
increase in business activity and the strategic liquidity reserve, 
along with the acquisition of EiA Electronics N.V., resulted in an 
11.8 % rise in total assets as compared to the previous year.

Fixed assets up substantially on prior year
Non-current assets totaled EUR 260.6 million on December 31, 2011 
(2010: 245.9). The build-up of production for center consoles in 
Mexico and Schmölln, as well as for truck seats in the Czech Repub-
lic led to a rise in property, plant and equipment to EUR 159.7 mil-
lion (2010: 153.4). Through the acquisition of EiA Electronics N.V., 
intangible assets rose to EUR 57.4 million (2010: 50.3). Deferred tax-
es are roughly on par with the prior year.

Current assets rise with higher business activity
Compared to the 2010 reporting date, current assets increased to 
EUR 364.6 million (2010: 313.5). This rise was mainly due to the 
takeover of EiA Electronics N.V., the increase in business activity 
and creating of the strategic liquidity reserve, which was a desired 
effect of financial restructuring. Inventories were EUR 15.1 million 
higher than in 2010, at EUR 104.0 million. Despite revenue 
strength in the fourth quarter and additional items from the EiA 
Electronics N.V. acquisition, trade accounts receivable were down 
slightly from EUR 138.3 million in 2010 to EUR 137.8 million, due in 
part to the implementation of receivables management measures. 
Other current financial assets grew compared to the previous year 
by EUR 7.4 million to EUR 57.9 million as a result of the continued 
development of customer projects, whereas other current assets 
dropped by EUR 1.4 million to EUR 15.3 million. At the end of the 
year, cash and short-term deposits amounted to EUR 46.7 million 
(2010: 17.2), comprising primarily the newly created strategic  
liquidity reserve. 

Equity continues to grow
As of December 31, 2011, as a result of the capital increase and net 
profits, equity rose substantially to EUR 211.2 million (2010: 173.1). 
The equity base was strengthened by EUR 19.1 million as a result  
of the capital increase. Equity thus encompasses 81.0 % (2010: 70.4) 
of non-current assets. The equity ratio as of December 31, 2011 
rose to 34 % (2010: 31), despite the expansion of the balance sheet 
through acquisition of EiA Electronics N.V. and creation of the  
liquidity reserve under cash and equivalents in the amount of 
roughly EUR 30 million.

Changes in liabilities
Non-current liabilities amounted to EUR 226.7 million (2010: 189.8) 
at the reporting date. Non-current financial liabilities were up 
EUR 31.9 million to EUR 129.8 million (2010: 97.9) as a result of 
debt restructuring. As outlined above, long-term financing was 
optimized in order to improve the maturity structure and volumes 
of individual tranches at maturity. The steps taken will have a com-
prehensive positive impact on the quality and stability of GRAMMER 
Group’s financial position. In addition, pension liabilities increased 
to EUR 64.5 million (2010: 61.1). Deferred tax liabilities also in-
creased slightly to EUR 19.5 million (2010: 17.4).

Current liabilities were down to EUR 187.4 million (2010: 196.5), 
despite acquisition of EiA Electronics N.V. and increase in business 
activity. Despite higher rates of investment and the acquisition, 
current financial liabilities declined once more from EUR 33.1 mil-
lion to EUR 9.1 million, owing to the new financing structure. Trade 
accounts payable increased year-over-year at EUR 110.6 million 
(2010: 92.1). Other current liabilities were lower at EUR 49.6 million 
(2010: 54.5) due to the structure of business growth. At EUR 4.5 million 
(2010: 5.0) current income tax liabilities were slightly lower than 
previous year, as a result of the earnings performance, especially in 
China and Brazil. Other current financial liabilities rose year-over-
year, to EUR 4.5 million (2010: 3.5).

Capital

Capital structure
As of December 31, 2010, the subscribed capital of GRAMMER AG 
amounted to EUR 26,868 thousand divided into 10,495,159 no-par 
value shares. On April 14, 2011, GRAMMER AG implemented an ac-
celerated book building procedure to place 1,049,515 new shares 
with qualified institutional investors in Germany and Europe. After 
conclusion of the capital increase, the share capital of the Company 
totals EUR 29,554,365.44 divided into 11,544,674 shares. All shares 
accord the same rights; shareholders have a right to payment of the 
defined dividend (with the exception of own shares) and may exer-
cise one vote for each share at the Annual General Meeting. The 
share capital of the Company was conditionally increased by 
EUR 13.4 million based on the resolution of the Shareholder’s Meet-
ing on May 28, 2009. Pursuant to section 5 (3) of the Articles of 
Association, the Executive Board is authorized, subject to approval 
by the Supervisory Board, in accordance with section 202 AktG, to 
increase share capital by a maximum of EUR 14.78 million through 
one or more issuances of bearer shares. This authorization expires 
on May 25, 2016. The Executive Board is further authorized, in each 
case subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, to decide on 
exclusion of shareholders’ statutory subscription rights, provided 
this is necessary to eliminate fractional amounts; if the shares are 
issued against contribution in kind for the purpose of acquiring 
companies, parts of companies, or for the purpose of acquiring 
receivables payable by the Company or if a capital increase made 
against a cash contribution which does not exceed 10 % of share 



40 GRAMMER Annual Report 2011 Group Management Report

capital and the issue price of the new shares is not substantially 
lower than the exchange price (section 186 (3) sentence 4 AktG); if 
use is made of the authorization in conjunction with an exclusion 
of shareholder rights in accordance with section 186 (3) sentence 4 
AktG, the exclusion of subscription rights under other authoriza-
tions is to be taken into account pursuant to section 186 (3) sen-
tence 4 AktG. 

With the resolution on May 18, 2011, the Executive Board of 
GRAMMER AG declared its intent:

(1) to make no use of the authorization under the new section 5 (3) 
of the Articles of Association to increase the share capital of the 
Company against cash and/or contributions in kind with statutory 
subscription rights for shareholders during the term of the authori-
zation if this would lead to issuance of an amount of shares in 
GRAMMER AG in excess of 30 % of existing share capital;

(2) to limit use of the authorization to exclude shareholders’ statu-
tory subscription rights in the event that shares are issued against 
contributions in kind for the purpose of acquiring companies, parts 
of companies, or for the purpose of acquiring receivables payable 
by the Company during the term of the authorization to no more 
than 20 % of the Company’s existing share capital;

(3) to ensure that the sum of any capital increases from authorized 
capital excluding shareholder subscription rights during the term of 
the authorization does not exceed 20 % of existing share capital.

The capital reserve amounted to EUR 74,444 thousand (2010: 
58,237) as of December 31, 2011. The capital reserve includes the 
share premium from the capital increases in 1996 as well as premi-
ums from the capital increases in 2001 and 2011.

The revenue reserve amounted to EUR 111,528 thousand (2010: 
89,488) as of December 31, 2011. 

According to notifications received on or before the balance sheet 
date by GRAMMER AG in accordance with section 21 et seq. of the 
German Securities Trading Act (WpHG), the companies listed below 
directly or indirectly hold shares of more than 3 % in GRAMMER AG: 
Electra QMC Europe Development Capital Funds plc in Dublin/Ire-
land sent notice on July 18, 2011 that its share of voting rights in 
GRAMMER AG had passed below the 10 % threshold and now totals 
9.26 %. On June 20, 2011, Sparinvest Fondsmæglerselskab A/S, Taas-
trup/Denmark sent notice that the company now holds 3.03 % of 
voting capital. On August 31, 2011 DWS Investment GmbH, Frank-
furt am Main has passed above the 3 % threshold and holds 
3.026 % (349,000 shares). In October 2011 DWS Investment GmbH 
sent notice that voting rights increased to 5.176 % (597,500 shares) 
as of October 7, 2011. The other companies to which these voting 

rights are attributable are listed in the Notes, to the separate finan-
cial statements of GRAMMER AG. 

Own shares
Pursuant to a 2006 resolution of the Annual General Meeting,  
the Executive Board of GRAMMER AG was authorized to purchase 
own shares in accordance with section 71 (1) no. 8 AktG. This  
authorization, which expired on December 1, 2007, was replaced  
by a new authorization to purchase own shares expiring on  
December 1, 2008 resolved by the Annual General Meeting on 
June 28, 2007. The Annual General Meeting on May 28, 2009 
resolved to authorize acquisition of the Company’s own shares 
amounting to no more than 10 % of the share capital until 
May 27, 2014. This authorization was confirmed by the 2010 
Annual General Meeting as a confirming and/or new resolution. 
Neither in the prior year nor in the year under review did the 
Executive Board of GRAMMER AG make use of the authorization 
to acquire own shares. GRAMMER holds a total of 330,050 own 
shares, all of which were acquired in fiscal year 2006. These 
shares have a total value of EUR 844,928 and represent 2.8589 % of 
share capital (post capital increase) or 3.1448 % of share capital 
(pre capital increase). The 330,050 own shares are non-voting and 
accord no dividend rights.

Appraisal of the Company’s economic situation
Based on the above discussion of earnings, financial position and 
net assets, we view the economic situation of GRAMMER Group as 
positive. In our business segments, our market position may be 
characterized as either good or very good, and our innovative 
products enjoy a great degree of acceptance in the marketplace. 
Thanks to current projects and product launches, we view the 
Group’s revenue and earnings performance, also over the long 
term, as positive. However, the impact of developments in, and the 
volatility of, commodities markets need to be monitored very care-
fully, as these may strongly impact the Company’s economic stabil-
ity. Moreover, developments in international currency and financial 
markets, including the ongoing euro crisis, may significantly influ-
ence the Company’s performance.

Investment 
Capital expenditure by GRAMMER Group in the year under review 
decreased slighty to EUR 37.6 million (2010: 38.1). In the Automo-
tive division, we invested significantly less, at EUR 14.8 million 
(2010: 22.0), which went mainly to new production facilities for 
pending customer projects and expansion of the sites in Changchun, 
Mexico and Schmölln, which will contribute to optimizing our cost 
structure as low-cost locations featuring as well as offering inte-
grated production with a high degree of automation. Integrated 
center console production, which requires a greater intensity of 
investment, is necessary due to the orders received, and forms the 
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basis for our future growth potential. In addition, the Company 
continues to carry out lean optimizations which are designed to 
increase productivity at our plants. 

Investment in the Seating Systems division totaled EUR 22.1 mil-
lion in 2011 (2010: 15.8). Set up of production for generation MSG 
115 truck seats required substantial investment in the Czech Re-
public and Germany. Investments were also made in expansion of 
production in Brazil for the booming South American market and 
in supply independence for the region, as well as in the continued 
transition to lean management and production at all plants. For 
the offroad segment, we once again made major investments in 
tools and in further introduction of modular production units. 
These investments serve to enhance efficiency and optimize pro-
duction. They also demonstrate the commitment of the Company 
to innovative products and production processes.

A total of EUR 0.7 million (2010: 0.3) was invested the Central Ser-
vices division. We acquired further upgrades and additional licens-
es for our SAP system. Moreover, we invested in optimizing, inte-
grating and networking our CAD software.

Investments by segments (previous year in brackets)

Automotive 39.4 (57.7) %

Seating Systems 58.7 (41.5) %

Central Services 1.9 (0.8) %

in EUR m

2011 2010

Automotive 14.8 22.0

Seating Systems 22.1 15.8

Central Services 0.7 0.3

Total 37.6 38.1

 

Employees

Business expansion leads to higher workforce
As compared to the previous year, the number of employees in-
creased by 9.7 %, which is a lower rate than proportionally revenue 
growth. On the balance sheet date, December 31, 2011, a total of 
8,726 people were employed within GRAMMER Group (2010: 7,955). 
This included 5,148 (2010: 5,034) employees in the Automotive divi-
sion, 3,377 (2010: 2,744) in the Seating Systems division and 201 
(2010: 177) in Central Services. The rise was attributable primarily  
to hiring of production workers and employees in low-wage coun-
tries. The average number of employees during the year was 8,429 
(2010: 7,745).

Focus remains on labour cost reduction
In 2011, as a result of revenue and business growth, employee 
numbers have continued to grow. Nonetheless, labour costs ratio 
ended up lower compared to 2010. In January 2011, a comprehen-
sive package of measures was negotiated with the works council 
and parties to the collective bargaining agreement regarding closure 
of production in Immenstetten was signed and fully implemented 
by the end of August. As planned, steps were taken during the fiscal 
year toward closing down of production in Wackersdorf. End of 
production and phase-out will be finished as planned by the end 
of 2012. The strong increase in demand and production launches 
necessitated further hiring in Germany and, particularly, in China 
and low-cost locations. The Tachov plant in the Czech Republic, 
was set up for truck seat production including addition of new 
personnel. In Serbia and Bulgaria, our sewing capacity was expanded 
in response to persistent high demand in Automotive business. 
Hiring in the markets China and Brazil was increased in the first few 
months of the year as a result of the blooming economic situation. 

Training, professional development, human resources
Personnel development is key to achieving and improving success in 
business. Employees with new ideas, expanded knowledge and ad-
ditional competencies play a decisive role in maintaining established 
standards and building on competitive strengths. For this reason 
GRAMMER offers numerous initiatives for employees of all areas 
and levels. Our professional development program is based on a 
three-level structure: The “General Management Program” focuses 
on strategic training for top management; the “Management Devel-
opment Program” is aimed primarily at plant and department super-
visors; the “GO!2008” program is designed for promotion of young 
talent. All three professional development concepts are oriented on 
the mission statement, targets and strategy of GRAMMER Group.
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The Group also plays an important role in training in its regions, and 
the number of apprentices by the Group exceeds the number needed 
for GRAMMER’s own business purposes. For instance, the training 
program at the Company’s professionally staffed training center in 
Amberg, is a key element of GRAMMER AG’s human resource policy. 
We gladly hire apprentices to work in our Company as the economic 
situation allows. In 2011, we continued to employ motivated appren-
tices in all divisions, in order to maintain a qualified pool of resourc-
es in fields that are becoming more important for the future. We 
also hosted internships and offered students and postgraduates the 
possibility to complete their thesis or dissertation while gaining 
practical experience within our Company. Highly qualified young 
professionals are also attracted through university recruiting events 
or cooperation with Bildungswerk der bayerischen Wirtschaft e. V. 
One example of our successful activities in the university domain is 
the long-standing close working relationship with the Amberg-Wei-
den University of Applied Sciences (HAW).

Employees by segments (previous year in brackets)

Central Services 2.3 (2.2) %

Seating Systems 38.7 (34.5) %

Automotive  59.0 (63.3) %  

in figures (as of December 31)

2011 2010

Automotive 5,148 5,034

Seating Systems 3,377 2,744

Central Services 201 177

Total 8,726 7,955

Supervisory and Executive Boards
The rules for appointment and dismissal of Executive Board mem-
bers are based on the provisions of section 84 AktG. No deviating 
or additional provisions are contained in the Articles of Associa-
tion. In 2011, there were no changes in the composition of the Ex-
ecutive Board. 

Multiple changes occurred in the Supervisory Board during  
the reporting year: As employee representative, Mr. Martin  
Bodensteiner was named to the Supervisory Board effective 

April 20, 2011, replacing Mr. Udo Fechtner. As of August 22, 2011, 
Ms. Ingrid Hunger (lic. oec. HSG), Managing Partner and Manage-
ment Spokesperson of Walter Hunger KG in Lohr a. Main/Germany, 
was appointed by court order of the Amberg Local Court as a 
member of the Supervisory Board of GRAMMER AG. Ms. Hunger is 
the shareholder representative to the Supervisory Board and thus 
replaces Dr. Bernd Blankenstein, who stepped down from the  
Supervisory Board on June 30, 2011. Effective December 22, 2011,  
Mr. Harald Jung followed Mr. Frank Himmelhuber, who left the 
Board on November 15, 2011, as executive management represen-
tative to the Supervisory Board. 

Principles of the remuneration system 
Beginning August 1, 2010, Executive Board remuneration was al-
tered to comprise the following: The members continue to receive a 
fixed salary (70 %) and performance-related remuneration (30 %), 
as well as retirement benefits structured in the same manner as 
pension commitments to employees. Under the new structure, the 
performance-related component is divided into two elements: one 
short-term, the other long-term. The short-term bonus comprises 
45 % of the performance-related remuneration, one-third of which 
is based on revenue and two-thirds on return on sales. The long-
term bonus is calculated entirely on the basis of increases in the 
Company’s enterprise value (ROCE minus WACC). To ensure stable 
performance, the increase in enterprise value is calculated over the 
preceding three years, i.e. it is not finalized until three years have 
elapsed. A discount is withheld from the bonus payment to ensure 
income consistency, the amount and repayment of which is de-
cided by the Chairman of the Supervisory Board. Remuneration of 
the Executive Board contains no components with long-term in-
centive effect, such as stock option or stock award programs. Fur-
thermore, in the event of extraordinary earnings or losses in the 
relevant fiscal year, the Supervisory Board may decide to imple-
ment a compensation adjustment at the end of the year, as a bonus 
or penalty comprising 10 % of the fixed salary. 

Changes to the remuneration of the Supervisory Board were au-
thorized by the Annual General Meeting on May 26, 2011, and is 
now calculated as follows: For each complete fiscal year of Super-
visory Board membership, each member of the Supervisory Board 
receives a fixed remuneration of EUR 30,000. The Chairman re-
ceives twice this amount as fixed annual remuneration and the 
Deputy Chairman receives one and a half of the above amount. 
Members of the Supervisory Board who only sit on the Board for 
part of any given fiscal year receive fixed remuneration on a pro 
rata basis. The fixed remuneration is payable after the end of each 
fiscal year. The members of the Supervisory Board shall also receive 
a meeting fee of EUR 1,000 per personally attended Board or com-



43Group Management Report

mittee meeting, plus reimbursed expenses. The chairman of a com-
mittee receives a further EUR 1,000 per committee meeting. The 
meeting fee shall not be paid for participation in meetings of the 
Nominating Committee. The fixed payment for reimbursement of 
expenses is payable in each case on the first business day following 
the Supervisory Board or committee meeting. The Company is au-
thorized to conclude financial liability insurance (D&O, directors 
and officers liability insurance) at reasonable conditions in line with 
the prevailing market rate, the premiums for which shall be paid by 
the Company. The Company will also reimburse members of the 
Supervisory Board for any incurred VAT liability on the remunera-
tion and the fixed payment for reimbursement of expenses. A vari-
able component, such as was paid in previous years, has been elim-
inated and there are no components with long-term incentive 
effect, such as stock option or stock award programs contained in 
the remuneration of the Supervisory Board.

Corporate Governance
The Corporate Governance Statement pursuant to section 289 a of 
the German Commercial Code (HGB) along with the Declaration of 
Conformity with the German Corporate Governance Code (section 
161 of the Stock Corporation Act (AktG)) are to be found in this An-
nual Report, in chapter 34 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements, and are permanently available on the Company website 
under www.grammer.com/en/about-grammer/corporate-governance.

Research and development
Research and development is a central focus for GRAMMER AG,  
as an important factor for successful positioning in the market 
now and in the future. It is this technological advantage that gen-
erates innovative products and diversity in the product range. It 
allows us to tap into new market potentials and ensure long-term 
competitiveness. The responsibility for developing new automo-
tive components and systems is increasingly shifting to suppliers. 
Consequently, the Automotive division continues to strengthen its 
position as a development partner and innovation driver for major 
manufacturers. In this context, technological advancement and 
first-rate solutions ensure important market advantages for 
GRAMMER. In Seating Systems too, we constantly work to further 
improve our products and generate solutions for the market that 
are one step ahead of the competition. But intensive research and 
development is not only the basis for our success today – it also 
provides the foundation for a winning future: New, innovative 
products enable us to meet even the most demanding of cus-
tomer expectations over the long haul. As part of the Group’s in-
novation, strategy product development has been pushed forward 

in every segment. A key focus in every area of the business has 
been light-weight construction, which has resulted in completely 
different development projects for the Automotive and Seating 
Systems divisions. 

Whereas light-weight construction mainly uses plastic when it 
comes to consoles and armrests, there is a need for thin-walled 
rods when designing light-weight headrests, which must stand up 
to heightened mechanical demands. In the area of seats, espe-
cially truck seats, GRAMMER has launched a major light-weight 
construction offensive, which will lead to an array of future inno-
vations. The main aim is to develop new technological solutions 
which can be utilized for product development over the medium 
term. As part of these efforts, GRAMMER is actively participating 
in a publicly funded research project. The increase in innovation 
by the Company can be seen concretely in the larger number of 
patents registered (+25 %). Over the next few years, in addition to 
project-related themes, the innovation strategy will emphasize 
localization, or focusing of product development on the specific 
needs of regional markets. This is taking place in step with the 
activities of the various segments. Moreover, we have stepped up 
projects to standardize products specifically for each region, 
which will strengthen our market position in the long run. Our 
shift in focus also challenges other market participants to follow 
our lead, or at least develop tolerable solutions.

Opportunities and risk management

Risk policies and principles
Business always entails opportunities, as well as risks. Especially 
given the international orientation of GRAMMER Group, opportu-
nities and risks arise, which must be managed. Listed below are 
some of the principles contained in the GRAMMER Group risk 
strategy:

•	� Opportunities and risks in the context of risk management for 
GRAMMER encompass any positive or negative deviations from 
a plan or target defined in circumstances of uncertainty.

•	� Risk management thus contributes to value-based management 
within GRAMMER Group. Value-based means that the Company 
deliberately enters into risks only when there is potential to  
enhance the value of the Company by taking advantage of  
favorable business opportunities. 

•	� GRAMMER must avoid any activities possibly entailing risks that 
could jeopardize the further existence of the Company.
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•	� Core operational risks, and in particular those originating in the 
market, are carried by GRAMMER itself. The Company also bears 
risks arising from development of new products, whereas the 
Company seeks to transfer other risks (in particular, financial 
and liability risks) to third parties.

•	� Risk management within GRAMMER Group extends to all com-
panies and organizational units. Identification of risks and im-
plementation of value enhancing measures are deemed to be 
ongoing and Group-wide duties by GRAMMER management. 

•	� All employees of the Company are called upon to identify and 
minimize risks within their area of responsibility. All employees 
must immediately report to their relevant supervisors any 
threats and opportunities emerging in the course of business.

Risk management process
The risk management process ensures early identification, analysis 
and assessment of risks, along with coordinated implementation of 
suitable measures to manage risk, as well as risk monitoring and 
control. As part of a continual monitoring process, risks with an 
estimated unintended loss potential of EUR 0.5 million or more are 
reported to central risk management. Every division and central 
administrative department has a risk officer in charge of this. In 
regular meetings with the various management levels of the divi-
sions and central service departments, opportunities and risks are 
discussed along with measures to manage risk. A Group-wide re-
porting system assures that decision-makers regularly receive 
comprehensive information on the risk situation of the Company, 
as well as the status of the measures implemented. 

Central risk management is contained within the Group Finance 
department, and operates an IT-based risk management system,  
in which risks are centrally managed and appropriate measures  
for risk mitigation are initiated. The phases of the risk management 
process are optimally supported by this recognized software  
solution.

In this way, we maintain an overview of the key opportunities and 
risks for GRAMMER Group. These include: strategic risks, market 
risks, financial risks and legal risks, as well as risks stemming from 
the areas of IT, human resources and production. 

Market and sector-specific risks
As a company with worldwide operations, GRAMMER AG is  
affected by business conditions in its home market as well as  
markets across the globe. We counter these risks with numerous 
different measures, while closely and continually monitoring devel-
opments in relevant markets – especially in our industries. We ad-
just our production and capacity accordingly when necessary. In 
the interest of effective risk management, GRAMMER Group took 

action immediately in reaction to the financial crisis and any indi-
cations of slowing revenues, and promptly adjusted production 
and cost structures to align with the new revenue situation. We 
can generally expect to face sector-specific revenue risks in the 
future as well. Since the recovery, there are signs in the Automo-
tive division in particular, that growth will continue – if at a slower 
pace. Order books in the Seating Systems division also appear to be 
stabilizing at a good level. In recent months, economic data and 
indicators have pointed to continued uncertainty of the macroeco-
nomic environment. Nonetheless, because there can be no way of 
knowing the extent to which a economic developments will be 
checked by political complications and ongoing weakness in EMU 
countries like Greece, Italy or Portugal, and since no reliable opin-
ions exist concerning the scope of effects on the markets and 
products relevant to GRAMMER, risks remain that could affect our 
net assets, financial position and earnings. 

As markets consolidate, there are competitive risks to consider, and 
cost pressures on car and truck makers are still being passed on to 
the supplier industry. A lack of follow-on orders in Europe could 
also be a risk factor. In response, we are putting a heavy emphasis 
on research and development, in addition to numerous process 
optimization measures to offset risk and increase cost efficiency. 

Our goal is to improve our market position in all business seg-
ments, as a way to reduce these competitive risks. Consequently, 
GRAMMER is focusing on technical innovation and enhancement 
of existing products. Through an increase of R&D activities, we 
intend to strengthen our position as technology leader with  
respect to our core products, in order to generate competitive  
advantages in the marketplace. 

Great emphasis is also placed on maintaining high quality stan-
dards within the Group, with early identification and elimination of 
potential sources of defects, as well as prevention of redundant 
work and idle capacities.

Procurement risks
GRAMMER aims to minimize planning risks resulting from fluctua-
tions in commodity prices as much as possible. Particularly impor-
tant in this regard are the market price development of steel and 
petroleum-based foam and plastic products. GRAMMER continually 
monitors movements in the markets for these commodities. As far 
as possible and reasonable, cost risks are hedged through long-term 
supply contracts. These, however, are currently difficult to achieve 
in the market given the high enormity of demand and prevailing 
volatility in steel, foam and plastics.

Risks arising from non-delivery by suppliers are countered by 
GRAMMER with a dual-sourcing strategy as part of an emergency 
plan featuring close monitoring of potentially critical suppliers 
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along with a rapid reaction through implementation of defined 
emergency and risk management measures. In order to protect our 
value chain, we pay close attention to our suppliers’ financial 
strength. We foster ongoing intensive contact with our suppliers 
and avoid dependencies where possible.

In order to address risks arising from quality problems attributable 
to suppliers, GRAMMER pursues focused supplier development and 
conducts regular supplier audits. An IT-based supplier assessment 
program allows us to analyze each supplier’s quality and perfor-
mance on an ongoing basis.

Financial risks
Group Finance centrally tracks interest, currency and liquidity risks. 
A strategic treasury management, the effectiveness of which is 
reviewed regularly, is used to mitigate these risks.

The primary currency risks for GRAMMER originate from trade 
payables/receivables and procurement costs denominated in Czech 
koruna, US dollars, Mexican pesos and Chinese yuan. GRAMMER 
Group counters currency risks through “natural hedging,” that 
means increasing purchasing volumes in foreign currency regions 
or increasing local production. In addition, currency risks are 
hedged selectively via the financial market.

Interest rate risks are minimized by obtaining long-term funding 
and through the use of derivatives. 

In light of the current restrictive credit policies among banks, en-
suring adequate liquidity reserves is a high priority. In 2011, ad-
equate financing for GRAMMER Group was safeguarded and struc-
turally improved through prolongation of the existing debenture 
bond and issue of an additional long-term debenture bond, as well 
as securing short-term lines of credit at a guaranteed rate of inter-
est. With maturities of three to seven years and low tranche vol-
umes, dependency on specific maturities and banks was once more 
reduced. Liquidity risks are continually monitored and documented 
by way of a rolling Group-wide financial plan. Additionally, invest-
ments are selectively concluded via leasing and rental agreements.

Our customer structure serves to limit debtor default risks, which 
are controlled through active receivables management in Control-
ling/Accounting.

Legal risks
To guard against legal risks, we employ a system of intensive con-
tract review and contract management, as well as systematic  
documentation and archiving. GRAMMER has sufficient insurance 
for “normal risks” and going-concern risks. 

Human resource risks
GRAMMER relies on highly qualified staff and management per-
sonnel to effectively capitalize on business opportunities and build 
on our competitive advantage. For this reason, focused, demand-
driven employee training and continuing education programs for 
as many employees as possible at all levels and in all areas of the 
Company are a top priority. We also participate in recruiting events 
and job fairs at schools and universities to generate interest in 
GRAMMER among motivated, young professionals and specialists.

IT and information risks
The security, protection and integrity of our data and IT infrastruc-
ture are indispensable for the smooth operation of our business. 
Legal requirements and regulations stipulate that technical and or-
ganizational measures be taken to protect our data centers and en-
sure highly available and secure data transfers.

In order to meet these requirements, GRAMMER operates a redun-
dant system with the mission-critical components of the IT infra-
structure installed in two data centers. The electricity supply is as-
sured, even in emergencies, by separate emergency generators. All 
GRAMMER sites have redundant connections to the data centers. 
Sites with highly time-critical integrated manufacturing (just in 
time, just in sequence) are additionally equipped with an expanded 
high-availability solution. Contingency plans document the process 
for restoring the operating capability of mission-critical IT systems, 
and GRAMMER is also protected by suitable security systems 
against attacks from the outside.

A Group-wide IT security organization is also in place to ensure IT 
security. 

GRAMMER Group’s IT services department’s Systems & Security 
team, along with the data protection officers and risk management 
team form the Security Incidence Team, which aims to coordinate 
activities to improve IT security.
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Ecological risks
GRAMMER works with an environmental management system on 
the basis of ISO 14001. This system defines worldwide standards 
(e.g., officers, environmental programs and targets), implementa-
tion of and compliance with which are monitored through regular 
audits to minimize environmental risks. We also continue to pursue 
certification of our production sites in accordance with ISO 14001.

Opportunities: Positive conditions in our  
core markets are fuelling growth
Building on our range of high-quality products and our worldwide 
competitiveness, GRAMMER Group is likely to see further chances 
for growth if the economy remains stable and the commodities 
sector does not substantially deteriorate. Following the major re-
structuring measures at all Group companies, and as a result of the 
additional steps taken in 2011, there may be favorable opportuni-
ties to expand within our existing, highly competitive markets. 
Through the new focus on product and market relations, rapid de-
cision-making and lean structures, we find ourselves better posi-
tioned in the market and vis-à-vis to our customers. The rational-
ization measures have improved our cost structures, so that our 
competitive position and chances for growth are improving even in 
highly competitive markets. 

With respect to our markets in China, we see a range of chances 
for our products in all segments, as local OEM exporters are in-
creasingly partnering with GRAMMER and demand for high-quality 
products is increasing for the local market. In the NAFTA markets, 
we also see further potential for our entire product portfolio. With 
stabilization of OEMs in North America and increasing direct local 
production by European OEMs in the country, our worldwide sup-
ply and production capabilities could provide a competitive advan-
tage for GRAMMER.

In Europe, given the focus on innovation and further expansion of 
competencies, we are deepening our command of the value chain, 
to allow better market positioning of the Company following com-
pletion of the structural optimizations in Germany. Moreover, com-
plementary partners from other specialized industries are opening 
up new directions for growth and value chain positions that in-
crease the attractiveness of our product range and contribute fur-
ther to solid growth.

Assessment of overall risk
Upon detailed review of the current risk situation, we have deter-
mined that GRAMMER Group has implemented adequate preven-
tive measures. The risks that currently exist have no material im-
pact on the future net assets, financial position and earnings of 
the Company. At this time, we see no risks that could jeopardize 
the further existence of the Company, and additional risk-mitigat-
ing expansion is possible as a result of the above-named opportu-
nities. Due to current contradictory and volatile forecasts, no de-
finitive assessment can be made as to the development of risks 
arising from commodity prices, since the possible scenarios fea-
ture both opportunities and risks.

Features of the internal control system
The parent company GRAMMER AG is a capital market-oriented 
corporation within the meaning of section 264 d HGB. For this rea-
son, section 315 (2) no. 5 HGB stipulates that a description must be 
provided of the key features of the internal control and risk man-
agement system as they relate to the Group’s accounting process, 
which also comprises the accounting processes of the companies 
included in the consolidated financial statements.

There is no legal definition of “the internal control and risk man-
agement system as they relate to the Group’s accounting process-
es”. We believe the internal control and risk management system to 
be a comprehensive system, and we base our definitions of the 
accounting-related internal control and risk management system 
on those of the Institute of Public Auditors in Germany (IDW), Düs-
seldorf. Accordingly, an internal control system is understood to 
comprise the principles, processes and measures introduced in the 
Company by its management that aim for organizational imple-
mentation of decisions made by management

•	� to ensure the effectiveness and viability of the Company’s  
business activities (this also includes the safeguarding of assets, 
including prevention and detection of damage to assets);

•	� to ensure the propriety and reliability of internal and external 
accounting; and

•	 to comply with the legal regulations applicable to the Company.

As described above, the risk management system includes, in their 
entirety, all organizational rules and measures intended to identify 
risks and control the risks inherent in business activities.

In the context of the Group’s accounting process, the structures 
and processes outlined as follows are implemented in the internal 
control system in the Group:

GRAMMER Group’s Executive Board is assigned overall responsibil-
ity for the internal control and risk management system as it re-
lates to the consolidated accounting process in the Group. All of 
the companies included in the consolidated financial statements 
and strategic divisions are linked into this system by way of defined 
management and reporting structures. The principles, the opera-
tional and organizational structure and the processes involved in 
the Group accounting-related internal control and risk manage-
ment system are documented for the entire Group in a handbook, 
Group directives and operating procedures that are amended  
at regular intervals to reflect current external and internal  
developments.
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As they relate to the Group’s accounting process, we deem the key 
features of the internal control and risk management system to be 
those that can materially affect the Group’s financial reporting and 
the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the group management report. These include the follow-
ing elements in particular:

•	� identification of the key risk and control areas relevant to the 
Group’s accounting process; 

•	� monitoring controls for supervising the accounting process and 
Group accounting process and their results at the level of the 
Group Executive Board, at the level of the strategic divisions and 
at the level of the companies included in the consolidated finan-
cial statement;

•	� preventive control measures in the financial and accounting 
systems of the Group and the companies included in the con-
solidated financial statements and the strategic divisions and in 
operational, performance-related business processes that gen-
erate material information for the preparation of the consoli-
dated financial statements, including the Group management 
report, plus a division of functions and pre-defined approval 
processes in relevant departments;

•	� measures that ensure proper IT-based processing of information 
and data relating to Group accounting;

•	� measures for monitoring the internal control and risk manage-
ment system as it relates to Group accounting.

Outlook

Global economy faces intensifying risks
In its most recent economic forecast for 2012, the International 
Monetary Fund (IMF) sees threats to the global economic recovery. 
Although it expects most industrialized countries to avoid reces-
sion, the IMF considers the weakening tendencies to be unmistak-
able. A major source of drag, it says, comes from the eurozone, 
which has entered into a difficult economic phase. This has 
prompted the IMF to make, in some cases drastic, cuts to its 
growth forecasts. Worldwide, output is expected to rise by only 
3.3 %, which is 0.7 percentage points less than the organization 
was calling for in its fall 2011 forecast. 

For the eurozone countries, the IMF even foresees the likelihood of 
recession. Gross domestic product within the EMU is expected to 
fall by 0.5 % in 2012. The organization has even become more re-
served in its outlook for Germany. It now expects growth of no 
more than 0.3 %, a full percentage point less than previously fore-
cast. The outlook for the UK has also been cut by a percentage 

point, and the IMF now expects to see growth of 0.6 % in the  
country. In France, growth – at 0.2 % – looks set to stagnate. The 
outlook is especially pessimistic for the crisis-hit countries Italy 
and Spain, where 2012 economic output is likely to contract by 
2.2 % and 1.7 % respectively. 

And, the IMF says there are numerous downside risks to the already 
downwardly revised outlook presented above. If the debt and fi-
nancial crisis continues to escalate, it warns, eurozone growth 
could turn out around 4 percentage points lower, and globally 
around 2 percentage points lower than expected. 

The IMF has a slightly more positive take on prospects for the US. 
At 1.8 %, it left its forecast unchanged. The IMF also expects to  
see stronger growth coming from emerging market countries: For  
Russia, Brazil, Mexico and South Africa, it foresees growth of  
between 2.5 % and 3.5 %. Leading the way will be China and India, 
with growth of 8.2 % and 7.0 %, despite the fact that these fore-
casts are weaker than before.

Outlook Automotive

Automotive industry optimistic for 2012
The VDA sees a positive outlook for carmakers in 2012, provided 
financial markets stabilize. Worldwide, markets are set to expand by 
2 % to 4 %. 

Japan, in particular, is expected to gain momentum, as demand 
recovers after the earthquake disaster in spring 2011. The outlook 
also remains promising for emerging markets. Despite somewhat 
disparate forecasts for China and India by the VDA, the trend is 
clear: markets continue to grow.

The forecast for the US could prove be too cautious over the 
course of the year. Experts currently anticipate roughly 5 % growth 
in the market for light vehicles. If the economy should continue  
to grow sustainably, however, much stronger results are said to  
be possible.

For Western Europe, the VDA is somewhat more pessimistic. Under 
the base scenario (eurozone avoids recession), sales will be down 
by 2 % year-over-year, as a result of weaker overall sales in larger 
markets. For France, the association anticipates a modest decline; 
the same goes for Italy. Spain will remain stuck in its doldrums  
as well. 

In the risk scenario, the VDA says that Europe could see volumes 
fall by as much as 5 %. Germany too would be negatively impacted 
by such a scenario. If the eurozone economy slows down signifi-
cantly, sales in Germany will also lag by roughly 2 % year-over-
year. 
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Outlook Seating Systems

Commercial vehicle market split
The market for commercial vehicles has become much more cycli-
cal and dependent – in both established and emerging markets – 
on industrial development. For light to medium trucks, the VDA is 
projecting stabilization at a very high level. In Western Europe, the 
market is expected to grow by 1 % to reach a new record.

Less certain is the VDA when it comes to heavy trucks. In Western 
Europe, signs are pointing increasingly toward weaker sales.  
According to estimates, 2012 promises volatile markets, even in 
Germany, with declines between 2 % and 8 % expected.

Full order books in agricultural machinery industry
Bolstered by positive income developments in the agricultural sector, 
the VDMA anticipates further growth in 2012. Given the size of the 
current order on hand, the German tractor market looks set to be 
on a high level. In 2012, the association expects total revenue for 
the German agricultural machinery industry to rise by 5 % to 
EUR 7.4 billion.

Construction sector showing stabilization trend
Euroconstruct, the European construction market research net-
work, has changed its earlier view, and now expects a 0.3 % decline 
in construction activity in 2012. Throughout Europe, the forecaster 
says weaker economic development will negatively impact the con-
struction sector. Especially in Portugal, Spain, Italy and Ireland, the 
industry is suffering from the effects of the economic crisis and 
saving programs of the governments. The recovery is already un-
derway in the Nordic countries according to Euroconstruct.

In Germany, business sentiment in the construction and construc-
tion machinery sector has recently stabilized. Revenue forecasts by 
the VDMA thus foresee growth of 5 % for each segment in 2012. 

Worldwide construction volume is projected to increase by around 
4 % annually until 2014.

Cautious forecasts for material handling sector
According to the survey conducted by the industry association, 
Bundesverband der Händler und Vermieter von mobilen Arbeits-
maschinen (bbi), at least 35 % of participating material handling 
machine manufacturers are anticipating higher revenues in the 
first quarter. Another 50 % expect stagnating numbers, while 
roughly 15 % say revenues declined. When it comes to full-year 
figures, survey respondents were more cautious than in 2011, but 
positive on the whole. Full-year revenues are expected to increase 
by 1 %. Where as revenue from new machine business is likely to 
decline somewhat (–1.5 %), used machine revenues are expected 
to rise by 5.5 %. 

Moderate growth in rail industry
The German Railway Industry Association e. V. (VDB) is forecasting 
that the accessible global market for rail technologies (including 
track construction and services) will expand by 2.3 % annually until 
2015/16. In the rail vehicle segment, growth is projected at 2 % 
annually. The primary drivers of this trend, according to the VDB, 
are intensified environmental and climate protection requirements, 
growing urbanization worldwide, economic globalization, liberaliza-
tion and deregulation of rail transport, rising fuel prices and peak-
ing resources. 

Business development forecast
Looking back to the final quarters of 2011, signs continue to look 
positive. As planned, the Company has successfully achieved and 
increased its profitability. Based on the latest estimates of unit vol-
umes by our customers, GRAMMER is planning on stable revenues 
and moderate sales growth over the coming years. Overall eco-
nomic growth, however, will continue at a slower pace than 2011, 
and the eurozone could face persistent negative effects from fi-
nancially weaker countries like Greece. The Group has not been 
immune from the pull of weaker markets, but new product launch-
es may generate positive performance despite weakness. The fur-
ther growth of GRAMMER Group also depends on the development 
of production costs at the Company’s locations, particularly in Ger-
many, as well as on market and sourcing prices. In the Automotive 
division, projects continue to be developed and new projects are in 
the pipeline throughout all of our product groups and regions. 
These will generate revenue in Germany and at our plants abroad. 
The deciding factor will be the extent to which customers further 
drive these developments and move forward with their model 
launches. Merger and acquisition activities will also have to be 
carefully observed, as market opportunities or risks could result 
depending on the decisions by OEMs. 

Seating Systems faces heavy competition in our established mar-
kets, as well as increasing globalization as emerging markets con-
tinue their rise. Following the rapid growth seen in 2010 and 2011, 
stagnation is possible, especially in offroad markets. On the whole, 
revenues will increase somewhat as a result of newly launched 
truck seat production, but also become more complex. As the year 
progresses, we expect revenue to advance to a level slightly higher 
than 2011. 

Among the medium to long-term structural changes within the 
Company are a continuation of measures to optimize production 
according to the lean management philosophy and to optimize 
administrative processes. 2012 will also be characterized by new 
truck seat and console production starts. The cost situation will be 
more challenging as global market prices for steel and alloys rise 
along with a strong increase in the oil price, which is reflected in 



49Group Management Report

the price of plastic and foam components, sometimes even anti-
cyclically. Implementation of the package of efficiency measures 
introduced by the Executive Board will continue undiminished in 
2012. Over the long term, we foresee risks in the overall economic 
environment, as well as markedly slower GDP growth, which is also 
being increasingly threatened by recessionary trends. Provided 
markets continue their stable development, we expect earnings to 
continue their gradual improvement in 2012 and beyond, building 
on the solid foundation created by the measures introduced and 
implemented.

Investment
With respect to capital expenditures, we expect them to be in line 
with last year. In order to continue driving growth of the Company, 
further investments will be made in NAFTA and Asian markets. An-
other focus will be Europe, given increases in 2012 from the expan-
sion of center console production and implementation of larger-
scale customer projects in the truck seat segment, as well as 
optimization of our R&D capacities. Furthermore, the switch to lean 
production methods worldwide will continue to optimize costs.

Research and development
In the Automotive division, we intend to upgrade the current prod-
uct portfolio and deepen our value chain. Emphasis will be on ex-
pansion to include new vehicle models and strengthening of our 
core competencies. Pre-development will be further intensified, in 
order to better differentiate GRAMMER from the competition as a 
technologically innovative systems supplier. The Seating Systems 
division will continue to focus on the new MSG 115 truck seat plat-
form and its promotion in other markets. We will also push ahead 
forcefully with development of our entry-level suspension pack-
ages and new production and plant technologies in the offroad 
segment. Moreover, we will round out the product range at both 
ends by focusing on development of local market-specific applica-
tions. This will entail targeted expansion of activities in both the 
NAFTA markets and in Asia. A central and overarching topic for all 
business lines is light-weight construction, with a dual focus on 
light-weight plastic construction and development of light-weight 
metallurgical construction that is strong enough to withstand 
heightened mechanical stresses. In the area of seats, especially 
truck seats, GRAMMER has launched a major light-weight con-
struction offensive, with a substantial long-term focus. Additional 
comprehensive product range enhancements have been identified 
to propel bring divisions forward into new technological fields  
and innovations, which GRAMMER will take advantage of in 2012 
and beyond.

Employees
Development in the number of employees are determined primarily 
by market conditions and cost considerations in Europe and Ger-
many, as well as Company expansion in the Far East and Americas. 

The planned implementation of further measures at the Wackers-
dorf location will also impact employee numbers. In light of the 
current economic situation, the Group will make minor additions to 
its production employees to align with the revenue and order situ-
ation. GRAMMER thus anticipates a slight increase in the number 
of employees for the Group. 

Opportunities and risks
The economic situation going forward presents opportunities as 
well as risks. GRAMMER Group’s business performance is closely 
tied to macroeconomic and industry-specific conditions, and is 
thus largely determined by external factors. Future economic per-
formance is currently expected to be slightly positive based on the 
current development. Risks are increasing with respect to the de-
velopment of commodity markets. Impacts from environmental 
catastrophes and demand growth as a result of the global eco-
nomic upturn are resulting in sometimes extreme volatility. Cur-
rency exchange rates, especially the development of the Euro, are 
also a potential problem as a result of financial weakness in some 
eurozone countries as well as the extreme high levels of govern-
ment debt facing some industrialized countries. The broadening 
and intensification of our existing global orientation will continue 
throughout 2012, in order to increase our presence in emerging 
markets and improve revenues across all markets. To hedge against 
risks, we will push forward with steps such as the packages of ef-
ficiency measures introduced by the Executive Board or expansion 
of market and customer analysis, in order to better cope with any 
economic softening spots. Potential opportunities in this economic 
environment will result mainly from the expected moderate rise in 
revenue and from expansion of the product range, which will boost 
the competitive advantage we have in our markets. With respect to 
operating profit in 2012 and the ensuing years, we expect a slight 
percentage increase over last year. This depends, however, on the 
achievement of reasonable collective bargaining conditions and 
moderate development of procurement prices and exchange rates, 
as risks from these markets, over which we have no influence, are 
highly incalculable. In particular, market risks arising from political 
instability, such as tensions in the Middle East and the threat of 
war in this crisis-plagued region or ongoing problems facing euro-
zone countries, could have a negative impact on earnings over the 
long term. Development of the European debt crisis into a currency 
crisis and the related economic difficulties represent a further po-
tential source of long-term risk. 
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Summary statement concerning the forecast  
of the Executive Board
In view of the business situation in the initial months of 2012, and 
in light of the still stable economic environment, our outlook on 
the performance of GRAMMER Group is cautiously positive. On the 
whole, business in the beginning of 2012 should continue to im-
prove slightly. In the second half, we expect a leveling off of eco-
nomic activity. Assuming stabilization and further improvement of 
the economic environment, and provided commodity price increas-
es and exchange rate developments are moderate, we will continue 
to grow in 2012 and in the years thereafter. We also expect operat-
ing profit in and after 2012 to be slightly higher than in 2011. Our 
outlook for the earnings situation is also positive, provide the com-
ing years are not too severely effected by the aftereffects of the 
euro crisis and emerging economic risks.

Events subsequent to the reporting date
The Supervisory Board of GRAMMER AG and CFO Mr. Alois Ponnath 
have jointly come to the decision not to renew the Executive Board 
contract set to expire at the end of October 2012. Instead, Mr. Ponnath 
will step down from his position after the Annual General Meeting 
on May 23, 2012. Alois Ponnath will leave GRAMMER AG at the end 
of May 2012. No decisions have yet been made with respect to Mr. 
Ponnath’s successor. 

Amberg, March 19, 2012

 
GRAMMER AG 
The Executive Board
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Consolidated Statement of Income 
for the fiscal year ended December 31

EUR k

Note 2011 2010

Revenue 7 1,093,497 929,705

Cost of sales 8.3 – 951,007 – 810,155

Gross profitGross profit 142,490 119,550

Selling expenses 8.3 –27,785 – 26,468

Administrative expenses 8.3 –75,385 – 68,885

Other operating income 8.1 10,076 8,670

Operating profit/loss (–) Operating profit/loss (–) 49,396 32,867

Financial income 8.2 2,233 1,429

Financial expenses 8.2 –15,381 – 14,870

Other financial result 8.2 –1,991 1,126

Profit/loss (–) before income taxesProfit/loss (–) before income taxes 34,257 20,552

Income taxes 9 –12,159 – 4,231

Net profit/loss (–) Net profit/loss (–)  22,098 16,321

Of which attributable to:

  Shareholders of the parent company 22,040 16,302

  Non-controlling interests 58 19

22,098 16,321

Earnings/loss (–) per share

  Basic/diluted earnings/loss (–) per share in EUR 10 2.02 1.60
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the fiscal year ended December 31

EUR k

2011 2010

Net profit/loss (–)Net profit/loss (–) 22,098 16,321

Gains/Losses (–) from currency translation of foreign subsidiaries

Gains/Losses (–) arising in the current period – 330 1,944

Less transfers recognized in the Income Statement 0 0

Tax expenses (–)/Tax income 0 0

Gains/Losses (–) from currency translation of foreign subsidiaries (after tax)Gains/Losses (–) from currency translation of foreign subsidiaries (after tax) – 330 1,944

Gains/Losses (–) from cash flow hedges

Gains/Losses (–) arising in the current period – 1,578 0

Less transfers recognized in the Income Statement 632 0

Tax expenses (–)/Tax income 284 0

Gains/Losses (–) from cash flow hedges (after tax)Gains/Losses (–) from cash flow hedges (after tax) – 662 0

Gains/Losses (–) from net investments in foreign operations

Gains/Losses (–) arising in the current period – 1,900 3,870

Less transfers recognized in the Income Statement 0 0

Tax expenses (–)/Tax income 0 0

Gains/Losses (–) from net investments in foreign operations (after tax)Gains/Losses (–) from net investments in foreign operations (after tax) – 1,900 3,870

Other comprehensive incomeOther comprehensive income – 2,892 5,814

Total comprehensive income (after tax) 19,206 22,135

Of which attributable to:

  Shareholders of the parent company 19,160 22,112

  Non-controlling interests 46 23
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
for the fiscal year ended December 31
assetsassets

EUR k

Note 2011 2010

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 12 159,680 153,379

Intangible assets 13 57,393 50,249

Other financial assets 16 4,866 4,867

Income tax assets 70 0

Deferred tax assets 9.1 38,577 37,419

260,586 245,914

Current assets

Inventories 14 103,993 88,888

Trade accounts receivable 15 137,801 138,294

Other current financial assets 16 57,930 50,483

Short-term income tax assets 2,781 1,996

Cash and short-term deposits 18 46,749 17,170

Other current assets 17 15,339 16,656

364,593 313,487

Total assetsTotal assets 625,179 559,401
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
for the fiscal year ended December 31
equity and liabilitiesequity and liabilities

EUR k

Note 2011 2010

Equity

Subscribed capital 19 29,554 26,868

Capital reserve 19 74,444 58,237

Own shares 19 – 7,441 – 7,441

Retained earnings 19 111,528 89,488

Accumulated other comprehensive income 19 2,606 5,486

Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent companyEquity attributable to shareholders of the parent company 210,691 172,638

Non-controlling interests 19 474 463

Total equityTotal equity 211,165 173,101

Non-current liabilities

Non-current financial liabilities 21 129,776 97,852

Trade accounts payable 23 3,260 4,890

Other financial liabilities 24 6,532 6,169

Other liabilities 25 2,302 2,360

Retirement benefit obligations 20 64,495 61,078

Income tax liabilities 786 0

Deferred tax liabilities 9.1 19,506 17,430

226,657 189,779

Current liabilities

Current financial liabilities 21 9,090 33,149

Current trade accounts payable 23 110,619 92,115

Other current financial liabilities 24 4,465 3,459

Other current liabilities 25 49,625 54,502

Current income tax liabilities 4,499 5,004

Provisions 22 9,059 8,292

187,357 196,521

Total liabilitiesTotal liabilities 414,014 386,300

Total equity and liabilitiesTotal equity and liabilities 625,179 559,401
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 

Note 19Note 19

EUR k

Accumulated other  
comprehensive income

Subscribed 
capital

Capital 
reserve

Revenue 
reserve

Own  
shares

Cash flow 
hedges

Currency 
translation

Net 
investments 

in foreign 
operations Total

Non-
controlling 

interests
Group 
equity

As of JanuAs of Janu
ary 1, 2011ary 1, 2011 26,868 58,237 89,488 – 7,441 0 10,257 – 4,771 172,638 463 173,101

Net profit/
loss (–) for the 
period 0 0 22,040 0 0 0 0 22,040 58 22,098

Other com-
prehensive 
income 0 0 0 0 – 662 – 318 – 1,900 – 2,880 – 12 – 2,892

Total comTotal com--
prehensive prehensive 
incomeincome 0 0 22,040 0 – 662 – 318 – 1,900 19,160 46 19,206

Capital incre-
ase by issuing 
new shares 2,686 16,414 0 0 0 0 0 19,100 0 19,100

Transaction 
costs 0 – 207 0 0 0 0 0 – 207 0 – 207

Dividends 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 – 35 – 35

Own shares 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Acquisition of 
non-controlling 
interests 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

As of DecemAs of Decem--
ber 31, 2011ber 31, 2011 29,554 74,444 111,528 – 7,441 – 662 9,939 – 6,671 210,691 474 211,165
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 

EUR k

Accumulated other  
comprehensive income

Subscribed 
capital

Capital 
reserve

Revenue 
reserve

Own  
shares

Cash flow 
hedges

Currency 
translation

Net 
investments 

in foreign 
operations Total

Non-
controlling 

interests
Group 
equity

As of JanuAs of Janu
ary 1, 2010ary 1, 2010 26,868 58,237 73,186 – 7,441 0 8,317 – 8,641 150,526 465 150,991

Net profit/
loss (–) for the 
period 0 0 16,302 0 0 0 0 16,302 19 16,321

Other com-
prehensive 
income 0 0 0 0 0 1,940 3,870 5,810 4 5,814

Total comTotal com--
prehensive prehensive 
incomeincome 0 0 16,302 0 0 1,940 3,870 22,112 23 22,135

Capital incre-
ase by issuing 
new shares 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Transaction 
costs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Dividends 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Own shares 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Acquisition of 
non-control-
ling interests 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 –25 –25

As of DecemAs of Decem--
ber 31, 2010ber 31, 2010 26,868 58,237 89,488 – 7,441 0 10,257 – 4,771 172,638 463 173,101
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow 
for the fiscal year ended December 31

Note 26Note 26

EUR k

2011 2010

1. Cash flow from operating activities

Profit/loss (–) before income taxes 34,257 20,552

Non-cash items

  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 23,785 23,075

  Amortization of intangible assets 3,750 3,219

  Changes in provisions and pension provisions 5,309 5,887

  Other non-cash changes – 2,806 1,848

Changes in net working capital

  Decrease/Increase (–) in trade accounts receivable and other receivables 3,296 –  28,122

  Decrease/Increase (–) in inventories – 11,195 –  11,665

  Decrease/Increase (–) in other assets – 2,013 –  6,033

  Decrease (–)/Increase in accounts payable and other liabilities 16,907 37,288

Gains/Losses from disposal of assets – 817 –  490

Income taxes paid – 12,464 –  7,530

Cash flow from operating activitiesCash flow from operating activities 58,009 38,029

2. Cash flow from investing activities

Purchases

  Purchase of property, plant and equipment – 33,825 –  34,551

  Purchase of intangible assets – 3,757 –  3,579

  Purchase of financial investments – 232 –  276

  Aquisition of subsidiaries (less acquired cash) – 9,476 0

Disposals

  Disposal of property, plant and equipment 2,403 4,672

  Disposal of intangible assets 9 177

  Disposal of financial investments 190 65

Interest received 2,233 1,429

Government grants received 1,981 1,165

Cash flow from investing activitiesCash flow from investing activities – 40,474 –  30,898

3. Cash flow from financing activities

Issue of new shares 18,893 0

Changes in non-current liabilities to banks 31,617 28,055

Changes in current liabilities to banks – 27,223 16,802

Changes in lease liabilities – 1,666 –  1,602

Interest paid – 11,183 –  11,470

Cash flow from financing activitiesCash flow from financing activities 10,438 31,785

4. Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Net changes in cash and cash equivalents (sub-total of items 1–3) 27,973 38,916

Effects of exchange rate differences of cash and cash equivalents 541 –  1,719

Cash and cash equivalents as of January 1 16,391 –  20,806

Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31 44,905 16,391

5. Analysis of cash and cash equivalents

Cash and short-term deposits 46,749 17,170

Securities 0 0

Bank overdrafts – 1,844 –  779

Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31 44,905 16,391



Consolidated Financial StatementsConsolidated Financial Statements 5959Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow | Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements  
for the Fiscal Year ending 
December 31, 2011

1 	� Information about GRAMMER Group and Basis  
of Reporting

Information about GRAMMER GroupInformation about GRAMMER Group
GRAMMER AG is a public listed company incorporated under Ger­
man law. The Company was created by means of a reorganization 
of GRAMMER GmbH (a private limited company) into a joint stock 
corporation (Aktiengesellschaft) and is registered in the commercial 
register of Amberg HRB 1182 under the name “GRAMMER Aktien­
gesellschaft”. The Company’s registered office and business address 
is Georg-Grammer-Str. 2 in 92224 Amberg, Germany. The shares of 
the Company have been traded on the Frankfurt and Munich stock 
exchanges since 1996.

International Securities Identification Number (ISIN): 
DE0005895403
German Securities ID (WKN): 589540
Common Code: 006754821
Ticker Symbol: GMM

GRAMMER AG has been included in the SDAX of the Frankfurt 
Stock Exchange since August 2005.

With regard to its core products, GRAMMER Group is a leader in 
the development and production of components and systems for 
automotive interiors as well as driver and passenger seats for 
commercial vehicles (trucks and offroad) busses and trains. As of 
December 31, 2011, the Company employed 8,726 persons (exclud­
ing trainees and including 201 employees in Central Services) at 
28 production and logistics sites in Europe, the NAFTA and 
Mercosur regions, Asia as well as at GRAMMER Group Central 
Services in Amberg. 

GRAMMER Group has divided its activities into the Automotive and 
Seating Systems segments. The main activities of the Group are 
described in Note 6.

GeneralGeneral
These consolidated financial statements were prepared in 
accordance with section 315 a (1) HGB in conjunction with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the related 
interpretations of the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB), as applicable in accordance with Regulation no. 1606/2002 
of the European Parliament and the Council in the European 
Union (EU). 

The consolidated financial statements of GRAMMER AG (the „Com­
pany“) for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2011 were prepared 
in accordance with section 315 a (1) HGB and were approved by the 
Executive Board for submission to the Supervisory Board on 
March 19, 2012. 

2 	A ccounting Policies

2.1	B asis of preparation2.1	B asis of preparation
According to Article 4 of Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002 of the 
European Parliament and of the Council dated July 19, 2002 
concerning the application of international accounting standards 
(Official Journal EC No. L 243 p. 1), GRAMMER AG was required to 
prepare consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for the first time 
for the fiscal year 2005; the opening IFRS consolidated balance 
sheet was prepared for the period beginning January 1, 2004 (date 
of first adoption to IFRS pursuant to IFRS 1). Acquisitions of compa­
nies carried out before January 1, 2004 continued to be accounted 
for using the consolidation procedure pursuant to section 301 (1) 
sentence 2 No. 1 of the German Commercial Code (HGB), i. e. the 
book value method: The carrying amounts of the shares were offset 
against the pro-rata share in equity of the consolidated subsidiaries 
at the time of acquisition or initial consolidation (IFRS 1). The pro-
rata consolidated joint venture was accounted for using the same 
principles.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared using the 
historical cost principal, except where application of other methods 
of measurement are mandatory. The consolidated financial state­
ments were prepared in Euro (EUR). Unless otherwise indicated, all 
values are commercially rounded to the nearest thousand (EUR k). 
The consolidated statement of financial position (balance sheet) is 
broken down by maturities. Net income is presented in two separate 
statements: an income statement and a statement of comprehensive 
income. The income statement was prepared using the cost of sales 
method.

Declaration of conformity with IFRS
The consolidated financial statements of GRAMMER AG and its 
subsidiaries have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European 
Union.

Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial state­
ments of GRAMMER AG and the consolidated subsidiaries as of 
December 31 of each fiscal year. The financial statements of the 
subsidiaries are prepared in accordance with uniform Group 
accounting policies also applied for the financial statements of 
the parent company. The reporting date of the financial state­
ments of the companies included in the consolidated financial 
statements corresponds to the balance sheet date of the consoli­
dated financial statements. If necessary, the financial statements 
of subsidiaries are adjusted to conform to the accounting policies 
applicable in the Group. 
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Any intragroup balances, transactions, income, expenses and 
unrealized profits or losses resulting from intragroup transactions 
that are included in the carrying amount of the assets are elimi­
nated in full.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, i. e. 
from the date on which the Group effectively obtains control of 
the company concerned. The subsidiary is no longer included in the 
consolidated financial statements as soon as the parent effectively 
loses control over the company concerned. Net income from sub­
sidiaries acquired or sold in the course of the year is recognized in 
the consolidated income statement in line with the actual acquisi­
tion or disposal date. 

Losses at subsidiaries are attributed to the non-controlling 
interests, even if this results in a negative balance. 

Any change to participation in a subsidiary that does not result in 
a loss of control is accounted for as an equity transaction. 

In the event of loss of control, the Group accounts for the re­
maining interest as follows: Assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, 
including goodwill, are derecognized, as is the carrying amount of 
the non-controlling interest in a former subsidiary and the cumu­
lated exchange differences recognized in equity. The fair value of 
the considerations received and receivable is determined and 
resulting profit or loss recognized in the income statement. The 
amount formerly attributable to accumulated other comprehen­
sive income, depending on the applicable IFRS rules, is recognized 
under revenue reserves or via the income statement.

Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase 
method. Costs for acquisition of a company are measured as the 
aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of the consideration 
transferred and the amount of any minority interest. In the context 
of any business combination, the Group values minority interests in 
the acquired company either at fair value or as the relevant share 
of the identifiable net assets of the acquired company. Costs in­
curred in relation to the business combination are recognized as 
expense. 

In the case of successive business combinations, the share of 
equity in the target company previously held by the acquiring 
entity is revalued to fair value at the time of acquisition and the 
resulting gain or loss is recognized in the income statement. 

When the Group acquires a company, it determines classification 
and designation of the financial assets and assumed debts in 
accordance with the contractual conditions, the economic 
situation and the conditions prevailing at the time of acquisition. 
Any embedded derivatives in underlying assumptions are also 
accounted for separately by the Company.

Identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired in 
the context of a business combination are initially recognized at 
their fair value on the acquisition date. The agreed contingent 
consideration is measured at fair value at the time of the business 
combination. Subsequent changes to the fair value of a contingent 
consideration representing an asset or liability are either recog­
nized in profit and loss or other income in accordance with IAS 39. 
If a contingent consideration is equity, the original amount is not 
remeasured and subsequent settlement is taken directly to equity. 
If the contingent consideration does not fall under the scope of 
IAS 39, measurement follows the relevant IFRS rules.

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate or a jointly 
controlled entity is included within the carrying amount of the 
associate or the jointly controlled entity respectively. On disposal 
of a subsidiary, associate or jointly controlled entity, the attribut­
able amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the 
profit or loss on disposal. 

Non-controlling interests refer to the share of results of operations 
and net assets not attributable to the Group. Any profit or loss 
from this share is accordingly recognized in the income statement 
separate from the share of results of operations attributable to the 
shareholders of the parent company. Recognition in the balance 
sheet is directly in equity, separate from the equity attributable to 
the shareholders of the parent company.

Interest in a joint venture
The Group is involved in a joint venture, which is defined as a 
contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake 
an economic activity that is subject to joint control. The Group 
employs proportional consolidation for accounting treatment of its 
interest in the joint venture. The Group combines its share of each 
of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the jointly 
controlled entity with similar items in the financial statements. The 
financial statements of the joint venture for a given fiscal year are 
prepared in accordance with uniform Group accounting and asset 
measurement policies also applied for the financial statements of 
the parent company.
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If the Group contributes or sells assets to a joint venture, recognition 
of any portion of a gain or loss from the transaction reflects the 
substance of the transaction. If the Group purchases assets from a 
jointly controlled entity, it does not recognize its share of the gain 
for the joint venture from the transaction until it resells the asset 
to an independent party.

The joint venture remains proportionately consolidated until joint 
control by the Group is lost or ended. 

Scope of consolidation
In addition to GRAMMER AG, the scope of consolidation now in­
cludes five domestic and 18 foreign companies that are directly or 
indirectly controlled by GRAMMER AG within the meaning of IAS 
27. A joint venture within the meaning of IAS 31 is also proportion­
ately consolidated. GRAMMER AG holds 50 % of the voting rights 
in this joint venture. During the current fiscal year, GRAMMER ac­
quired EiA Electronics N.V. with registered office in Aartselaar/Bel­
gium, which was fully consolidated effective July 26, 2011. 

2.2 	E stimates and discretionary scope2.2 	E stimates and discretionary scope
In some cases, reporting in accordance with IFRS requires the ap­
plication of estimate and premise-intensive accounting principles, 
which entail complex and subjective assessments and estimates 
involving circumstances which are intrinsically uncertain and sub­
ject to change. For instance, in preparing the consolidated financial 
statements, discretionary decisions, assumptions and estimates 
have to be made to a certain degree, which have an impact on the 
measurement and recognition of reported assets and liabilities, in­
come and expenses and contingent liabilities of the reporting pe­
riod. Assumptions and estimates mainly relate to assessing the val­
ue of intangible assets, determining uniform economic useful lives 
for property, plant and equipment, assessing the recoverability of 
receivables and undertaking recognition and measurement of provi­
sions. The assumptions and estimates are based on presumptions 
reflecting the currently available information. These may contain 
assumptions that the management could not have reasonably 
deemed otherwise in the same reporting period for equally reason­
able reasons. In particular, the circumstances prevailing at the time 
of preparation of the consolidated financial statements as well as 
the anticipated realistic development of the global and sector-spe­
cific environment were used as the basis for forecasting the future 
business trends. Developments that differ from these assumptions 
and are beyond the control of management may cause actual re­
sults to differ from the originally forecast estimates. As a precau­
tion, the Group notes that future events often deviate from fore­
casts, and that estimates are routinely subject to revision. If actual 
developments differ from forecast developments, the presumptions 
and, if necessary, the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities 
concerned are adjusted accordingly. 

Estimation uncertainties
The major assumptions concerning future events and other key 
sources of estimation uncertainty as of the balance sheet date, 
which entail considerable risk of causing a significant adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next fiscal 
year, are explained below. Assumptions and estimates consistently 
relate to the parameters in effect at the time of preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements. As a result of market develop­
ment and conditions outside Group control, however, these may 
change over time. Such changes are only taken into account when 
they have occurred.

Impairment of goodwill
The Group tests goodwill for impairment at least once annually. 
This requires an estimate to be made of the value in use of the 
cash-generating units to which the goodwill has been attributed. In 
order to estimate the value in use, the Group must estimate the 
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit as well 
as an appropriate discount rate in order to determine the present 
value of these cash flows. The cash flows are extrapolated from 
budgets for the subsequent three years, which relates to the estimates 
of the management as to the realizable value. The realizable value 
depends largely on the discount rate applied for discounted cash flow 
method, as well as the expected future cash flows and rate of growth 
used as the basis for extrapolation. As of December 31, 2011, the 
carrying amount of goodwill amounted to EUR 35,859 thousand 
(2010: 32,591). For further details, please refer to Note 13.1.

Development costs
Development costs are capitalized in accordance with the accounting 
policies set out in Note 2.3. Capitalization of costs for the first time is 
based on the management’s assessment that there is evidence that 
the development is technically and economically feasible. As a rule, 
this is the case if a product development project has achieved a spe­
cific stage of maturity in an existing project management model. For 
the purpose of calculating the amounts to be capitalized, assump­
tions and estimates were made concerning the expected future cash 
flows from assets, the applicable discount rates and the period in 
which the expected cash flows generated by such assets will flow to 
the Company. 

Revenue recognition for contract business
A portion of business in the Group relates to customer develop­
ment contracts. These construction contracts are recognized in 
accordance with the stage of completion as of the balance sheet 
date (percentage-of-completion-method) as described in Note 2.3. 
This method entails a measured estimate of the stage of comple­
tion. For estimation of the stage of completion, the Group must 
approximate the total contract costs, the costs to complete, the 
total contract revenue, the contract risks and other assumptions. 

6161Consolidated Financial StatementsConsolidated Financial Statements Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Management continually reviews these assumptions in the context 
of such construction contracts and adjusts them as necessary. The 
calculation also involves assumptions related to contract term and 
execution as well as development efficiency. Uncertainties are 
greater at the beginning of construction contracts due to the 
development of design and function. 

Provisions 
Determination of provisions for warranties, litigation or restructur­
ing is largely characterized by estimates and assumptions. For 
warranty estimates, a significant number of assumptions are made 
relating technical disruptions, costs and possible claims, which rely 
to a considerable degree on assessments of operational manage­
ment. These may change over the course of time as more specific 
information becomes available. The Group is confronted with 
various litigations and regulatory processes in different countries. 
These can result in civil sanctions or monetary fines for the Group. 
The Group recognizes provisions for such litigation costs if it is 
probable that an obligation will arise from them that is likely to 
result in future payments. To this extent, the creation of provisions 
is based largely on management discretion.

Taxes
As a result of the significant international orientation of our 
business relationships and the complexity of existing contractual 
agreements, discrepancies may exist between actual developments 
and the assumptions made or to be changed in the future, which 
could necessitate changes to reported tax expenses or income. Un­
certainties also stem from the official interpretation of complex tax 
rules, amendments to tax laws and their periods of effectiveness as 
well as the amount and timing of future taxable results. Based on 
reasonable estimates, the Group recognizes provisions for potential 
effects from tax audits in countries where we operate. The amount 
of such provisions is based on various factors, such as experience 
in previous tax audits and different official interpretations of tax 
rules by the authorities. The probability of resulting litigation and 
payments of tax liabilities on the basis of such litigation is deemed 
to be minimal, so that no contingent liabilities were recognized in 
this regard.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all unused income 
tax losses carried forward to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable profit will be available against which the unused 
income tax losses can be actually utilized. Significant management 
judgments are required to determine the amount of deferred 
income tax assets on the basis of the expected timing and amount 
of the future taxable profit as well as the future tax planning 
strategies. Further details are available in Note 9.1. 

Pensions and other post-employment benefits
The expense from defined post-employment benefit plans is 
determined on the basis of actuarial calculations. Actuarial valuation 
is performed on the basis of assumptions related to discount rates, 
expected return on plan assets, future salary increases, mortality 
rates and future pension increases. In line with the long-term nature 
of these plans, such estimations are subject to material uncertainties. 
As of December 31, 2011, provisions for pension and similar obliga­
tions amounted to EUR 64,495 thousand (2010: 61,078). For further 
details, please refer to Note 20.

2.3 	�S ummary of significant accounting policies2.3 	�S ummary of significant accounting policies

Currency translation
The Consolidated Financial Statements were prepared in Euro (EUR). 
Every company within the Group determines its own functional 
currency. The items included in the financial statements of the 
companies are measured on the basis of the relevant functional 
currency.

In the single-entity financial statements of GRAMMER AG and its 
consolidated subsidiaries, foreign currency transactions are 
translated at the exchange rate applicable on the date of initial 
recognition of the respective transaction. Financial statements 
prepared in foreign currencies and transactions denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated in accordance with the functional 
currency concept as set out in IAS 21. Accordingly, the functional 
currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the entity operates; its activities and financial structure are 
to be presented in the consolidated financial statements as they 
present themselves in that currency. Transactions in foreign curren­
cies are translated into the functional currency at historical rates. 
Monetary items are translated at the closing rate. Any resulting 
translation differences are recognized in profit or loss. An exception 
is made for translation differences from loans or credits in foreign 
currencies, that are classified as a net investment and included in 
net income for the period only after their disposal. Any deferred 
taxes resulting from these translation differences are also recog­
nized directly in equity. The financial statements of Group compa­
nies whose functional currency differs from the reporting currency 
of the Group (EUR) are translated using the modified closing rate 
method. In the consolidated financial statements, the assets and 
liabilities of foreign Group companies are translated into EUR from 
the respective local currency at the middle rate on the balance 
sheet date.

Income statement items are translated into EUR at the average 
exchange rate for the year. The net income for the year so deter­
mined is taken to the consolidated balance sheet. Any translation 
differences are recorded in equity with no effect on income.
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For currency translation purposes, the following exchange rates 
were applied for the major currencies outside the Eurozone that are 
of relevance to the Group:

Average rate Closing rate

2011 2010 2011 2010

Brazil BRL 0.430 0.429 0.414 0.451

China CNY 0.111 0.111 0.123 0.113

United Kingdom GBP 1.149 1.166 1.197 1.162

Japan JPY 0.009 0.009 0.010 0.009

Mexico MXN 0.058 0.059 0.055 0.060

Poland PLN 0.243 0.249 0.224 0.252

Czech Republic CZK 0.041 0.039 0.039 0.040

Turkey TRY 0.430 0.498 0.409 0.483

USA USD 0.718 0.754 0.773 0.748

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations
Non-current asset qualifying as held for sale are recognized at the 
lower of the carrying amount and fair value less disposal costs. An 
asset is classified as held for sale if the relevant carrying amount is 
realizable primarily through disposal rather than use of the asset. 
This is only assumed to be the case if disposal of the asset is 
deemed highly probable and the asset is immediately available for 
sale in its present condition. This must be preceded by a manage­
ment decision to sell the asset and the sale should be completed, or 
expected to be so, within a year from the date of the classification.

In the income statement for the period, and the preceding period, 
the total income and expenditure for discontinued operations is 
presented separately from the income and expenditure for continu­
ing operations, and separately recognized as after-tax profit/loss 
from the discontinued operations. This also applies if the Group 
continues to hold a non-controlling interest in the former subsid­
iary after disposal.

Assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less straight-line 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses (IAS 16). If the 
cost of certain components are significant in proportion to the 
overall cost of the item of property, plant and equipment, and if 
these components are subject to regular replacement, the Group 
recognizes these separately and depreciates them individually. The 
useful lives assumed correspond to the period over which the asset 
or relevant component is expected to be available for use. Residual 
values have been included in the calculation of the depreciation 
amounts to the extent material.

Cost is recognized on the basis of directly attributable costs plus 
any allocable material and production overheads, including 
depreciation, and borrowing costs for long-term construction 
projects or similar manufacturing processes, as long as they qualify 
for recognition. Repair costs and interest on borrowed funds are 
recognized as current expenses.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated pro rata temporis 
over the expected useful life using the straight-line method.

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment are recognized 
in accordance with IAS 36 when the carrying amount exceeds the 
value in use or the fair value less costs to sell of the assets. Should 
the reasons for impairments recognized in previous years no longer 
apply, the impairment losses are reversed up to the amount of the 
asset‘s original cost less any accumulated depreciation.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon 
disposal or when an economic benefit can no longer be expected 
from the continued use or sale of the asset. Any resulting gains or 
losses are established on the basis of the difference between the 
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are 
recognized as income in profit or loss in the period of 
derecognition. 

The residual carrying amounts of the assets, their useful lives and 
the depreciation methods applied are reviewed at the end of each 
fiscal year and, if needed, adjusted.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Leases
Leases involving the Group as lessee are classified as operating 
leases or finance leases in accordance with IAS 17. Determining 
whether an arrangement contains a lease is based on the substance 
of the arrangement at the time of the conclusion thereof and 
requires a judgment as to whether the performance of the 
contractual arrangement depends on the use of a specific asset 
and whether the arrangement conveys the right to use the asset. 
With regard to leased items of property, plant and equipment, the 
requirements of finance leases in accordance with IAS 17 are met 
when all significant risks and opportunities of ownership have been 
transferred to the respective Group entity (economic ownership). 
In such case, the respective items of property, plant and equipment 
are capitalized at the lower of fair value or present value of the 
minimum lease payments and depreciated using the straight-line 
method over the shorter of the asset‘s economic life or the lease 
term. The obligation arising from the lease is recognized on the 
balance sheet as a liability and reduced by the amount of lease 
payments made.

Any lease or rent payments under operating leases involving 
subsidiaries as lessee are recognized as an expense directly in 
the income statement.

Borrowing cost
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalized 
as part of the acquisition, construction or production costs of the 
asset. Other borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the 
period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs include inter­
est and other costs that a company incurs in connection with 
borrowing. The Group capitalizes borrowing costs relating all 
qualified assets for which construction commenced on or after 
January 1, 2009. The Group continues to recognize borrowing 
costs in connection with construction projects begun prior to 
January 1, 2009 as expenses.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising from a business combination is initially measured 
at cost, defined as the excess of the acquisition costs over the 
Group‘s share in the fair values of the identifiable assets, liabilities 
and debt acquired. If the acquisition cost is lower than the fair value 
of the net assets of the acquired subsidiary, the difference is recog­
nized directly in the income statement. Following initial recognition, 
goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment cost. 
To establish whether goodwill is impaired, it is necessary to allocate 
the goodwill acquired by the business combination from the day of 
acquisition to each of the cash-generating units that will benefit 
from the business combination. This is carried out irrespective of 
any previous allocation of other Group assets or liabilities to these 
units.

Impairment testing is carried out at the level of segments, which 
are cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units, and 
represent the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for 
internal management purposes.

Impairment is measured by establishing the recoverable amount of 
the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) that 
relates to the goodwill. If the recoverable amount of the cash-gen­
erating unit (or group of cash-generating units) is below its carrying 
amount, an impairment loss is recognized. If goodwill has been at­
tributed to a cash-generating unit and a portion of this unit is sold, 
the goodwill attributable to the sold portion of the unit is included 
as part of the carrying amount of the unit in establishing the result 
from sale of the unit. The value of any goodwill sold in this manner 
is determined on the basis of the ratio of value of the business 
segment sold to the unsold portion of the cash-generating unit.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired against payment of a consideration are 
capitalized at cost at the time of purchase and amortized over their 
useful life (software: three to six years) on a straight-line basis 
(IAS 38). 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized over their 
useful lives and tested for impairment as soon as there is any 
indication that the intangible asset might be impaired. The amor­
tization period and amortization method of intangible assets with 
a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each fiscal 
year. If the expected useful life of the asset or the expected amor­
tization method has changed, a different amortization period or 
amortization method is chosen. Any such changes are treated as 
a change in an accounting estimate.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impair­
ment at least once annually for each asset or on the level of the 
cash-generating unit. These intangible assets are not amortized. 
The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life 
is tested annually to establish if an indefinite useful life is still to 
be assumed. Should this not be the case, the asset is deemed to 
have a finite life and a change in an accounting estimate from 
indefinite to finite is recognized prospectively.

Amortization and impairment for the year under review have been 
attributed to the respective functional areas.

Gains and losses from derecognition of intangible assets are 
calculated as the difference between the net sales proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset. They are recognized as profit 
or loss in the period in which the asset is derecognized.
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Patents and licenses
Patents may be either internally generated or acquired and are 
recognized at cost. The patents are issued by the competent 
government authority for a minimum of ten years, with an option 
for extension at the end of this period. Licenses for the use of 
intellectual property are issued for individual use for a period of 
one to ten years. The licenses generally include an option for 
extension, subject to the proviso that the Group satisfies the 
licensing conditions. There is little or no cost for an extension. 
Patents and licenses are amortized on a straight-line basis over 
their respective useful life. 

All development costs for internally generated patents were mea­
sured at cost at the time of transition to IFRS on January 1, 2004. 
Balance sheet recognition under the IAS 38 criteria is limited to 
expected ability to generate cash flows within the respective cash-
generating unit. Amortization is carried out on a straight-line basis 
over the expected useful life of the relevant patents (1 year to 
19 years).

Research and development costs
Research costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which 
they are incurred. Development costs for individual projects are 
only capitalized as intangible assets if the Group can demonstrate 
the following:

•	 �the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset  
so that it will be available for internal use or sale;

•	 �the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

•	 �how the intangible asset will generate probable future  
economic benefits;

•	 �the availability of resources for purposes of completing the  
asset and

•	 �the ability to reliably measure the expenditure attributable  
to the intangible asset during its development.

Subsequent to initial recognition, development costs are 
accounted for using the cost model, i. e. at acquisition cost less 
any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 
losses. Depreciation commences with completion of the develop­
ment phase when the asset is available for use, and continues 
over the period during which future benefit can be expected.

Capitalized development costs are tested for impairment once 
annually if the asset has not yet been used or if there are 
indications for impairment during the year. 

Impairment of non–financial assets
The Group assesses on each balance sheet date whether there are 
any indications that the value of an asset could be impaired. If there 
is any such indication or if an annual impairment test for an asset is 
required, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset. 
The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of the fair value 
less costs to sell of the asset or cash-generating unit and its value 
in use. The recoverable amount must be established for each asset 
individually, unless an asset does not generate any cash flows that 
are largely independent from those of other assets or groups of 
assets. Should the carrying amount of an asset exceed its recover­
able amount, the asset is deemed impaired and is written down to 
its recoverable amount. In order to establish the value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value, 
taking into account a discount rate before taxes reflecting current 
market expectations on interest effect and the specific risks related 
to the asset. Impairment costs of continued operations are recognized 
in those cost categories that reflect the function of the impaired 
asset.

As of each balance sheet date, the Group reviews if there is any 
indication that an impairment loss recognized in previous periods 
might no longer be existent or may have decreased. If there is any 
such indication, the recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment 
loss recognized in prior periods is reversed if there has been a 
change in the estimates used to determine the asset‘s recoverable 
amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. If this is 
the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its re­
coverable amount. This increased carrying amount, however, may 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined 
(net of depreciation and amortization) had no impairment been 
recognized for the asset in previous years. Any such reversal of an 
impairment loss must be recognized immediately in the profit or 
loss for the period, except if the asset is recognized at the revalued 
amount. In this case, the reversal of the impairment loss is treated 
as an increase in value as a result of a revaluation. Following the 
reversal of an impairment loss, the depreciation or amortization 
charge for the asset must be adjusted in future periods to allocate 
the asset‘s revised carrying amount, less any residual carrying 
amount, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Financial instruments
Financial instruments are contracts that give rise to a financial asset 
of one entity and a financial liability or an equity instrument of 
another entity. Financial instruments recognized as financial assets 
or financial liabilities are recognized separately. 

Financial instruments are recognized as soon as the Group becomes a 
counterparty to the financial instrument. In the case of regular way 
purchases or sales as part of a contract, the conditions of which 
envisage delivery of the asset within a period, which is normally set 
by law or the conventions of the respective market, the settlement 
date, i. e. the date on which the asset is delivered to or by the Group, 
is the date on which the asset is first recognized or derecognized in 
the balance sheet.

If contracts to buy or sell non-financial items fall under the scope 
of IAS 39, they are accounted for in accordance with the procedures 
of this standard.

Initial recognition of financial assets
Financial assets within the meaning of IAS 39 are classified as 
financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, as loans 
and receivables, as held to maturity investments, as available-for-sale 
financial assets or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments 
and effective as such. The Group determines classification of its 
financial assets upon initial recognition.

Upon initial recognition, financial assets are measured at fair value. 
In the case of investments not classified as at fair value through 
profit or loss, transaction costs directly attributable to acquisition 
of the assets are also taken into account.

The Group‘s financial assets include cash and short-term deposits, 
trade receivables, receivables from outstanding loans and other 
receivables as well as quoted and unquoted financial instruments 
and derivatives.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets
Subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their 
classification.

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 
include financial assets classified as held for trading and those 
designated measured at fair value through profit or loss upon 
initial recognition. Financial assets are classified as held for 
trading if they have been purchased for the purpose of selling 
in the near future.

Derivatives, including embedded derivatives recognized separately, 
are also classified as held for trading with the exception of those 
derivatives that are designated as a hedging instrument in 
accordance with IAS 39 and are effective as such. If agreements 
contain embedded derivatives, the derivatives are accounted for 
separately from the underlying agreement when the economic 
attributes and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely 
connected to the economic attributes and risks of the underlying 
agreement. The Group establishes whether embedded derivatives 
are to be accounted for separately from the underlying agreement 
when it becomes a counterparty for the first time. A reassessment 
takes place only if there are major changes to the agreement 
terms, which result in a significant change to the payment flows.

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are 
recognized at fair value and the resultant gains and losses are 
recognized in the income statement.

No primary financial assets were classified as held for trading in 
either the reporting year or the previous year; no use was made of 
the option to initially designate financial assets as assets to be 
recognized at fair value through profit or loss.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. Subsequent to initial recognition, these are recognized at 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method less pos­
sible impairment losses. Gains and losses are recognized as profit 
or loss in the period when they are derecognized or written down 
or are reduced through amortization.

Held to maturity financial investments
Non-derivative financial instruments with fixed or definable pay­
ments as well as a fixed term, which the Group clearly intends and 
has ability to hold to maturity are categorized as held to maturity 
financial investments. Following initial recognition, these held to 
maturity financial investments are measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are rec­
ognized as profit or loss in the period when they are derecognized 
or written down or are reduced through amortization.

No financial instruments of this category were present in the Group 
either on the balance sheet date or in the previous year.
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Available-for-sale assets
Available-for-sale (AfS) financial assets include debt and equity 
securities. Available-for-sale equity instruments are those that are 
not classified as held for trading or as financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss. Debt instruments in this category are those 
held for an indefinite period and which can be sold in reaction to 
liquidity demands or changes in market conditions.

Following initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are 
measured at fair value in subsequent periods. Non-realized gains or 
losses are recognized as other gains/losses under the provision for 
available-for-sale financial assets. In the event of derecognition of 
such assets, the cumulative gain or loss is recognized in other 
operating income. In the event of impairment, the cumulative loss 
is recognized under financial expenses in the income statement and 
eliminated from the provision for available-for-sale financial 
instruments.

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or a part of a financial asset or part of a group 
of similar financial assets) is derecognized if it meets one of the 
following conditions:

the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset 
have expired;

the Group has transferred its contractual rights to the cash flows 
from a financial asset or has undertaken a contractual obligation 
to immediately transfer cash flows to a third party pursuant to 
IAS 39.19 (pass-through arrangement) and (a) has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial 
asset or (b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, but has 
transferred the control of the financial asset.

If the Group has transferred its contractual rights to the cash flows 
from a financial asset or entered into a pass-through arrangement 
and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, but has transferred 
the control of the financial asset, the Group recognizes an asset in 
the amount of the continuing involvement.

In such cases, the Group also recognizes an associated liability. 
The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on 
a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the entity has 
retained.

If the continuing involvement takes the form of guaranteeing the 
transferred asset, the extent of the continuing involvement is the 
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maxi­
mum amount of the consideration received that the Group could 
be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets
At each balance sheet date, the Group assesses whether there is 
any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial 
assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is 
impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is 
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events 
that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss 
event”) and that loss event has an impact on the expected future 
cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that 
can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment can exist if there 
are signs that the obligor or group of obligors face significant finan­
cial difficulties, default on interest or principle payments, if there 
are indications that bankruptcy or other financial reorganization are 
probable and if observable data indicates that there is a measurable 
decrease in the expected future cash flows, such as changes in 
arrears or economic conditions that point to default.

Impairment of assets carried at amortized cost
With respect to amounts carried at amortized cost from trade 
account receivables, an initial assessment is made to determine 
whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for 
financial assets that are individually significant, and individually or 
collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. 
If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment 
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether signifi­
cant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with 
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for 
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment 
and for which an impairment loss is then recognized or continues to 
be recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impair­
ment. If there are objective indications that an impairment loss has 
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset‘s carrying amount and the present value of ex­
pected future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have 
not been incurred).

The carrying amount of trade receivables is reduced through use of 
an allowance account and the loss recognized in the income state­
ment. No separate allowance account is used for any other financial 
assets.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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If a receivable is classed as uncollectible, it is to be derecognized 
along with any related impairments when all pledged security has 
been called and liquidated. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of 
the impairment loss increases or decreases as the result of an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously rec­
ognized impairment loss is accounted for in the income statement 
through and an upward or downward adjustment of the allowance 
account.

If a derecognized receivable is reclassified as collectable as the result 
of an event occurring after derecognition, the relevant impairment 
loss is reversed and the amount recognized in profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial assets
At each balance sheet date, the Group assesses whether there is 
any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial 
assets is impaired.

In the case of equity instruments held for sale, a significant and 
persistent reduction in the fair value of the instrument to below 
its historical cost would constitute objective evidence. The crite­
rion “significant” is assessed on the basis of the original cost of 
the financial asset and the criterion “persistent” is based on the 
time period during which the fair value was lower than historical 
cost. If there are indications of impairment, the cumulative loss 
– calculated as the difference between historical cost and fair 
value less any earlier impairment loss on the instrument recognized 
in the income statement – is eliminated from other profit/loss and 
recognized via the income statement. Impairment of equity instru­
ments is not reversed in the income statement; any subsequent rise 
in fair value is directly recognized under other profit/loss.

When calculating impairment of debt instruments classified as 
available for sale, the same criteria are applied as for financial asset 
carried at amortized cost. If there are indications of impairment, 
the cumulative loss – calculated as the difference between histori­
cal cost and fair value less any earlier impairment loss on the 
instrument recognized in the income statement – is eliminated 
from other profit/loss and recognized via the income statement.

Future interest income continues to be calculated based on the 
impaired book value of the asset, using the rate of interest used to 
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the 
impairment loss. This interest income is recognized under financial 
income. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument 
increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event 
occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in the income 
statement, the impairment loss shall be reversed, with the amount 
of the reversal recognized in the profit or loss statement.

Initial recognition of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities within the meaning of IAS 39 are classified 
either as financial liabilities recognized at fair value through profit 
or loss, as other liabilities or as derivatives that are designated as 
hedging instruments and effective as such.

The Group determines classification of its financial assets upon 
initial recognition. Upon initial recognition, financial liabilities are 
measured at fair value. In the case of loans, directly attributable 
transaction costs are also taken into account.

The Group‘s financial liabilities include trade payables and other 
liabilities, bank overdrafts, loans, bonds and derivatives.

Subsequent recognition of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss
This category includes financial liabilities held for trading as well as 
financial liabilities designated as measured at fair value through 
profit or loss upon initial recognition.

Derivatives with a negative market value, which were not 
designated as hedging instruments or are ineffective as such, 
are also classified as held for trading.

Financial liabilities that fall under the category “financial liabilities 
measured at fair value through profit or loss“ are recognized at fair 
value in subsequent periods and the resultant gains and losses are 
recognized in the income statement.

No primary financial liabilities were classified as held for trading in 
either the reporting year or the previous year; no use was made of 
the option to initially designate financial liabilities as liabilities to be 
recognized at fair value through profit or loss.

Loans
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing loans are 
recognized at amortized cost using the effective interest rate 
method. Gains and losses are recognized as profit or loss when 
the liabilities are derecognized or as part of amortization using 
the effective interest rate method. Amortized cost is calculated 
taking into account any premium or discount upon acquisition, as 
well as fees or costs, which represent an integral component of 
the effective interest rate. Amortization using the effective interest 
rate method is recognized in the income statement under 
financial expenses.
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Other liabilities
All financial liabilities that do not fall into the category financial 
liabilities recognized at fair value through profit or loss and are not 
derivatives, are recognized at amortized cost using the effective 
interest rate method. In the case of current liabilities, the repayment 
amount or settlement amount equates to the amortized cost. Gains 
and losses are recognized as profit or loss when the liabilities are 
derecognized or as part of write-downs.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligation specified 
in the contract is discharged, cancelled or has expired. An exchange 
of an existing financial liability from the same lender with substan­
tially different terms or a subsequent modification of the terms of 
an existing financial liability is accounted for as a derecognition of 
the primary financial liability and recognition of the new financial 
liability. The difference between the carrying amounts is recognized 
in profit or loss for the period.

Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount recog­
nized in the balance sheet, only when a current legal right exists, 
e. g. contractually, to offset the amounts against one another, and 
the Company intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments traded on an organized 
financial market is determined as the market price (bid price) 
applicable on the balance sheet date. The fair value of financial 
instruments for which there is no active market is determined 
through application of valuation methods. Valuation methods 
include using recent arm’s length market transactions between 
knowledgeable, willing and independent parties, reference to the 
current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the 
same, discounted cash flow analysis and other pricing models.

Derivatives and hedge accounting
The Group makes use of derivatives, such as currency forwards, 
interest rate swaps and commodity futures to hedge against 
interest rate, exchange rate and other price risks. These derivatives 
are recognized at fair value at the time of agreement and revalued 
for recognition at fair value in subsequent periods. Derivatives are 
accounted for as financial assets if their fair value is positive, and 
as financial liabilities if their fair value is negative. Gains or losses 
from changes during the fiscal year in the fair value of derivatives 
that do not satisfy the requirements for recognition as hedging 
transactions, as well as any ineffective portion of an effective 
hedging instrument are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

For purposes of hedge accounting, hedging instruments are 
classified as follows:

•	 �As a fair value hedge, if it is a hedge against a change in fair 
value of a recognized asset or liability or an unrecognized firm 
commitment (excluding currency risks);

•	 �As a cash flow hedge, if it is a hedge against cash flow fluctua­
tions attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognized 
asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction, or the 
currency risk of an unrecognized firm commitment;

•	 �As a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation.

At the inception of the hedge there is formal designation and 
documentation of the hedging relationship and the Group’s risk 
management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. 
The documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, 
the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged 
and a description of how the Company will assess the hedging 
instrument‘s effectiveness in offsetting the exposure to changes in 
the cash flows. Such hedges are expected to be highly effective in 
offsetting risks from changes in cash flows. They are assessed on an 
ongoing basis to determine whether they have actually been highly 
effective throughout the financial reporting periods for which the 
hedge was designated.

The Group uses derivatives to hedge future cash flows from 
pending and planned transactions (cash flow hedges).

Hedges that satisfy the strict criteria for recognition as cash flow 
hedges are accounted for as follows:

The effective portion of the gain or loss from a hedging instrument 
is recognized directly in equity, whereas the ineffective portion is 
recognized directly in the income statement. The amount included 
under equity is transferred to the income statement in the period in 
which the hedged transaction affects net income. Where the hedged 
item is the cost of a non-financial asset or liability, the amounts 
taken to equity are transferred to the initial carrying amount of the 
non-financial asset or liability. If the forecast transaction is no 
longer expected to occur, or the firm commitment no longer applies, 
amounts previously recognized in equity are transferred to profit 
or loss. If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or 
exercised without replacement or rollover, or if its designation as a 
hedge is revoked, amounts previously recognized in equity remain in 
equity until the forecast transaction occurs or the firm commitment 
is settled.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Hedges of a net investment
Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, including a 
hedge of a monetary item that is accounted for as part of the net 
investment, are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Gains 
or losses from the hedging instrument that are attributable to the 
effective portion of the hedging instrument are recognized in 
other gains/losses, whereas any gains or losses from the ineffective 
portion are recognized in profit or loss. Upon disposal of a foreign 
operation, the cumulative value of any gains or losses previously 
recognized in equity is transferred to the income statement. The 
Group makes use of a loan to hedge against currency risks in 
relation to investments in foreign subsidiaries. 

Inventories
Inventories are valued at cost under strict application of the lower-
of-cost-and-market principle. Costs of purchase are measured in 
the Group using a moving average price and an adequate portion of 
the costs associated with the procurement of goods. In addition to 
directly attributable costs, the costs of conversion include reasonable 
portions of manufacturing and materials overheads as well as 
depreciation. Administrative expenses are included insofar as they 
relate to production. General administrative expenses and interest 
expenses are not recognized. Due to the elimination of intercom­
pany profits, the cost of inventories from intercompany deliveries 
was accounted for by discounts on the internal transfer prices us­
ing the retail method. If, in response to decreased prices on the 
market, the net realizable value on the balance sheet date is lower 
than the inventory cost, the inventories are measured at their net 
realizable value.

Construction contracts
Construction contracts are recognized in accordance with the 
stage of completion as of the balance sheet date (percentage-of-
completion-method) in accordance with IAS 11. The percentage of 
completion is determined by the ratio of the accumulated contract 
costs as of the balance sheet date to the estimated total contract 
costs (cost-to-cost approach). The projects are included on the 
balance sheet under “other financial assets” insofar as the accumu­
lated services rendered exceed the advance payments received. If 
net income from a construction contract cannot be reliably deter­
mined, revenues from the contract are only to be recognized in the 
amount of the contract costs incurred, which are probably collect­
ible. Contract costs are recognized as an expense in the period in 
which they are incurred. Any expected project losses are recognized 
as provisions.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and short-term deposits, as reported in the balance sheet, 
include cash in hand, bank balances and short-term deposits with 
original terms to maturity of less than three months. These are 
recognized at amortized cost.

For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash 
and cash equivalents include cash and short-term deposits, as 
defined above, plus presently drawn overdraft facilities.

Own shares
If the Group acquires own shares, these are carried at cost and 
deducted from equity. The purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of 
own shares is recognized directly in equity. Any differences 
between the carrying amount and the consideration paid are 
recognized in equity. 

Other provisions
In accordance with IAS 37, provisions are recognized insofar as the 
Group, as a result of a past event, has a present obligation vis-à-vis 
third parties that will likely cause an outflow of resources and a 
reliable estimate can be made with respect to the amount of the 
obligation.

Where the Group expects at least a partial reimbursement of a pro­
vision carried as a liability (e. g. in the case of an insurance policy), 
the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset only when it is 
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received. The expense 
relating to the provision is presented in the income statement net 
of the amount recognized for the reimbursement. Where the effect 
of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted at 
a pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific to the liability. When 
discounting, the increase in the amount of a provision reflecting the 
time value of money is recognized as interest expense. Provisions 
for warranty costs are recognized as of the date of the sale of the 
respective product. The amount recognized as a provision is the 
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation.

Provisions against warranty claims for costs relating to warranties 
are recognized at the time of sale of the relevant products or per­
formance of the relevant services. The amount of initial recognition 
is on the basis of past experience. The original estimate of costs in 
relation to warranties is reviewed annually.

Restructuring costs are recognized when the Group has a detailed 
formal plan for the restructuring and the plan has been commu­
nicated to the divisions affected by the restructuring. 
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Provisions for pensions and other employment benefits
The actuarial valuation of pension provisions is based on the 
projected unit credit method in respect of defined benefit plans 
in accordance with IAS 19. This valuation method is based not 
only on pension payments and vested benefits known as of the 
balance sheet date but also reflects future salary and pension 
increases. The interest component included in the pension 
expenses is shown in the financial result as interest expenses.

Actuarial gains or losses result from changes in the number of 
beneficiaries and differences between actual trends (e.g. salary or 
pension increases) compared to the assumptions on which the 
calculations were based. In accordance with the option set forth in 
IAS 19, this amount is allocated in the GRAMMER Group over the 
expected average remaining working lives of the employees and 
recognized as appropriate in the balance sheet and income state­
ment if the unrecognized actuarial gains or losses at the beginning 
of the fiscal year exceed 10 % of the greater of the defined benefit 
obligation or the fair value of any plan assets at the beginning of 
the fiscal year.

Other post-employment benefits for employees are measured in 
accordance with IAS 19.

Recognition of income and expenses
Revenue is recognized when it is probable that the economic ben­
efits associated with the transaction will flow to the Company and 
the amount can be reliably determined. These amounts are measured 
at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking 
into account the contractual conditions governing payment and 
similar factors and net of any taxes or other charges. Upon com­
prehensive review, the Group has determined that it acts as principal 
for all revenue-generating transactions.

Revenue from sales and other operating income is principally 
recognized when the service has been rendered or the goods have 
been delivered, i. e. when the risk has been transferred to the 
customer. Any sales allowances such as discounts, rebates, 
customer bonuses etc. are deducted from revenues.

In the case of long-term construction contracts (e.g. customer 
development contracts), revenue is recognized in accordance with 
the stage of completion as of the balance sheet date. The percent­
age of completion is determined by the ratio of the accumulated 
contract costs as of the balance sheet date to the estimated total 
contract costs. Accordingly, income from percentage of completion 
is recognized as revenue. If income from a construction contract 
cannot be estimated reliably, probable revenues are recognized in 
the amount of expenses incurred.

When it is probable that the total contract costs will exceed total 
contract revenue, the expected loss is immediately recognized in 
full as an expense in the period this became apparent.

Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense are recognized in the period they 
arise. Interest income and expense is recognized in the income 
statement as part of the financial result. For all financial instruments 
measured at amortized cost and interest-bearing available-for-sale 
financial assets, interest income and expenses are calculated using 
the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate is the 
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or 
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, 
when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of 
the financial asset or financial liability. 

Dividends
Income from dividends are recognized as of the effective date.

Government grants
Government grants are recognized when there is reasonable 
assurance that the grants will be received and the Company 
complies with the conditions attached to them. Grants related to 
expenses are recognized as income on a systematic basis over the 
periods necessary to match with the related costs. Government 
grants related to assets are presented in the balance sheet by 
setting up the grant as deferred income that is depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over the expected useful life of the asset.

To the extent that loans or other subsidies from governments or 
their executive agencies are provided at an interest rate below the 
prevailing market rate, the resulting benefit is recognized as a 
further government grant.

Taxes

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities
Current tax assets and liabilities for current and prior periods are 
measured at the expected amount of tax reimbursements or tax 
payments. The amount is based on the tax rates and tax laws that 
are applicable or have been enacted as of the balance sheet date.

Actual taxes referring to items that are recognized directly in equity 
are recognized directly in equity without effect on profit or loss.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Deferred taxes
Deferred taxes are recognized using the asset and liability method 
for all temporary differences between the carrying amount of an 
asset or liability in the balance sheet and its tax base.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary 
differences. The following exceptions apply:

•	 �Deferred income tax liabilities from the initial recognition of 
goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction other than a 
business combination that at the time of the transaction had 
no influence on net income for the period as reported in the 
financial statements nor on the taxable income are not 
recognized.

•	 �Deferred income tax liabilities arising from taxable temporary 
differences in connection with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures are not recognized if 
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be 
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible 
temporary differences, unused income tax losses carried forward 
and unused income tax credits to the extent that it is probable 
that future taxable profit will be available against which the 
unused income tax losses and unused income tax credits can 
be utilized. The following exceptions apply:

•	 �Deferred income tax liabilities from deductible temporary differ­
ences, which arise from the initial recognition of an asset or a 
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that 
at the time of the transaction had no influence on net income 
for the period as reported in the financial statements nor on the 
taxable income are not recognized.

•	 �Deferred income tax assets arising from taxable temporary 
differences in connection with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures are only recognized to 
the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will 
reverse in the foreseeable future and there is sufficient taxable 
income against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

As of each balance sheet date, the carrying amount of deferred 
income tax assets is reassessed and reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that sufficient taxable income will be available 
against which the deferred income tax asset can be at least partially 
utilized. Unrecognized income tax assets are reassessed as of each 
balance sheet date and recognized to the extent that it has become 
probable that future taxable income will allow the deferred income 
tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income taxes and liabilities are measured at the income 
tax rates expected to apply to the period when the asset is realized 
or the liability settled, based on the income tax rates (and tax laws) 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance 
sheet date.

Income taxes referring to items that are recognized directly in equity, 
depending on the types of transactions, are recognized either in 
other income or directly in equity without effect on profit or loss.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are netted if the Group 
has a legally enforceable right to set off current income tax assets 
against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes 
refer to income taxes of the same taxable entity levied by the same 
tax authority.

Value-added tax
Sales revenues, expenses and assets are recognized net of 
value-added tax. The following exceptions apply:

•	 �Value-added tax from the purchase of goods or services that 
cannot be claimed back from the tax authorities is recognized 
as part of the costs of conversion of the asset or as part of 
expenses and

•	 �Receivables and liabilities are recognized including value-added 
tax.

The value-added tax reimbursed by the tax authority or paid to the 
tax authority is recognized as a receivable or liability on the balance 
sheet. 

2.4 	A pplication of IFRS standards2.4 	A pplication of IFRS standards

2.4.1 �Application of revised and new accounting standards
The accounting policies applied generally correspond to those 
applied in the previous year, except for the new and revised 
standards and interpretations listed below that went into effect 
on January 1, 2011:

•	 �IAS 24 Related party disclosures (amended), applicable as 
of January 1, 2011

•	 �IAS 32 Financial instruments: presentation (amended) applicable 
as of January 1, 2011

•	 �IFRIC 14 Prepayments of a minimum funding requirement 
(amended), applicable as of January 1, 2011 

•	 Improvements to IFRS 2010
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Application of these standards and interpretations are explained 
in more detail below:

IAS 24 Related party disclosures
The IASB has issued an amendment to IAS 24 that clarifies the 
definitions of a related party. The new definitions emphasize a 
symmetrical view of related party relationships as well as clarifying 
in which circumstances persons and key management personnel 
affect related party relationships of an entity. Secondly, the 
amendment introduces a partial exemption from the general 
related party disclosure requirements under IAS 24 for transac­
tions with a government and entities that are controlled, jointly 
controlled or significantly influenced by the same government as 
the reporting entity. Application of this change has not affected 
the Group‘s net assets, financial position and results of 
operations.

IAS 32 – Financial instruments: presentation classification  
of rights issues
This amendment alters the definition of a financial liability to enable 
entities to classify rights issues and certain options or warrants as 
equity instruments. The amendment is applicable if the rights are 
given to all of the existing owners of the same class of an entity’s 
non-derivative equity instruments. The amendment has had no 
effect on the financial position or performance of the Group, as it 
has no such instruments.

Amendment to IFRIC 14 – Prepayments of a minimum 
funding requirement
The amendment removes an unintended consequence when an 
entity is subject to minimum funding requirements and makes an 
early payment of contributions to cover such requirements. The 
change is supposed to allow companies to recognize an asset for 
prepayments on minimum funding requirements. The Group is not 
subject to minimum funding requirements. The amendment to the 
interpretation therefore had no effect on the net assets, financial 
position or results of operations. 

Improvements to IFRS 2010
Improvements to IFRS 2010 is a collection of amendments to various 
IFRSs published primarily with a view to removing inconsistencies 
and clarifying wording. There are separate transitional provisions for 
each standard. Application of the following amendments led to 
changes in accounting methods, but did not impact the net assets, 
financial position and results of operations of the Group:

•	 �IFRS 3 Business combinations: The measurement options available 
for non-controlling interest have been amended. Only components 
of NCI (non-controlling interest) that constitute a present own­
ership interest that entitles their holder to a proportionate share 
of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation shall be mea­
sured at either fair value or at the present ownership instruments’ 

proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All 
other components are to be measured at their acquisition date 
fair value. This applies for the first time in fiscal years starting on 
or after July 1, 2010. The Group has no such transactions.

•	 �IFRS 7 Financial instruments – disclosures: The amendment was 
intended to simplify the disclosures provided by reducing the 
volume of disclosures around collateral held and improving 
disclosures by requiring additional qualitative information to 
put the quantitative information into context. This affects only 
presentation in the Notes.

•	 �IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements: The amendment 
defines an option to present an analysis of each component of 
other comprehensive income either in the statement of changes 
in equity or in the Notes. The Group provides the analysis in the 
statement of changes in equity.

Other amendments resulting from Improvements to IFRS 2010 to 
the following standards did not have any impact on the accounting 
policies or presentation of the net assets, financial position or 
results of operations of the Group:

•	 �IFRS 3 Business combinations: Contingent consideration arising 
from business combination prior to adoption of IFRS 3

•	 �IFRS 3 Business combinations: Unreplaced and voluntarily 
replaced share-based payment awards

•	 IAS 27 Consolidated and separate financial statements

•	 IAS 34 Interim financial reporting

The new and amended interpretations listed below had no impact 
on accounting policies and presentation of the net assets, financial 
situation and results of operations of the Group:

•	 �IFRIC 13 Customer loyalty programs: Determining the fair value 
of award credits

•	 �IFRIC 19 Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity 
instruments

2.4.2 �Changes to standards and new standards for application 
of accounting methods

EU-endorsement pending
The IASB published the standards and interpretations listed below, 
which have already been integrated into EU law as part of the 
comitology procedures, but application of which was not yet 
mandatory in fiscal year 2011. The Group does not prospectively 
apply these standards and interpretations.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Amendment of IFRS 7 – Transfers of financial assets
The amendment of IAS 7 was published in October 2010 and is 
applicable for the first time in the fiscal year starting on or after 
July 1, 2011. It sets forth comprehensive new qualitative and 
quantitative information on transfers of financial assets that are 
not derecognized and about the continuing involvement in relation 
to the extinguished financial assets at the balance sheet date. This 
amendment is likely to increase the volume of information provided 
on financial instruments, but will not have any effect on the recog­
nition and measurement of assets and liabilities in the consolidated 
financial statements or income in the future.

EU-endorsement pending
The IASB published the standards and interpretations listed below, 
application of which was not yet mandatory in fiscal year 2011. 
These standards and interpretations have not yet been endorsed by 
the EU and are not applied by the Group.

IFRS 9 Financial instruments: Classification and measurement
The initial part of phase I in the process of drafting IFRS 9 
Financial instruments was published in November 2009. The standard 
contains amendments relating to classification and measurement 
of financial assets. According to it, debt instruments, depending 
on their specific characteristics and taking into account the business 
model, are to be accounted for either at amortized cost or at fair 
value through profit or loss. Equity instruments are always ac­
counted for at fair value. Fluctuations in the value of equity in­
struments, however, may be recognized under other gains/losses, 
given the instrument-specific option that can be exercised at the 
time of acquisition of the instrument. In this case, for equity in­
struments, only certain dividend income would be recognized as 
income. An exception to the rule are financial assets held for trad­
ing, which must be recognized at fair value through profit or loss. 
In October 2010, the IASB completed the second part of phase I of 
the project. Thus, requirements in relation to financial liabilities 
were added to the standard, which sets forth that the existing 
classification and measurement rules continue to apply for finan­
cial liabilities, with the following exceptions: Effects from the 
change of the company’s credit risk under financial liabilities clas­
sified as at fair value through profit or loss must be recognized di­
rectly in equity and derivative liabilities may no longer be recog­
nized at historical cost. This amendment will apply for the first 
time in fiscal years starting on or after January 1, 2015. Conclusion 
of this project is expected in 2012. Application of phase I, part one 
will effect classification and measurement of the Group’s financial 
assets. Part two of this project phase is not expected to impact 
the Group‘s net assets, financial position and results of operations. 
The Group will analyze and quantify the effects in conjunction 
with the other phases after publication.

IFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements
IFRS 10 was published in May 2011 and is applicable for the first 
time in the fiscal year starting on or after January 1, 2013. The new 
standard replaces the portion of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements that addresses accounting for consolidated 
financial statements, as well as interpretation SIC-12 Consolidation – 
Special Purpose Entities. IFRS 10 establishes a single control model 
that applies to all entities (including special purpose entities). The 
changes introduced by IFRS 10 will require management to exercise 
significantly more judgment to determine which entities are con­
trolled, and are required to be consolidated by a parent.

IFRS 11 Joint arrangements 
IFRS 11 was published in May 2011 and is applicable for the first 
time in the fiscal year starting on or after January 1, 2013. IFRS 11 
replaces IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly-
controlled Entities — Non-monetary Contributions by Venturers. 
IFRS 11 removes the option to account for jointly controlled entities 
using proportionate consolidation. Instead, these companies must 
be accounted for at equity. Application of the new standard will 
impact the net assets of the Group, because jointly controlled entities 
that were previously proportionately consolidated, i. e. whose assets 
and liabilities were included on a pro rata basis in the financial 
statements, must now be accounted for using the equity method. 
The Group participates in one jointly controlled company (see 
Note 4).

IFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in other entities 
IFRS 12 was published in May 2011 and is applicable for the first 
time in the fiscal year starting on or after January 1, 2013. IFRS 12 
combines the disclosure requirements in Group accounting for in­
terests in subsidiaries, as previously included in IAS 27, joint ar­
rangements, associates as previously included in IAS 31 and IAS 28, 
and for structured entities into one comprehensive disclosure 
standard. Given that the new standard sets forth additional 
disclosure requirements in addition to the previous informational 
requirements, Group reporting on such interests will have an 
expanded scope in the future.

IFRS 13 Fair value measurement 
IFRS 13 was published in May 2011 and is applicable for the first 
time in the fiscal year starting on or after January 1, 2013. IFRS 13 
describes how to measure fair value under IFRS and defines a 
number of quantitative and qualitative disclosures about fair value 
measurements. It does not change when an entity is required or 
permitted to use fair value measurement for assets and liabilities. 
IFRS 13 defines fair value as the price that would be received for 
selling an asset or paid for transferring a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 
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The Group is currently evaluating the impact of the new standard 
on the net assets, financial position and results of operations.

IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements – Presentation  
of other comprehensive income
The amendments to IAS 1 change only the grouping of items 
presented in other comprehensive income. Items that will be 
reclassified to profit or loss at a future point in time must be 
presented separately from items that will remain in equity. This 
change merely affects presentation, and thus has no impact on 
the net assets, financial position or results of operations of the 
Group. The amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning 
on or after July 1, 2012.

Amendment of IAS 12 – Deferred taxes: Realization  
of underlying assets
The amendment of IAS 12 was published in December 2010 and is 
applicable for the first time in the fiscal year starting on or after 
January 1, 2012. The amendment clarifies the rules for measurement 
of deferred taxes on investment property measured using the fair 
value model in IAS 40, and introduces a (rebuttable) presumption 
that the carrying amount of such an asset will be recovered entirely 
through sale. Deferred tax arising on non-depreciable assets 
measured using the revaluation model in IAS 16 should always be 
based on the sale rate. In jurisdictions subject to German law, 
application will have no impact on the net assets, financial position 
and results of operations.

IAS 19 Employee benefits
The IASB issued revisions to IAS 19 that provide significant chang­
es ranging from significant, e.g. relating to calculation of expected 
return on plan assets and elimination of the corridor approach, to 
immaterial ones like clarifications and rewordings. The amend­
ment applies for the first time in fiscal years starting on or after 
January 1, 2013. Since the Group currently uses the corridor ap­
proach and recognizes actuarial gains and losses only when the 
corridor is exceeded, the full recognition of actuarial gains and 
losses in the period when they occur is expected to have an effect 
on the comprehensive income, and thus on the net assets, financial 
position and results of operations of the Group. Upon application, 
pension provisions will increase by EUR 5,409 thousand. 

IAS 28 Investments in associates and joint ventures  
(amended 2011)
The amendment of IAS 28 was published in May 2011 and is 
applicable for the first time in the fiscal year starting on or after 
January 1, 2013. With the changes in IFRS 11 and IFRS 12, IAS was 
renamed Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures and the 
scope of application of the equity method expanded to include 
jointly controlled companies in addition to associates. Please refer 
to the section on IFRS 11 with respect to the effects of the 
changes.

Amendments to IAS 32 and IFRS 7 Financial instruments – 
Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities
The amendments of IFRS 7 and IAS 32 were published in Decem­
ber 2011 and are applicable for the first time in the fiscal year 
starting on or after January 1, 2013. The changes are meant to 
address inconsistencies in current practice through additional 
guidelines for applying the offsetting criteria. The existing rules for 
offsetting of financial instruments, however, have been retained. 
The amendments also introduce additional disclosure requirements. 
The changes are not expected to affect the Group‘s net assets, 
financial position and results of operations, but will expand the 
scope of reporting. 

3 	A cquisitions
On July 26, 2011, GRAMMER AG acquired and fully consolidated 
100 % of equity in Belgian electronics specialist, EiA Electronics N.V., 
based in Aartselaar/Belgium, from previous owners of the shares, 
VADO (van doorne’s) Financieringsmaatschappij N.V. and DACO N.V. 
With the purchase, GRAMMER is expanding its technological compe­
tence in the area of electronics. EiA Electronics has roughly 50 em­
ployees and generated revenue of approximately EUR 20 million in 
2010. The acquisition was financed by proceeds from the capital 
increase by GRAMMER AG in April 2011. Purchase price allocation 
is based on the fair values of the various assets and the purchase 
price share in excess of the total fair value is recognized as goodwill. 
The goodwill amount derives largely from the expected synergies 
resulting from joint operations and joint ventures. The amount of 
goodwill from this acquisition will be attributed in full to the cash-
generating unit Seating Systems.

The costs for the acquired net assets of EiA Electronics N. V. totaled 
EUR 10.5 million. In connection with the transaction, costs in the 
amount of EUR 157 thousand were recognized under administra­
tive expenses in the income statement.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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On the date of acquisition, the net assets were comprised as 
follows:

EUR k

Fair value at at
acquisition date

AssetsAssets

Property, plant and equipment 423

Intangible assets 3,902

Inventories 3,910

Trade accounts receivable 7,736

Other current financial assets 1,197

Cash and short-term deposits 1,024

18,192

LiabilitiesLiabilities

Non-current financial liabilities – 2,406

Other liabilities – 100

Current trade accounts payable – 5,930

Deferred income tax liabilities – 1,232

Other current liabilities – 1,292

– 10,960

Total net assets at fair value 7,232

Goodwill 3,268

Consideration transferred 10,500

Cash flow based on acquisitionCash flow based on acquisition

With the subsidiary acquired cash 1,024

Disposals of cash – 10,500

Disposals of cash due to acquisition – 9,476

All assets and liabilities acquired were accounted for at fair value 
on the date of acquisition. Additional intangible assets (client 
relationships and similar rights) that were not included in the 
balance sheet of the acquired company have also been included in 
accounting, along with associated deferred taxes. For measurement 
of client relationships, the multi-period excess earnings method 
was applied. There were no significant differences between the 
gross value and carrying amount of receivables. There are no non-
controlling interests in the company. The fair value of the acquired 
net assets result in goodwill that cannot be amortized for tax pur­
poses in the amount of EUR 3,268 thousand. In accordance with 
IFRS 3, this will not be amortized. The amount of goodwill contains 
a workforce measured at EUR 480.2 thousand on a cost basis. The 
remaining goodwill arises from the potential growth resulting from 
the acquisition. It will allow the Group to expand and solidify its 
relationship with existing customers, as well as directly enriching 
products and services with electronic components. The Group‘s 
position in the key regions Europe and NAFTA is also strengthened 
in the offroad and agricultural markets.

In the reporting period, EiA Electronics N.V. has generated revenue 
of EUR 10,754 thousand since conclusion of the transaction, con­
tributing after tax profit of EUR 680 thousand. If EiA Electronics 
N. V. had been a part of the Group on January 1, 2011, this would 
have resulted in Group revenue of EUR 1,109,383 thousand and 
after tax profit of EUR 22,983 thousand.

4 	I nterest in a Joint Venture
GRAMMER AG holds an interest of 50 % in GRA-MAG Truck Interior 
Systems LLC (GRA-MAG LLC). GRA-MAG LLC is a jointly controlled 
entity in the United States, which is active in the segment Seating 
Systems.

The share of the assets, liabilities, income, and expenses of the 
jointly controlled entity attributable to the Group as of Decem­
ber 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 based on proportionate 
consolidation in the consolidated financial statements is as follows:

EUR k

2011 2010

Current assets 4,049 2,936

Non-current assets 727 144

4,776 3,080

Current liabilities –3,730 – 2,412

Non-current liabilities –10,097 – 8,478

–13,827 – 10,890

Income 11,221 7,875

Expenses –12,198 – 8,368

 
As of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, no share of 
contingent liabilities or capital commitments was attributable to 
the Group.

5 	 Restructuring Expenses
In 2011, the Group carried out various restructuring and relocation 
measures which resulted primarily from the full relocation of 
production from GRAMMER AG’s Immenstetten plant. The Group 
also undertook an adjustment of costs for measures to implement 
to redundancy plan in relation to closure of production at the 
Wackersdorf plant, which are accounted for as direct severance 
payments for termination of employment and personnel expenses 
within the Group. These expenses included costs from termination 
of employment and other closure or relocation costs, and totaled 
roughly EUR 2.3 million.

6 	S egment Reporting
The segments described below reflect the internal reporting and 
organizational structure of GRAMMER Group. Determination of the 
Company’s key management indicators is based on the data 
contained in the IFRS consolidated financial statements. For the 
purpose of management, the Group is organized into product 
segments by relevant products and services, comprising the 
following two reportable segments:
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The Automotive segment, which is the largest segment within 
GRAMMER Group, achieved 60.8 % (2010: 64.1) of total Group 
revenue in fiscal year 2011. GRAMMER is active in this segment as 
a supplier to the automotive industry, developing and producing 
headrests, armrests and center console systems. The Group sells 
these products primarily to automakers in the upper and premium 
segments and to their tier 1 suppliers.

The Seating Systems segment accordingly generated 39.2 % of 
Group revenue in the reporting year (2010: 35.9). In this segment, 
GRAMMER is active as a supplier to the commercial vehicles 
industry, developing and manufacturing driver and passenger seats 
for offroad vehicles (agricultural machinery, construction machinery 
and forklifts) and markets these to commercial vehicle manufacturers 
or as an aftermarket supplier. The segment also develops and 
produces driver and passenger seats for busses and railway manu­
facturers and railway operators. The Seating System segment now 
encompasses the business units Trucks, Bus and Offroad (agricul­
tural machinery, construction machinery and forklifts) as well as 
the Railway unit.

Profit before income tax generated by the operating segments is 
monitored separately by the management, in order to make deci­
sions on resource allocation and determine the earnings strength 
of the units. Segment performance is assessed on the basis of 
profit before income tax and is assessed in the consolidated financial 
statements on the basis of profit before income tax. Group financing 
(including financing income and expenses) as well as income taxes 
are managed uniformly and autonomously within the Group and 
are not allocated to the individual segments. Similarly, expenses 
for the Central Service departments are not broken down by seg­
ment. The Central Services division carries out group-wide func­
tions in financial controlling, corporate communications, procure­
ment, product development, operations, finance, internal control 
investor relations, IT, human resources, accounting and legal 
affairs.

Transfer prices between the Group‘s operating segments are based 
on market prices established at arm‘s length. Segment income, 
segment expenses and segment earnings include transfers between 
business segments. These transfers are eliminated upon 
consolidation.

Business segmentsBusiness segments
The following tables include information on income and earnings 
as well as selected information on assets and liabilities of the 
Group‘s business segments for the fiscal years ending Decem­
ber 31, 2011 and 2010:

Fiscal year as of December 31, 2011

EUR k
Seating 
Systems Automotive

Central  
Services/

Reconciliation
GRAMMER 

Group

Revenue to external customers 414,157 679,340 0 1,093,497

Inter-segment revenue 23,850 983 – 24,833 0

Total revenueTotal revenue 438,007 680,323 – 24,833 1,093,497

Segment earnings (Operating profit/loss (–))Segment earnings (Operating profit/loss (–)) 30,624 26,917 – 8,145 49,396

Financial income 2,233

Financial expenses – 15,381

Other financial result – 1,991

Profit/loss (–) before income taxesProfit/loss (–) before income taxes 34,257

Income taxes – 12,159

Net profit/loss (–) Net profit/loss (–) 22,098

Other segment information

Investments:

    Property, plant and equipment 21,063 12,328 435 33,826

    Intangible assets 981 2,491 285 3,757

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment – 10,205 – 13,063 – 517 – 23,785

Amortization of intangible assets – 1,281 – 1,873 – 596 – 3,750

Non-cash items

Changes in pension provisions 3,163 66 188 3,417

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Fiscal year as of December 31, 2010

EUR k
Seating 
Systems Automotive

Central  
Services/

Reconciliation
GRAMMER 

Group

Revenue to external customers 320,938 608,767 0 929,705

Inter-segment revenue 20,942 1,446 –  22,388 0

Total revenueTotal revenue 341,880 610,213 –  22,388 929,705

Segment earnings (Operating profit/loss (–))Segment earnings (Operating profit/loss (–)) 17,590 21,353 –  6,076 32,867

Financial income 1,429

Financial expenses –  14,870

Other financial result 1,126

Profit/loss (–) before income taxesProfit/loss (–) before income taxes 20,552

Income taxes –  4,231

Net profit/loss (–) Net profit/loss (–) 16,321

Other segment information

Investments:

    Property, plant and equipment 15,494 18,815 242 34,551

    Intangible assets 318 3,166 95 3,579

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment –   9,472 –  13,031 –  572 –  23,075

Amortization of intangible assets –  1,136 –  1,452 –  631 –  3,219

Non-cash items

Changes in pension provisions –  15 2,040 1,793 3,818

 

Reconciliation

EUR k

2011 2010

Segment earnings (Operating profit) 57,541 38,943

Central Services – 9,876 –  7,502

Elimination 1,731 1,426

Group earnings (Operating profit) 49,396 32,867

Financial result – 15,139 –  12,315

Profit/loss (–) before income taxesProfit/loss (–) before income taxes 34,257 20,552

The item Central Services reflects areas centrally administrated by 
the Group headquarters. Transactions between the segments are 
eliminated in the reconciliation.

Information about geographical segmentsInformation about geographical segments
The following tables include information on externally generated 
revenues and non-current assets of the Group‘s geographical 
segments for the fiscal years ending December 31, 2011 and 2010. 
The geographical breakdown is based on the region of registration 
of the companies:
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Fiscal year as of December 31, 2011

EUR k

Registration of the companies Europe1 Americas
Far East / 

Others Group

Revenue 724,407 220,668 148,422 1,093,497

Non-current assets
(= Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets) 176,383 20,116 20,574 217,073

Fiscal year as of December 31, 2010

EUR k

Registration of the companies Europe1 Americas
Far East / 

Others Group

Revenue 595,245 195,197 139,263 929,705

Non-current assets
(= Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets) 162,516 20,625 20,487 203,628

1 EU member states 

7 	 Revenue Structure of the Group
GRAMMER Group generates revenue primarily from the sale and 
delivery of its products to customers. Please refer to the segment 
report for an overview of the revenue structure of the operating 
and business segments.

Revenue of EUR 1,093,497 thousand (2010: 929,705) includes 
contract revenue of EUR 40,965 thousand (2010: 23,099) related to 
development contracts using the PoC-method. The expenses in­
curred corresponded to revenues. These revenues relate to devel­
opment activities as well as working capital that must be engaged 
and financed by GRAMMER Group until a product reaches serial pro­
duction and generates initial revenues. These primarily relate to the 
Automotive segment. In the operative segment Seating Systems, 
PoC-revenues were generated due to the new projects for the truck 
seat production.

8 	 Other Income and Expenses

8.1 	 Other income8.1 	 Other income
Other operating income primarily includes income from the 
reversal of provisions and valuation allowances amounting to 
EUR 666 thousand (2010: 1,019) and proceeds from the sale of 
scrap metal and materials handling costs and rental income of 
EUR 4,395 thousand (2010: 3,823). This item also contains 
government grants of EUR 895 thousand (2010: 452), income 
from offsetting costs of approximately EUR 637 thousand 
(2010: 245) and income from the sale of property, plant and 
equipment of EUR 1,137 thousand (2010: 1,070). The government 
grants were issued for the acquisition of certain items of property, 
plant and equipment. The conditions for these grants were satisfied 
in full and no other uncertainties exist in relation to them.

8.2	 Financial result8.2	 Financial result

EUR k

2011 2010

Financial income

Interest income from bank balances 989 963

Available-for-sale financial assets 5 5

Other loans 266 294

Financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair value through profit or loss 973 167

Total financial incomeTotal financial income 2,233 1,429

Financial expenses

Loans and overdraft – 10,313 – 10,280

Other interest costs – 566 – 72

Interest cost of pension provisions – 3,338 –  3,124

Net loss from financial assets and 
liabilities measured at fair value through 
profit or loss – 1,032 – 1,217

Interest element of lease payments – 132 – 177

Total financial expensesTotal financial expenses – 15,381 –  14,870

Other financial resultOther financial result – 1,991 1,126

Financial resultFinancial result – 15,139 –  12,315

Financial income relates mainly to temporary surplus cash invested 
in the context of active cash management. Changes in the fair 
value of interest rate swaps that do not satisfy the requirements 
for hedge accounting must be recognized as income according to 
IAS 39, which leads to unrealized gains and losses within the 
financial result. 

Financial income includes interest income in the amount of 
EUR 1,260 thousand (2010: 1,262) calculated using the effective 
interest rate method.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements



8080 GRAMMERGRAMMER Annual Report 2011 Consolidated Financial StatementsConsolidated Financial Statements

Financial expenses include interest expenses for loans and over­
drafts totaling EUR 10,313 thousand (2010: 10,280), the amount of 
which is attributable to higher interest rates on the loan redeemed 
at the end of August and restructuring of financing in September, 
and of which EUR 7,580 thousand (2010: 9,009) were determined 
using the effective interest rate method. The financial result also 
contains the interest component of pension contributions and the 
interest component of lease payments in accordance with IAS 17.

To improve the transparency of financial result disclosures, the other 
financial result was added. Other financial result primarily relates to 
gains or losses from measurement of borrowing and loans in for­
eign currency terms and measurement of financial assets and li­
abilities at the reporting date.

8.3	�A mortization, depreciation and impairment; foreign 8.3	�A mortization, depreciation and impairment; foreign 
exchange differences and cost of inventories included exchange differences and cost of inventories included   
in the consolidated income statementin the consolidated income statement

Cost of sales
The cost of sales includes the manufacturing costs attributable to 
sales and the cost of merchandise. This item also includes costs for 
operating below capacity and any other production-related over­
heads and administrative expenses. The set up of reserves for war­
ranty purposes is included by this item as well. The cost of sales 
also includes non-capitalized research and development costs in 
the amount of EUR 37,743 thousand (2010: 32,445) as well as amor­
tization of development costs. Expenses relating to the develop­
ment and expansion of plant locations in preparation for forthcom­
ing series production (“industrialization costs“) are included in the 
cost of sales to the extent that these expenses cannot be deferred. 
Development in the Seating Systems segment is generally per­
formed on a “design to market“ basis, with the corresponding costs 
included here accordingly. The costs of inventories, which are rec­
ognized as an expense in cost of sales amount to 
EUR 909,532 thousand (2010: 772,691).

Selling expenses
Selling expenses involve all sales-related costs and primarily refer 
to costs incurred by the Sales, Advertising and Marketing 
departments as well as overheads allocable to these departments or 
activities. Freight, commissions and forwarding charges are also 
included in selling expenses.

Administrative expenses
Administrative expenses include all administrative expenses which 
cannot be assigned directly to other functions, including expenditure 
for general administration, management and central departments. 
Other administrative expenses also include income from exchange 
rate differences in the amount of EUR 14,845 thousand (2010: 
20,910) and mainly relates to foreign exchange gains between the 
origination and settlement of foreign currency receivables and 
liabilities as well as foreign exchange gains resulting from measure­
ment at the balance sheet date. Foreign exchange losses amounting 
to EUR 13,746 thousand (2010: 16,119) are also recognized under 
other administrative expenses.

Amortization of intangible assets and depreciation  
of property, plant and equipment
Amortization of intangible assets totaled EUR 3,750 thousand 
(2010: 3,219) and is recognized in the income statement under cost 
of sales, selling expenses and administrative expenses. The amount 
amortized includes EUR 1,360 thousand (2010: 1,299) for capitalized 
development costs included in cost of sales.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment amounted to 
EUR 23,785 thousand (2010: 23,075).

As in 2010, no impairment losses were incurred in fiscal year 2011.

Depreciation, amortization and other write-downs are recognized 
in the income statement under cost of sales, selling expenses and 
administrative expenses.

8.4	 Personnel expenses8.4	 Personnel expenses

EUR k

2011 2010

Wages and salaries 185,516 169,119

Social security contributions
 � of which for pensions 

EUR 2,076 thousand (2010: 3,265) 44,087 39,290

229,603 208,409
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9 	I ncome Taxes
The key components of income taxes for fiscal year 2011 and 2010 
are as follows:

EUR k

2011 2010

Consolidated Statement of Income

Current tax

  Current tax expenses – Germany – 2,913 –  1,128

  Current tax expenses – abroad – 9,481 –  9,622

Total current tax expensesTotal current tax expenses – 12,394 –  10,750

Deferred tax

  Deferred tax income/expenses (–) Germany 210 5,662

  Deferred tax income/expenses (–) abroad 25 857

Deferred tax income/expenses (–)Deferred tax income/expenses (–) 235 6,519

Tax income/expenses (–) reported in the consolidated Statement of IncomeTax income/expenses (–) reported in the consolidated Statement of Income – 12,159 –  4,231

 
Reconciliation between income tax expenses and the product 
of accounting profit multiplied by the applicable tax rate for the 
Group for fiscal year 2011 and 2010 is as follows:

EUR k

2011 2010

Earnings before income taxes (relating to continuing operations)Earnings before income taxes (relating to continuing operations) 34,257 20,552

Income taxes at the effective rate in Germany at 28.59 % (2010: 30) – 9,794 –  6,166

Effects from minimum taxation and withholding taxes – 3,029 – 1,650

Adjustments to current income tax incurred in the previous year – 1,044 –  584

Tax reduction due to losses carried forward/deferred taxes 1,661 5,263

Tax exempt government grants 325 217

Non-deductible expenses – 1,340 –  1,582

Other tax effects 468 –  235

Effects from different tax rates 594 506

Income taxes at the effective tax rate of 35.5 % (2010: 20.6)Income taxes at the effective tax rate of 35.5 % (2010: 20.6) – 12,159 –  4,231

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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9.1	D eferred income taxes9.1	D eferred income taxes
Deferred income tax comprised the following as of the relevant 
reporting dates:

EUR k

2011 
Consolidated 

Statement 
of Financial 

Position

2010 
Consolidated 

Statement 
of Financial 

Position Change

Deferred tax liabilities

Property, plant and equipment – 5,544 –  5,063 – 481

Intangible assets – 4,345 –  3,250 – 1,095

Goodwill – 4,110 –  3,864 – 246

Finance lease – 365 –  431 66

Other assets – 24 0 – 24

Receivables – 4,244 –  3,929 – 315

Others – 874 –  893 19

– 19,506 –  17,430 – 2,076

Deferred tax assets

Pension provisions 4,087 5,343 – 1,256

Other provisions 412 870 – 458

Tax losses carried forward 26,591 24,170 2,421

Financial assets 15 8 7

Others 7,472 7,028 444

  38,577 37,419 1,158

 
The statutory rate of corporate income tax in Germany was 15 % 
for the 2010 and 2011 assessment periods, plus a solidarity surtax of 
5.5 %. This, together with municipal trade tax on profits with dif­
ferent rates of assessments which is not deductable as a business 
expense segment in Germany, results in a net tax burden of  
approximately 28.59 % in 2011 (2010: 30).

For calculation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, the tax rates 
applicable at the point of utilization of the asset or fulfillment of 
the liability are used. Deferred tax assets and liabilities were assessed 
based on the overall tax rate of 28.59 % (2010: 30). The local in­
come tax rates for foreign entities varied between 10 % and 46 %.

Deferred tax assets are only recognized if the management deems 
their recoverability to be probable. Relevant value adjustments are 
based on all known positive and negative factors relating to future 
taxable income. The estimates made can change over time. Assess­
ment of the value of deferred tax assets is based on the probability 
of measurement differences being reversed and the recoverability 
of loss carry-forwards that led to their creation. Based on past 
experience and anticipated income levels, it is assumed that the 
corresponding benefits can be realized.

Loss carry-forwards of EUR 2,173 thousand (2010: 4,956) were 
assumed to be non-recoverable. These relate mainly to tax results 
of the Mexican and two US subsidiaries. The continued positive 
development of income and the outlook have otherwise resulted in 
an assumption of better utilization of loss carry-forwards. For the 
remaining tax loss carry-forwards, the Group assumes that it will 
have sufficient taxable income for recovery, as the losses are at­
tributable primarily to expenses from restructuring and as a result 
of the financial crisis. The tax loss carry-forwards may be carried 
forward, or in some cases carried back, for periods of 10 to 20 
years and to a part with no expiry.

Deferred taxes were not recorded on outside basis differences 
(i. e. differences between net assets, including goodwill at subsidiaries 
and the relevant tax value of interests in subsidiaries), as reversals 
of differences, e. g. through distributions, are taxable and because 
no significant tax effects are expected in the foreseeable future. 
As of December 31, 2011, outside basis differences totaled 
EUR 60,082 thousand.

In 2011, tax loss carry-forwards from previous years were realized 
in the amount of EUR 10,656 thousand (2010: 14,729).
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10 	E arnings per share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing consolidated net 
income/net loss by the nominal number of shares outstanding 
during the fiscal year, less own shares acquired through buy-back. 
On April 14, 2011, the Group implemented an accelerated book 
building procedure to place 1,049,515 new shares with qualified 
institutional investors in Germany and Europe. After conclusion of 
the capital increase, the share capital of the Company totals 
EUR 29,554,365.44 divided into 11,544,674 shares. All shares 
accord the same rights; shareholders have a right to payment of 
the defined dividend (with the exception of own shares held in 
treasury) and may exercise one vote for each share at the Annual 
General Meeting. The number of outstanding shares is calculated 
based on the weighted average.

In addition to basic earnings per share, diluted earnings per share 
must be disclosed if a company has potential shares (i. e., financial 
instruments and other contracts entitling the holders to subscribe 
for no-par value shares of the company, such as convertible bonds 
and options). Since GRAMMER Group has not issued any such 
financial instruments or entered into any such contracts, its basic 
and diluted earnings per share are identical. 

 

2011 2010

Weighted average number of no-par 
value shares used to calculate basic/
diluted earnings per share 10,918,459 10,165,109

Consolidated net profit/loss (–)  
(in EUR thousand) 22,040 16,302

Basic/diluted earnings per share in EUR 2.02 1.60

 
No transactions involving no-par value shares or potential no-par 
value  shares of the Group were effected in the period between 
the reporting date and preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements.

11 	D ividends paid and proposed
GRAMMER AG posted net profit of EUR 13.1 million on the balance 
sheet date December 31, 2011. The Executive Board will propose to 
the Supervisory Board and the Annual General Meeting that a 
dividend of EUR 0.40 be paid per share and that the remaining 
EUR 8.6 million be carried forward. This takes into account the fact 
that the Company holds 330,050 own shares, which accord no  
dividend rights. If the number of shares according dividend rights 
should change before the date of the Annual General Meeting, the 
Executive Board will present an accordingly adjusted dividend pro­
posal to the Annual General Meeting.

No dividend was paid in the reporting year and the year before. For 
further details, please refer to Note 19.

Dividends resolved and distributed during the fiscal year:

Dividends on no-par value shares

EUR k

2011 2010

Dividend for 2010: 0 EUR  
(2009: 0 EUR) 0 0

Dividends proposed for approval by the Annual General Meeting 
(not recognized as a liability as of December 31)

Dividends on no-par value shares

EUR k

2011 2010

Dividend for 2011: 0.40 EUR  
(2010: 0 EUR) 4,486 0

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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12 	 Property, Plant and Equipment

EUR k

Land and 
buildings

Manufacturing 
plant and 

equipment
Other plant and 

equipment

Advance 
payments and 

plant under 
construction

Finance  
leasing Total

Cost

As of January 1, 2011As of January 1, 2011 85,466 146,172 148,112 9,798 6,644 396,192

Additions 906 10,591 14,554 7,775 0 33,826

Disposals –32 –5,821 –2,889 0 –230 –8,972

Effects of exchange rate differences –1,053 –3,496 –1,626 –144 –256 –6,575

Effects from company aquisition 0 192 230 0 0 422

Reclassifications 4,893 5,300 1,621 –11,814 0 0

As of December 31, 2011As of December 31, 2011 90,180 152,938 160,002 5,615 6,158 414,893

Depreciation

As of January 1, 2011As of January 1, 2011 39,214 91,306 109,321 0 2,972 242,813

Additions 2,879 9,612 9,949 0 1,345 23,785

Disposals –5 –4,681 –2,473 0 –227 –7,386

Effects of exchange rate differences –446 –2,632 –869 0 –52 –3,999

Reclassifications 0 –3 3 0 0 0

As of December 31, 2011As of December 31, 2011 41,642 93,602 115,931 0 4,038 255,213

Carrying amount on January 1, 2011Carrying amount on January 1, 2011 46,252 54,866 38,791 9,798 3,672 153,379

Carrying amount on December 31, 2011Carrying amount on December 31, 2011 48,538 59,336 44,071 5,615 2,120 159,680

Cost

As of January 1, 2010As of January 1, 2010 85,404 134,932 149,249 2,949 6,755 379,289

Additions 601 12,537 11,389 10,024 0 34,551

Disposals – 1,873 – 7,255 – 16,775 –88 – 246 – 26,237

Effects of exchange rate differences 1,066 4,878 2,372 138 135 8,589

Reclassifications 268 1,080 1,877 – 3,225 0 0

As of December 31, 2010As of December 31, 2010 85,466 146,172 148,112 9,798 6,644 396,192

Depreciation

As of January 1, 2010As of January 1, 2010 37,465 86,776 111,413 0 1,756 237,410

Additions 2,984 9,118 9,593 0 1,380 23,075

Disposals – 1,790 – 7,043 – 13,005 0 – 212 – 22,050

Write-ups – 5 0 0 0 0 – 5

Effects of exchange rate differences 594 2,608 1,133 0 48 4,383

Reclassifications – 34 – 153 187 0 0 0

As of December 31, 2010As of December 31, 2010 39,214 91,306 109,321 0 2,972 242,813

Carrying amount on January 1, 2010Carrying amount on January 1, 2010 47,939 48,156 37,836 2,949 4,999 141,879

Carrying amount on December 31, 2010Carrying amount on December 31, 2010 46,252 54,866 38,791 9,798 3,672 153,379
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Depreciation is based generally on the following useful economic lives:

 

Buildings and fixtures 10 – 40 years

Land improvements 5 – 40 years

Manufacturing plant and equipment	 5 – 25 years

Other plant and equipment 2 –15 years

Leased assets (finance leasing) 3 –12 years

 
Land is not depreciated.

GRAMMER has entered into various finance and operating leases for 
buildings, manufacturing plant and equipment, other plant and 
equipment as well as motor vehicles with terms between three and 
twelve years. Most of the leases do not provide for renewal or pur­
chase options, with the exception of buildings and limited items of 
equipment. For the buildings, these relate largely to customary re­
newal options, which provide for a renegotiation for continued use 
after expiry.

The leased assets to be recognized by the Company under IAS 17 
are as follows: 

EUR k

Manufacturing 
plant and 

equipment
Other plant 

and equipment Motor vehicles Total

Cost

As of January 1, 2011As of January 1, 2011 5,803 141 700 6,644

Additions 0 0 0 0

Disposals 0 0 –230 –230

Effects of exchange rate differences –199 –14 –43 –256

As of December 31, 2011As of December 31, 2011 5,604 127 427 6,158

Depreciation

As of January 1, 2011As of January 1, 2011 2,347 87 538 2,972

Additions 1,249 14 82 1,345

Disposals 0 0 –227 –227

Effects of exchange rate differences –20 –8 –24 –52

As of December 31, 2011As of December 31, 2011 3,576 93 369 4,038

Carrying amount January 1, 2011Carrying amount January 1, 2011 3,456 54 162 3,672

Carrying amount December 31, 2011Carrying amount December 31, 2011 2,028 34 58 2,120

Cost

As of January 1, 2010As of January 1, 2010 5,736 169 850 6,755

Additions 0 0 0 0

Disposals 0 – 52 – 194 – 246

Effects of exchange rate differences 67 24 44 135

As of December 31, 2010As of December 31, 2010 5,803 141 700 6,644

Depreciation

As of January 1, 2010As of January 1, 2010 1,094 105 557 1,756

Additions 1,252 17 111 1,380

Disposals 0 – 51 – 161 – 212

Effects of exchange rate differences 1 16 31 48

As of December 31, 2010As of December 31, 2010 2,347 87 538 2,972

Carrying amount on January 1, 2010Carrying amount on January 1, 2010 4,642 64 293 4,999

Carrying amount on December 31, 2010Carrying amount on December 31, 2010 3,456 54 162 3,672

 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Under the finance leases, the following payments (including 
guaranteed residual values) are due in subsequent periods:

EUR k

up to 1 year 1 to 5 years
more than  

5 years

2011

Lease payments 805 242 0

Less interest cost on a discounted basis –62 –10 0

Present value (Statement of financial position)Present value (Statement of financial position) 743 232 0

2010

Lease payments 1,494 1,364 0

Less interest cost on a discounted basis – 108 – 108 0

Present value (Statement of financial position)Present value (Statement of financial position) 1,386 1,256 0

 
Under the operating leases, the following payments (including 
guaranteed residual values) are due in subsequent periods:

EUR k

up to 1 year 1 to 5 years
more than  

5 years

2011

Lease payments 11,098 20,577 7,060

2010

Lease payments 13,982 26,937 9,000
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13 	I ntangible Assets

EUR k

Concessions 
and industrial 

rights Goodwill

Capitalized 
development 

costs
Advance 

payments Total

Cost

As of January 1, 2011As of January 1, 2011 23,900 43,738 16,340 0 83,978

Additions 2,145 0 1,602 10 3,757

Disposals –125 0 0 0 –125

Effects of exchange rate differences –189 0 127 0 –62

Effects from company aquisition 3,902 3,268 0 0 7,170

Reclassifications 7 0 0 –7 0

As of December 31, 2011As of December 31, 2011 29,640 47,006 18,069 3 94,718

Amortization

As of January 1, 2011As of January 1, 2011 17,609 11,147 4,973 0 33,729

Additions 2,390 0 1,360 0 3,750

Disposals –116 0 0 0 –116

Effects of exchange rate differences –123 0 85 0 –38

Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0

As of December 31, 2011As of December 31, 2011 19,760 11,147 6,418 0 37,325

Carrying amount on January 1, 2011Carrying amount on January 1, 2011 6,291 32,591 11,367 0 50,249

Carrying amount on December 31, 2011Carrying amount on December 31, 2011 9,880 35,859 11,651 3 57,393

Cost

As of January 1, 2010As of January 1, 2010 20,858 43,738 15,625 0 80,221

Additions 3,017 0 554 8 3,579

Disposals – 275 0 0 0 – 275

Effects of exchange rate differences 292 0 161 0 453

Reclassifications 8 0 0 – 8 0

As of December 31, 2010As of December 31, 2010 23,900 43,738 16,340 0 83,978

Amortization

As of January 1, 2010As of January 1, 2010 15,604 11,147 3,634 0 30,385

Additions 1,920 0 1,299 0 3,219

Disposals – 98 0 0 0 – 98

Effects of exchange rate differences 183 0 40 0 223

Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0

As of December 31, 2010As of December 31, 2010 17,609 11,147 4,973 0 33,729

Carrying amount on January 1, 2010Carrying amount on January 1, 2010 5,254 32,591 11,991 0 49,836

Carrying amount on December 31, 2010Carrying amount on December 31, 2010 6,291 32,591 11,367 0 50,249

 
Concessions and industrial sights are comprised primarily of com­
puter software and for the first time in the reporting year customer 
data, which have been identified in the course of the acquisition of 
EiA Electronics N.V. and are amortized over seven years. All other 
intangible assets are amortized like in the past using the straight-
line method over an expected useful life of three to six years. 

Capitalized development costs relate to internally generated patents 
and are amortized on a straight-line basis over an expected useful 
life of 1 to 19 years. Total research and development costs amount­
ed to EUR 39,345 thousand in 2011 (2010: 32,999), of which 
EUR 1,602 thousand (2010: 554) satisfied the criteria for capital­
ization under IAS 38. 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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13.1	 Goodwill13.1	 Goodwill
The Seating Systems and Automotive product segments represent the 
primary economic basis of GRAMMER Group and reflect the internal 
management structure of the Group. The products segments Seating 
Systems and Automotive are the reportable operational segments 
and the cash-generating units (CGUs) of GRAMMER Group.

For purposes of impairment testing in accordance with IAS 36, 
goodwill acquired in the past and recognized in Group accounting 
is allocated to the CGUs.

GRAMMER AG tests goodwill for impairment at least once annually 
in accordance with the process outlined in section 2.3. The funda­
mental assumptions on which the determination of the recoverable 
amount attributable to the CGUs as of December 31, 2011 include 
the sustainable (net) growth rate of the relevant positive cash 
flows and the discount factor. These are presented in the following 
table: 

EUR k

Cash- 
generating unit

2011 
Goodwill

2010
Goodwill

2011  
Growth rate

2010
Growth rate

2011
Discount factor

2010
Discount factor

CGU I Seating Systems 6,467 3,199 1 % 1 % 9.5 % 11 %

CGU II Automotive 29,392 29,392 1 % 1 % 9.5 % 11 %

TotalTotal 35,859 32,591

Basis of calculation
The recoverable amount from the cash-generating units is 
determined on the basis of the present value of estimated future 
cash flows less costs to sell.

Estimated cash flows are forecast for a three-year period using 
financial planning authorized by Company management and take 
into account past performance, current operating profit, best 
management forecasts of future performance as well as market 
expectations and market assumptions.

Total cost of capital is determined using the capital asset pricing 
model assuming a risk-free interest rate of 2.75 % and a risk pre­
mium for general market risk of 5.5 %. For determination of opera­
tive and leverage risks, individual beta factors are derived from a 
group of comparable companies (peer group) and used for mea­
surement of the positive cash flows attributable to the CGU. Cost 
of capital is estimated taking into account the future financing 
conditions of GRAMMER AG and adjusted in line with market ex­
pectations. The cost of capital determined in this way reflects the 
time value of money and the specific risks of the CGU for which 
the estimated future cash flows were not adjusted.

Cash flows after this three-year period are extrapolated based on 
a growth rate of 1 %.

Based on the impairment tests carried out on December 31, 2011, 
no impairment losses were recognized since the recoverable 
amounts of the individual cash-generating units exceeded the 
respective carrying amounts.

Basic assumptions for calculating fair value
In calculating the fair value of the two segments Seating Systems 
and Automotive, the underlying assumptions are subject to estima­
tion uncertainty, with respect to:

•	 operating profit, 

•	 commodity price trends, 

•	 market share in the reporting period.

Operating profit
Operating profit is derived from multi-year planning based on 
projected figures for revenues and expenses. Current figures, 
modified by future changes, are used to forecast manufacturing 
costs. Sales planning is based on information from GRAMMER 
Group customers as well as market forecasts from various 
information services.
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Commodity price trends
Estimates are based on published price indices in countries from 
which commodities are purchased as well as data relating to specific 
commodities. Forecast data is used if it is publicly accessible 
– otherwise actual past trends in commodity prices are used as an 
indicator for future price trends.

Assumptions regarding market share
These assumptions are important inasmuch as the Company‘s 
management assesses how the position of the cash-generating 
unit might change in comparison with its competitors in the 
forecast period. The management expects that the Seating Systems 
segment will solidify its market share during the period covered by 
the budget and that the Automotive segment will improve its 
position internationally.

Sensitivity of the assumptions used
The Company‘s management is of the opinion that no change 
considered reasonably possible to one of the basic assumptions 
used in determining the fair value of the Seating Systems cash-
generating unit could lead to the carrying amount of the cash-
generating unit significantly exceeding its recoverable value.

With respect to the Automotive CGU, the recoverable amount 
exceeds the carrying amount by EUR 130,257 thousand. Potential 
changes to the basic assumptions could lead to the carrying 
amount exceeding the recoverable value. This could be caused by 
material changes to the following parameters:

•	 �Revenue – The Company management is projecting moderately 
rising revenues, which takes account of the current market 
conditions and upcoming business expansion through new 
projects and product lines in various markets. If revenue growth 
should fall to near 0 % p.a. in the planning period, the relevant 
profits would decline to such an extent that the fair value of this 
CGU further exceeds its carrying amount.

•	 �A reduction of the terminal value growth rate (net growth rate) to 
0 %, with all other parameters remaining unchanged, would lead 
to a roughly 9.5 % reduction in the recoverable value. A positive 
difference would persist between the recoverable amount and 
the carrying amount of CGU II.

•	 �An increase of the underlying discount factor of approx. 
4.7 % points would mathematically reduce the excess of 
recoverable amount to carrying amount to zero.

Market-based view
For the assessment as to whether indications exist that goodwill 
has been impaired, the Group also takes into account the relation­
ship between market capitalization and the carrying amount of the 
shareholders’ equity of GRAMMER Group.

As of December 31, 2011, GRAMMER AG’s market capitalization 
was lower than the carrying value of Group equity. This could 
theoretically indicate that goodwill and other assets are impaired. 
As in the previous year, the individual steps of impairment testing 
are explained.

EUR k

Market cap Equity Fixed assets Gearing

150,312 211,165 217,073 44 %

 
For the individual CGUs themselves, no market price is available. 
Allocation of total market capitalization to the CGUs Seating 
Systems and Automotive is thus only possible with the use of 
arbitrary allocation models.

The market capitalization of GRAMMER AG on December 31, 2011 
results from the closing price for the GRAMMER AG share on this 
date and is based largely on trading (supply and demand) of indi­
vidual shares or small blocks of shares in GRAMMER AG. Pricing 
does not take into account any control premiums for the determi­
nation of a market price for the totality of shares in GRAMMER AG. 
Moreover, the minority share in GRAMMER AG traded in the open 
markets theoretically corresponds to the arm‘s length transaction 
price between knowledgeable, willing parties only if there is no 
information gap and price determination is not subject to negative 
market conditions that skew the significance of fundamental data.

The management of GRAMMER AG is of the opinion that market 
capitalization at the reporting date is immaterial for the present 
valuation considerations. Accordingly, the management based the 
measurements under IAS 36 on the conventional valuation 
methods taking into account cash flow projections.

14 	I nventories

EUR k

2011 2010

Raw materials and supplies 65,376 56,784

Work in progress 11,080 6,840

Finished goods and services 21,124 17,415

Advance payments 6,413 7,849

Total inventoriesTotal inventories 103,993 88,888

 
All inventories are carried at cost. There were no significant 
write-downs to the lower fair value. 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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15 	 Trade Accounts Receivable

EUR k

2011 2010

Trade accounts receivableTrade accounts receivable 137,801 138,294

 
Generally, trade accounts receivable are non-interest-bearing and 
have a term of 30–120 days. The blanket assignment of collateral in 
the context of the syndicated loan agreement in 2010 is no longer 
in effect since dissolution redemption of the syndicated loan in 
September 2011. 

As of December 31, 2011 write-downs of EUR 3,203 thousand 
(2010: 2,695) were taken on trade accounts receivable. Details are 
given in the table below:

Trade accounts receivable

EUR k

Specific 
bad debt 

allowances

Portfolio- 
based 

allowances Total

As of January 1, 2011As of January 1, 2011 1,419 1,276 2,695

Additions 14 728 742

Utilization –46 –46 –92

Write-backs 0 0 0

Effects from exchange rate differences –142 0 –142

As of December 31, 2011As of December 31, 2011 1,245 1,958 3,203

As of January 1, 2010As of January 1, 2010 986 719 1,705

Additions 742 565 1,307

Utilization –267 –8 –275

Write-backs –76 0 –76

Effects from exchange rate differences 34 0 34

As of December 31, 2010As of December 31, 2010 1,419 1,276 2,695

 
The following table shows non-current and current financial 
receivables, which have neither been written down nor are overdue 
on the balance sheet date, as well as overdue receivables, which 
have not been written down:

EUR k

Total

Neither past 
due nor 

impaired

Non-impaired and past due in the following periods

up to  
30 days

31 – 60 
days

61 – 90  
days

91 – 180  
days

more than 
181 days

2011

Trade accounts receivable 137,801 115,058 16,919 2,625 896 1,256 1,047

Receivables from construction contracts 54,086 54,086 0 0 0 0 0

Other financial receivables 8,169 8,169 0 0 0 0 0

2010

Trade accounts receivable 138,294 113,273 19,541 2,822 574 1,550 534

Receivables from construction contracts 48,338 48,338 0 0 0 0 0

Other financial receivables 6,420 6,420 0 0 0 0 0
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The carrying amount of the receivables portfolio represents the 
maximum default risk. On the reporting date, there were no indica­
tions with regard to the receivables that had neither been written 
down nor were in default that the debtors would not be able to 
fulfill their obligations.

16 	 Other Financial Assets

EUR k

2011 2010

Non-current

Outstanding loans 3,887 3,663

Securities 0 16

Participating interests 541 576

Others 438 612

4,866 4,867

Current

Receivables from construction contracts 54,086 48,338

Other receivables 3,844 2,145

57,930 50,483

 
Outstanding loans primarily comprise one loan to a joint venture 
in a currency other than Group currency at a fair value on the 
origination date of EUR 5,271 thousand (2010: 5,121), which was 
measured at fair value on the reporting date to total EUR 3,797 thou­
sand (2010: 3,565). Repayment of this loan is currently neither 
planned nor likely, so that it constitutes part of the net investment 
in this joint venture. The associated exchange rate fluctuations were 
recognized directly in equity. Other financial assets in the current 
fiscal year include loans made to third parties and employees in 
the amount of EUR 438 thousand (2010: 612).

Receivables from construction contracts contain the asset-side 
balance relating to customers for contract work determined using 
the percentage-of-completion method.

Other receivables result primarily from trade receivables from 
affiliates with a term of 30–90 days.

17 	 Other Current Assets

EUR k

2011 2010

Other assets 13,440 12,756

Prepaid expenses 1,899 3,900

15,339 16,656

Other assets mainly include pass-through taxes such as value-added 
tax in the amount of EUR 8,226 thousand (2010: 7,580), investment 
grants totaling EUR 1,324 thousand (2010: 1,982), security deposits 
of EUR 457 thousand (2010: 908), receivables due from employees 
of EUR 454 thousand (2010: 279) and receivables due from creditors 
with debit balances of EUR 706 thousand (2010: 312).

No material restrictions on ownership or disposition existed for the 
other receivables and assets reported and no impairment losses 
were recognized.

18 	 Cash and Short-term Deposits

EUR k

2011 2010

Cash and short-term depositsCash and short-term deposits 46,749 17,170

 
The Group has bank balances at different banks in various 
currencies.

The bank balances have variable interest rates and can be withdrawn 
on demand. Short-term deposits are made for various terms of 
between one day and three months depending on the Group‘s 
current liquidity requirements. The deposits accrue interest at the 
current interest rates for demand deposits.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flow, 
holdings of cash and cash equivalents as of December 31 are as 
follows:

EUR k

2011 2010

Cash and short-term deposits 46,749 17,170

Bank overdrafts –1,844 – 779

44,905 16,391

 
19 	S ubscribed Capital and Reserves

Subscribed capitalSubscribed capital
As of December 31, 2010, the subscribed capital of GRAMMER 
Group amounted to EUR 26,868 thousand divided into 10,495,159 
no-par value shares. On April 14, 2011, GRAMMER AG implement­
ed an accelerated book building procedure to place 1,049,515 new 
shares with qualified institutional investors in Germany and Europe. 
After conclusion of the capital increase, the share capital of the 
Company totals EUR 29,554,365.44 divided into 11,544,674 shares. 
All shares accord the same rights; shareholders have a right to 
payment of the defined dividend (with the exception of own  
shares) and may exercise one vote for each share at the Annual 
General Meeting.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Capital reserveCapital reserve
The capital reserve amounted to EUR 74,444 thousand (2010: 
58,237) as of December 31, 2011. The capital reserve includes 
premiums from the capital increases in 1996, 2001 and 2011. 
Transaction costs for the 2011 capital increase totaled EUR 207 
thousand. Tax attributable to the transaction amounted to EUR 85 
thousand.

Retained earningsRetained earnings
The statutory reserve of GRAMMER AG totaled EUR 1,183 thousand 
on both December 31, 2011 and 2010, and is not available for the 
payment of dividends.

Retained earnings reflect income earned in the past by the compa­
nies included in consolidation, provided such income was not paid 
out as dividends. Revenue reserves increased from EUR 89,488 thou­
sand to EUR 111,528 thousand as a result of the profit for the year.

Accumulated other comprehensive incomeAccumulated other comprehensive income
Accumulated other comprehensive income mainly comprise differ­
ences arising from the currency translation of the financial state­
ments of foreign subsidiaries and the effects of the subsequent 
measurement of financial instruments in equity, as well as adjust­
ments from net investments in accordance with IAS 21 and the 
related deferred taxes.

DividendsDividends
The Company distributes dividends in accordance with sec­
tion 58 (2) AktG based on retained earnings in the financial state­
ments of GRAMMER AG, which are prepared according to the 
German Commercial Code. GRAMMER AG posted retained earnings 
of EUR 13.1 million on the balance sheet date December 31, 2011. 
This takes into account the loss of EUR 26.0 million carried for­
ward, the withdrawal of EUR 24.8 million from other retained 
earnings, net profit of EUR 14.3 million. No dividend was paid in 
the most recent fiscal year. The Executive Board will propose to 
the Supervisory Board and the Annual General Meeting that a 
dividend of EUR 0.40 be paid per share and that the remaining 
EUR 8.6 million be carried forward. This takes into account the fact 
that the Company holds 330,050 own shares, which do not accord 
dividend rights. If the number of shares according dividend rights 
should change before the date of the Annual General Meeting, the 
Executive Board will present an accordingly adjusted dividend 
proposal to the Annual General Meeting.

Own sharesOwn shares
As of December 31, 2011, GRAMMER AG holds a total of 330,050 
own shares, all of which were acquired in fiscal year 2006 for a 
total purchase price of EUR 7,441 thousand. These shares have a 
total value of EUR 844,928 and represent 2.8589 % of share 
capital.

Acquisition of own sharesAcquisition of own shares
On August 16, 2006, the Executive Board of GRAMMER AG decid-
ed to make use of the authorization of the Annual General  
Meeting of June 28, 2006 to acquire own shares in accordance 
with section 71 I (8) AktG. The Company may acquire up to 10 % of 
its share capital, i. e. up to 1,049,515 own shares. The share repur­
chase is for the purposes set out in the resolution adopted by the 
Annual General Meeting, which provides for both the acquisition  
of companies or participating interests, sale through the stock 
exchange or through an offer directed to all shareholders as well  
as the recall of shares. This authorization was valid from Au­
gust 16, 2006 until December 1, 2007. The repurchase of the 
shares under this Executive Board resolution complies with the safe 
harbor rules of sections 14 (2), 20 a (3) of the German Securities 
Trading Act (WpHG) in conjunction with Commission Regulation 
(EC) no. 2273/2003 dated December 22, 2003. The 330,050 shares 
were purchased on the stock exchange at the acquisition price 
specified in the resolution of the Annual General Meeting and the 
transaction was published on the Company‘s website. The Execu­
tive Board has not yet proposed how the shares will be utilized.

As of December 31, 2011, 11,544,674 no-par value shares (2010: 
10,165,109) were in circulation.

Non-controlling interestsNon-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests in equity relate primarily to share 
holdings in GRAMMER Koltuk Sistemleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A. S., 
Turkey and GRAMMER AD, Bulgaria.

AuthorizationsAuthorizations
The Annual General Meeting on May 28, 2009 approved a conditional 
increase in share capital to EUR 13,434 thousand. The conditional 
capital increase will be carried out only to the extent that holders of 
options or conversion rights exercise their rights, or bond holders 
who are under the obligation to convert their bonds or exercise their 
options comply with such obligation under bonds with warrants or 
convertible bonds issued or guaranteed by the Company until 
May 27, 2014 on the basis of the authorization given to the Executive 
Board, and provided no other forms of performance are imple­
mented with respect to the condition (conditional capital 2009).

Moreover, the Annual General Meeting on May 26, 2011 also 
granted approval until May 25, 2016 for new authorized capital in 
the amount of EUR 14,777 thousand (authorized capital 2011). The 
Executive Board is authorized, with the consent of the Supervisory 
Board, to increase the share capital of the Company once or more 
than once by up to a total of EUR 14,777 thousand through the 
issue of shares against cash contribution and/or contribution in. A 
general shareholder subscription right applies to the new shares. 
The shares may also be underwritten by one or more banks sub­
ject to an obligation to offer them for subscription to sharehold­
ers. The Executive Board, however, shall have the right, upon 
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approval of the Supervisory Board, to exclude shareholders’ statu­
tory subscription rights: 

a) if necessary to eliminate fractional amounts;

b) if the shares are issued against contribution in kind for the 
purpose of acquiring companies, parts of companies, or for the 
purpose of acquiring receivables payable by the Company;

c) if a capital increase made against a cash contribution does not 
exceed 10 % of share capital and the issue price of the new shares 
is not substantially lower than the exchange price (section 186 (3) 
sentence 4 AktG); if use is made of the authorization in conjunc­
tion with an exclusion of shareholder rights in accordance with 
section 186 (3) sentence 4 AktG, the exclusion of subscription 
rights under other authorizations is to be taken into account 
pursuant to section 186 (3) sentence 4 AktG.

With the resolution on May 18, 2011, the Executive Board of 
GRAMMER AG declared its intent:

(1) to make no use of the authorization under the new section 5 (3) 
of the Articles of Association to increase the share capital of the 
Company against cash and/or contributions in kind with statutory 
subscription rights for shareholders during the term of the authori­
zation if this would lead to issuance of an amount of shares in 
GRAMMER AG in excess of 30 % of existing share capital;

(2) to limit use of the authorization to exclude shareholders’ statu­
tory subscription rights in the event that shares are issued against 
contributions in kind for the purpose of acquiring companies, parts 
of companies, or for the purpose of acquiring receivables payable 
by the Company during the term of the authorization to no more 
than 20 % of the Company’s existing share capital.

(3) to ensure that the sum of any capital increases from authorized 
capital excluding shareholder subscription rights during the term 
of the authorization does not exceed 20 % of existing share capital.

20 	� Pensions and other post-employment Benefits
Pension provisions are recognized for retirement, disability and de­
pendent survivor benefit plans. Benefits paid by the Group vary in 
accordance with the legal, tax and economic factors in the relevant 
countries and generally depend on the length of employment and 
the remuneration paid to the employee.

The Group’s occupational pension scheme is based on defined 
benefit obligations.

These estimates are made in accordance with the projected unit 
credit method pursuant to IAS 19 (Employee Benefits). Future 
benefit obligations are measured on the basis of benefit entitle­
ments earned on a pro-rated basis as of the reporting date. When 
measuring the obligations, assumptions regarding the relevant 
factors affecting the amount of the benefit are made. It is necessary 
to make actuarial calculations under all benefit systems.

The calculation of the defined benefit obligation (DBO) for pension 
commitments is based primarily on the following actuarial 
assumptions:

Measurement parameters DBO

%

2011 2010

Interest rate 5.00 5.25

Salary trend 2.20 2.20

Income trend for individual commitments 2.20 2.20

Inflation rate 1.90 1.90

Measurement parameters other benefits

%

2011 2010

Interest rate 4.23 – 7.00 4.66 – 5.25

Salary trend 2.20 – 5.31 2.20 – 4.66

Inflation rate 1.90 –10.44 1.90 –10.00

 
Mortality and disability are calculated on the basis of the 2005 G 
Heubeck tables or comparable foreign mortality tables. The 
probability of fluctuation was computed specifically for the Group.

The pension commitments recognized in the balance sheet reflect 
the net liability. No plan assets exist to cover future pension 
obligations.

In fiscal year 2011, annuities were paid on pensions in the amount 
of EUR 1,617 thousand (2010: 1,433). Other post-employment 
benefits paid totaled EUR 87 thousand (2010: 54).

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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The following amounts were recognized in the income statement:

EUR k

2011
Pension 

plan
Miscellaneous 

benefits

Benefits earned in 2011 1,437 666

Interest expenses in 2011 3,237 101

Actuarial gains/losses recognized in 2011 26 0

Total 2011Total 2011 4,700 767

EUR k

2010
Pension 

plan
Miscellaneous 

benefits

Benefits earned in 2010 1,469 661

Interest expenses in 2010 3,032 92

Actuarial gains/losses recognized 25 0

Total 2010Total 2010 4,526 753

 
The above amounts are generally contained under personnel ex­
pense in the different functional divisions; interest expense for the 
respective obligation is recognized in the financial result.

Unfunded portions of pensions and other obligation in accordance 
with IAS 19 are as follows:

EUR k

Pension 
plan

Miscellaneous 
benefits

DBO as of December 31, 2011 67,484 2,399

Unamortised actuarial losses (–) –5,389 0

Provisions as of December 31, 2011Provisions as of December 31, 2011 62,095 2,399

EUR k

Pension 
plan

Miscellaneous 
benefits

DBO as of December 31, 2010 62,429 2,066

Unamortised actuarial losses (–) –3,417 0

Provisions as of December 31, 2010Provisions as of December 31, 2010 59,012 2,066

 
Accordingly, the change in DBO appears as follows:

EUR k

Pension 
plan

Miscellaneous 
benefits

As of January 1, 2011As of January 1, 2011 62,429 2,066

+ Benefits earned in 2011 1,437 666

+ Interest expenses in 2011 3,237 101

– Actual payments in 2011 –1,618 –87

– Disposals from liabilities 2011 –3 –39

Exchange rate differences 4 –308

Actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) 2011 1,998 0

As of December 31, 2011As of December 31, 2011 67,484 2,399

As of January 1, 2010As of January 1, 2010 58,399 1,311

+ Benefits earned in 2010 1,469 661

+ Interest expenses in 2010 3,032 92

– Actual payments in 2010 –1,433 –54

– Disposals from liabilities 2010 –19 0

Exchange rate differences 2 56

Actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) 2010 979 0

As of December 31, 2010As of December 31, 2010 62,429 2,066

 

EUR k

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Expected DBO as of December 31 of the relevant year 65,512 61,450 58,940 56,362 55,919

Current value of the DBO as of December 31 of the relevant year 67,484 62,429 58,399 55,714 53,124

Overfunding/UnderfundingOverfunding/Underfunding 1,972 979 –541 –648 –2,795

  of which from:

�necessary and implemented structural adjustments –736 219 –878 62 1,033

changes in assumptions 2,708 760 337 –710 –3,828

Changes in the assumptions used and planned changes are 
provided in the next table:
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21 	 Financial Liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities

EUR k

Current Non-current Total

2011

Overdrafts 1,844 0 1,844

Loans

  EUR loan 473 217 690

  CNY loan 4,902 0 4,902

Debenture bond 1,871 129,559 131,430

Total Financial LiabilitiesTotal Financial Liabilities 9,090 129,776 138,866

EUR k

Current Non-current Total

2010

Overdrafts 779 0 779

Loans

  EUR loan 30,103 28,000 58,103

  CNY loan 2,267 0 2,267

Debenture bond 0 69,852 69,852

Total Financial LiabilitiesTotal Financial Liabilities 33,149 97,852 131,001

As a result of the expansion of financing, the capital increase and 
financial restructuring, GRAMMER AG has improved its available 
liquidity. The previous credit facility via a syndicated loan totaling 
EUR 110.0 million, maturing in August 2013, was fully redeemed in 
September 2011 and replaced by a EUR 70.0 million global credit 
facility, as well as a new debenture bond in the amount of 
EUR 60.0 million.

The new bilateral global facility between GRAMMER companies in 
Germany and seven commercial banks matures on July 1, 2014. 
Lines of credit may be drawn as overdraft facilities or fixed-rate 
loans with interest periods of up to six months. Interest is charged 
on the basis of a money market rate plus a fixed credit margin.

GRAMMER Group companies bear joint and several liability for the 
bilateral lines of credit. Debts secured by mortgages and collateral 
pledged or assigned in the previous year from fixed and current 
assets were eliminated through the debt restructuring.

OverdraftsOverdrafts
Overdrafts are primarily amounts drawn by subsidiaries outside of 
Germany from local banks.

Current loansCurrent loans
The long-term KfW loan in the amount of EUR 28.0 million was 
redeemed early in September 2011 as part of the syndicated loan 
dissolution. 

The EUR-denominated loans include loans of a subsidiary maturing in 
August 2013. Current loans denominated in Chinese yuan feature 
tranches maturing in December 2012, which will also be prolonged 
on a revolving basis taking into account the amount of funding 
deemed necessary for one year.

Debenture bondDebenture bond
A debenture bond totaling EUR 70.0 million exists which features  
a fixed interest rate of 4.8 % and matures in the amount of  
EUR 60.5 million at the end of August 2013. A EUR 9.5 million 
tranche entered early prolongation in September 2011 for a further 
three to five years. The interest rate in the prolongation phase  
is variable.

Moreover, GRAMMER AG issued a new debenture bond in Sep­
tember 2011 with a total nominal value of EUR 60.0 million. The 
debenture bonds feature both fixed and variable rates of interest 
on tranches of three, five and seven years.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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22 	 Provisions

EUR k

Market related 
provisions

Obligations 
relating to 
personnel

Other  
provisions Total

As of January 1, 2011As of January 1, 2011 7,277 616 399 8,292

Additions 4,655 265 290 5,210

Utilization –3,071 –338 –141 –3,550

Releases –648 4 –22 –666

Effects from exchange rate differences –214 0 –13 –227

As of December 31, 2011As of December 31, 2011 7,999 547 513 9,059

Current provisions 2011 7,999 547 513 9,059

Non-current provisions 2011 0 0 0 0

As of January 1, 2010As of January 1, 2010 6,147 1,353 360 7,860

Additions 5,789 328 77 6,194

Utilization –4,001 –955 –40 –4,996

Releases –833 –110 0 –943

Effects from exchange rate differences 175 0 2 177

As of December 31, 2010As of December 31, 2010 7,277 616 399 8,292

Current provisions 2010 7,277 616 399 8,292

Non-current provisions 2010 0 0 0 0

Market-related provisions include all risks from the sale of parts 
and products, including development. For the most part, this com­
prises warranty claims calculated on the basis of previous claims 
and estimated future claims. These encompass Group liability for 
the proper functioning of the products sold and obligations to 
compensate buyers for damages and costs caused by use of the 
products. This item also includes provisions for rebates, bonuses 
etc. that must be granted based on legal or constructive obliga­
tions and are payable after the reporting date but caused by sales 
prior to the reporting date.

Personnel provisions contain obligations related to personnel and 
social benefits such as anniversary bonuses. In fiscal year 2011, 
the allocated plan assets and obligations from early retirement 
entitlements were netted in the amount of EUR 2,643 thousand 
in accordance with IAS 19.

Other provisions refer a number of identifiable specific risks and 
contingent liabilities, for instance provisions for litigation costs, 
which are recognized at their probable amounts.

23 	 Trade Accounts Payable

EUR k

2011 2010

Non-current trade accounts payable 3,260 4,890

Current trade accounts payable 110,619 92,115

Trade accounts payableTrade accounts payable 113,879 97,005

 
Trade accounts payable and other liabilities refer to outstanding 
payment obligations for goods and services and well as running 
costs. Outstanding invoices and liabilities for deliveries received are 
recognized in accordance with their characteristics under trade 
accounts payable. Generally, trade accounts payable are non-inter­
est-bearing and have a term of up to 90 days. Non-current trade 
accounts payable contain liabilities under closed-end leasing 
agreements with maturities of up to five years. Customary retention 
of title by suppliers applies in relation to trade payables.
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24 	 Other Financial Liabilities

EUR k

2011 2010

Current

Liabilities from derivatives 1,592 1,490

Liabilities from leases 743 1,386

Liabilities to associated companies 2,130 583

Other financial liabilities (current)Other financial liabilities (current) 4,465 3,459

Non-current

Liabilities from leases 232 1,256

Liabilities to associated companies 6,300 4,913

Other financial liabilities (non-current)Other financial liabilities (non-current) 6,532 6,169

25 	 Other Liabilities

EUR k

2011 2010

Current

Social security obligations 2,106 2,251

Tax liabilities 3,642 3,620

Prepayments received 3,694 6,956

Other liabilities 35,509 36,635

Deferred income 4,674 5,040

Other current liabilitiesOther current liabilities 49,625 54,502

Non-current

Tax liabilities 1,590 1,520

Miscellaneous other liabilities 712 840

Other liabilities (non-current)Other liabilities (non-current) 2,302 2,360

Total other liabilitiesTotal other liabilities 51,927 56,862

 
Social security obligations are largely obligations to social security 
agencies.

Other liabilities mainly comprise liabilities to employees from out­
standing annual leave, overtime, flex-time or similar benefits, as 
well as obligations under redundancy plans. The item also includes 
liabilities relating to value-added tax and for short-term accrued 
expenses.

Tax liabilities relating to other taxes and charges principally comprise 
outstanding wage taxes and similar charges for fiscal year 2011.

 

26 	 Cash Flow Statement
The cash flow statement presents the Group‘s cash flow situation 
broken down into cash inflows and outflows from operating ac­
tivities, investing activities and financing activities, irrespective of 
the balance sheet classification of the respective items. Cash flow 
from operating activities is derived indirectly from profit/loss be­
fore income taxes, which is adjusted to include non-cash expens­
es (primarily depreciation and amortization) and income. Cash flow 
from operating activities is calculated under consideration of the 
change in working capital. Investing activities comprise payments 
for property, plant and equipment and investments in property, 
plant and equipment and financial assets, but not additions to 
capitalized development costs. Financing activities include cash 
outflows for dividend payments and repayments of loans, as well 
as changes in other financial liabilities. At GRAMMER Group, cash 
and cash equivalents consists of cash and short-term money 
market funds, less current account liabilities to banks.

27 	 Legal Disputes
As protection against legal risks, we work with a system of inten­
sive contract review, contract management and systematic archiving. 
Sufficient insurance coverage has been taken out for normal risks 
and risks to the Company‘s ability to continue as a going concern. 
There were no significant legal disputes in the fiscal year.

28 	 Contingent Liabilities

EUR k

2011 2010

GuaranteesGuarantees 32 32

 
Guarantees have been issued primarily for rented business 
premises and performance bonds.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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29 	 Related Party Disclosures
The consolidated financial statements include the financial state­
ments of GRAMMER AG as parent and the following subsidiaries:

 

Name of subsidiary Registered office

Equity interest in %

2011 2010

	1. Fully consolidated subsidiaries

	1.	 GRAMMER do Brasil Ltda. Atibaia, Brazil 99.99 99.99

	2. 	GRAMMER Seating Systems Ltd. Bloxwich, United Kingdom 100.00 100.00

	3. 	GRAMMER Koltuk Sistemleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.S. Bursa, Turkey 99.40 99.40

	4.	 GRAMMER Inc. Hudson (WI), USA 100.00 100.00

	5. 	GRAMMER Wackersdorf GmbH Wackersdorf, Germany 100.00 100.00

	6. 	GRAMMER CZ s.r.o. Tachov, Czech Republic 100.00 100.00

	 7. 	GRAMMER Japan Ltd. Tokyo, Japan 100.00 100.00

	8. 	GRAMMER AD Trudovetz, Bulgaria 90.21 90.21

	9. 	GRAMMER Automotive GmbH Amberg, Germany 1 1

	10. 	GRAMMER System GmbH Amberg, Germany 100.00 100.00

	11. 	GRAMMER Automotive Metall GmbH Amberg, Germany 100.00 100.00

	12. 	GRAMMER Automotive Slovenija d.o.o. Slovenji Gradec, Slovenia 100.00 100.00

	13. 	GRAMMER Automotive Española S.A. Olérdola, Spain 100.00 100.00

	14. 	GRAMMER Industries Inc. Greenville (SC), USA 100.00 100.00

	15. 	GRAMMER Automotive Puebla S.A. de C.V. Puebla, Mexico 100.00 100.00

	16. 	GRAMMER Automotive Polska sp. z.o.o. Bielsko-Biala, Poland 100.00 100.00

	17. 	GRAMMER Seating (Xiamen) Ltd. Xiamen, China 100.00 100.00

	18. 	GRAMMER Interior (Tianjin) Co. Ltd. Tianjin, China 100.00 100.00

	19. 	GRAMMER Interior (Changchun) Co. Ltd. Changchun, China 100.00 100.00

	20. GRAMMER Interior (Shanghai) Co. Ltd. Shanghai, China 100.00 100.00

	21. 	GRAMMER System d.o.o. Aleksinac, Serbia 100.00 100.00

	22. GRAMMER Railway Interior GmbH Amberg, Germany 100.00 100.00

	23. 	GRAMMER Technical Components GmbH Kümmersbruck, Germany 100.00 100.00

	24. GRAMMER EiA Electronics N.V. Aartselaar, Belgium 100.002

2. Proportionately consolidated companies

	1. 	GRA-MAG Truck Interior Systems LLC London (OH), USA 50.00 50.00

1  Merged with GRAMMER AG effective May 1, 2010.
2  First time consolidation on July 26, 2011.

GRAMMER System GmbH, GRAMMER Wackersdorf GmbH and 
GRAMMER Automotive Metall GmbH, GRAMMER Railway Interior 
GmbH and Grammer Technical Components GmbH make use of 
the exemption under section 264 (3) of the German Commercial 
Code (HGB).

Conditions for related party transactionsConditions for related party transactions
Sales to and purchases by related parties are conducted at arm‘s 
length. Outstanding amounts at the end of the fiscal year are un­
secured, non-interest bearing and are settled by cash payment. No 

guarantees exist for receivables or liabilities due from related par­
ties. The Group did not recognize any impairment losses for ac­
counts receivable from related parties as of December 31, 2011 
(2010: 0). An impairment test is performed annually by reviewing 
the financial position of the related party and the market in which 
the related party operates.
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The following table specifies the total amounts of transactions 
between related parties for the reporting year:

EUR k

Related parties
Sales to related 

parties
Purchases from 
related parties

Receivables from 
related parties

Liabilities to 
related parties

Jointly-controlled entities in which the parent is a venturer: 
GRA-MAG Truck Interior Systems LLC

2011 1,245 0 12,142 42

2010 720 0 9,821 0

GRA-MAG Truck Interior Systems LLC LimitedGRA-MAG Truck Interior Systems LLC Limited
GRAMMER AG holds an interest of 50 % in GRA-MAG Truck 
Interior Systems LLC (GRA-MAG) (2010: 50 %). GRA-MAG had 
60 employees as of December 31, 2011 (2010: 48).

Disclosures relating to the Executive Board/Supervisory Board Disclosures relating to the Executive Board/Supervisory Board 
No companies in GRAMMER Group entered into any significant 
transactions with members of the Executive Board or the 

Supervisory Board of GRAMMER AG or with any companies on 
whose management or supervisory boards such persons are repre­
sented. This also applies to family members of such persons.

30 	A dditional Information on Financial Instruments
The following table shows the market values and carrying amounts 
of financial assets and liabilities:

EUR k

Valuation 
category 

acc. to
IAS 39

Carrying 
amount 

12/31/11 Balance sheet measures acc. to IAS 39

Balance 
sheet  

measures 
acc. to  
IAS 17

Fair Value
12/31/11

Amortized 
costs

Historical
costs

Fair Value
recognized

in equity

Fair Value
recognized 

in profit  
or loss

Assets

Cash and short-term deposits LaR 46,749 46,749 46,749

Trade accounts receivable LaR 137,801 137,801 137,801

Other financial assets

Loans and receivables LaR 8,169 8,169 8,169

Receivables from construction contracts LaR 54,086 54,086 54,086

Financial assets available-for-sale AfS 541 541 541

Financial assets held-for-trading FAHfT 0 0

Liabilities

Trade accounts payable FLAC 113,879 113,879 113,979

Current and non-current liabilities to banks FLAC 138,866 138,866 145,583

Other financial liabilities

Other non-interest-bearing liabilities FLAC 8,431 8,431 8,431

Liabilities from finance leases n.a. 975 975 975

Derivatives without hedge relationship FLHfT 646 646 646

Derivatives with hedge relationship n.a. 946 946 946

Of which aggregated by valuation  
category in acc. with IAS 39

Loans and receivables LaR 246,805 246,805 246,805

Financial assets available-for-sale AfS 541 541 541

Financial assets held-for-trading FAHfT 0 0

Financial liabilities measured at  
amortized costs FLAC 261,176 261,176 267,993

Financial liabilities held-for-trading FLHfT 646 646 646

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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EUR k

Valuation 
category 

acc. to
IAS 39

Carrying 
amount 

12/31/10 Balance sheet measures acc. to IAS 39

Balance 
sheet  

measures 
acc. to  
IAS 17

Fair Value
12/31/10

Amortized 
costs

Historical
costs

Fair Value
recognized

in equity

Fair Value
recognized 

in profit  
or loss

Assets

Cash and short-term deposits LaR 17,170 17,170 17,170

Trade accounts receivable LaR 138,294 138,294 138,294

Other financial assets

Loans and receivables LaR 6,420 6,420 6,420

Receivables from construction contracts LaR 48,338 48,338 48,338

Financial assets available-for-sale AfS 592 592 592

Financial assets held-for-trading FAHfT 0 0

Liabilities

Trade accounts payable FLAC 97,005 97,005 97,005

Current and non-current liabilities to banks FLAC 131,001 131,001 134,619

Other financial liabilities

Other non-interest-bearing liabilities FLAC 5,496 5,496 5,496

Liabilities from finance leases n.a. 2,642 2,642 2,642

Derivatives without hedge relationship FLHfT 1,490 1,490 1,490

Derivatives with hedge relationship n.a. 0 0

Of which aggregated by valuation  
category in acc. with IAS 39

Loans and receivables LaR 210,222 210,222 210,222

Financial assets available-for-sale AfS 592 592 592

Financial assets held-for-trading FAHfT 0 0

Financial liabilities measured at  
amortized costs FLAC 233,502 233,502 237,120

Financial liabilities held-for-trading FLHfT 1,490 1,490 1,490

 
Because of the short term-nature of cash and short-term deposits, 
trade accounts receivable and other current receivables, it is assumed 
that the carrying amounts equate to their fair values.

The fair value of other non-current receivables with remaining terms 
of over one year equate to the present value of the payments asso­
ciated with the assets taking account of the prevailing interest rate 
parameters.

Trade accounts payable and other liabilities usually have short 
residual maturities. Longer-term trade accounts payable were 
determined on the basis of the respective yield curves and the risk 
premium applicable for GRAMMER. 

The fair values of liabilities to banks, debenture bond and other 
non-current financial liabilities are determined as the present values 
of the payments associated with the liabilities calculated on the 
basis of the respective yield curves and the risk premium applicable 
for GRAMMER.
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The following table shows our financial instruments at fair value in 
the three levels of the fair value hierarchy:

EUR k

2011
Carrying 

amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial liabilities recognized at fair value

Derivates

  �with hedge 
relationship 946 946

  �without hedge 
relationship 646 646

EUR k

2010
Carrying 

amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial liabilities recognized at fair value

Derivates

  �with hedge 
relationship 0 0

  �without hedge 
relationship 1,490 1,490

 
The levels of the fair value hierarchy reflect the level of judgment 
involved in estimating fair values. The hierarchy is broken down 
into three levels as follows:

Level 1: Quoted (non-adjusted) prices in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Valuation of assets or liabilities is based on direct or indirect 
market observables, which are not quoted prices in accordance 
with level 1.

Level 3: Valuation techniques are based upon inputs that are not 
observable in the market.

The following table shows the gains and losses on financial 
instruments:

EUR k

Net income  
 2011

Net income  
 2010

Loans and receivables 2,765 – 323

Financial assets and liabilities  
held-for-trading 127 – 1,141

Financial liabilities measured at  
amortized costs –3,639 4,498

–747 3,034

 
Net income from loans and receivables include currency gains or 
losses, changes to value adjustments recognized as income, gains 
or losses from derecognition of receivables and reversals of previ­
ously impaired receivables.

Net income from financial instruments held for trading includes 
changes in the market value of unhedged derivatives, including 
interest income and expenses.

The net income from financial liabilities recognized at fair value 
through profit or loss include primarily currency gains and losses.

31 	 Financial Derivatives and Risk Management
The primary financial liabilities used in the Group encompass 
debenture bonds, bank loans, overdrafts and finance leases as well 
as trade accounts payable. The main purpose of these financial 
liabilities is to finance operating activities. The Group has various 
financial assets such as trade accounts receivable and cash, which 
result directly from operating activities.

The Group also has derivative financial instruments, used by the 
Group for risk management, primarily to hedge interest rate and 
currency risks resulting from Group‘s operating activity and its 
sources of finance. In some cases, the Group also hedges against 
price risks using forward commodity transactions. These deriva­
tives are used for the hedging of existing transactions, and serve 
to reduce currency, interest rate and commodity price risks.

Financial risksFinancial risks
The Group is subject to market, credit and liquidity risks, as well as 
the currency and interest rate risks described above. Consequently, 
the Executive Board has implemented a risk management system, 
which is monitored by the Supervisory Board. The risk management 
system is integrated in the area of responsibility of the Chief Finan­
cial Officer, while the Executive Board bears ultimate responsibility 
at the highest level. The rules are designed to promote responsible 
treatment of risks and prudent actions among all Group employees. 
Management of risk is the responsibility of the Company manage­
ment. Together with experts for financial risk, the management of 
the Company prepares a suitable framework for management of 
financial risks. This framework ensures that the activities of the 
Company that entail financial risk are carried out with the relevant 
guidelines and procedures, and that financial risks are identified, 
assessed and managed in line with these guidelines, taking into 
account the Company‘s receptivity to risk.

All derivative transactions entered into for purposes of risk man­
agement are managed by expert teams that have the necessary 
knowledge and experience, and are subject to adequate supervi­
sion. The guidelines for management of the risks set out below 
have been audited and approved by the Company management. In 
its internal guidelines the Group ruled out trading in derivatives in 
2011 and 2010, and does not intend to change this in the future.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Credit riskCredit risk
Credit risk is defined as the risk of the Group suffering a loss (de­
fault risk) because a counterparty fails to fulfill its obligations. The 
Group guidelines set forth that transactions will only be entered into 
with creditworthy third parties to reduce the risks of non-perfor­
mance. As a result of the financial crisis, management of default risk 
has grown in importance. The creditworthiness of major customers, 
especially in the Automotive sector, is subject to particular monitor­
ing due to risks from trade receivables. If no rating information is 
available, the Group uses other available financial information and 
its own records to assess major customers. Customers, who wish to 
conclude credit-based transactions for the first time, are also regular­
ly subjected to a creditworthiness check. Receivables are monitored 
on an ongoing basis to ensure that the Group is not exposed to any 
material default risk. In the case of larger transactions, which are not 
conducted in the country of the respective operating unit, prior ap­
proval is to be obtained from Group Finance. There are no significant 
concentrations of default risks in the Group, because major transac­
tions are balanced as a result of short-term maturity structure and 
broad customer groups.

Market riskMarket risk
Market risk refers to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows 
of financial intruments vary due to fluctuations in market prices. 
Market risk encompasses the following three types of risk: exchange 
rate risk, interest rate risk and other price risks, such as share price 
risk. Instruments subject to market risk include interest-bearing loans, 
deposits, available-for-sale financial assets and derivatives. The sen­
sitivity analyses in the sections below relate to the situations as of 
December 31, 2011 and 2010. The sensitivity analyses were prepared 
on the basis of the hedging transactions existing on December 31, 
2011, subject to the assumption of constant figures for net gearing, 
the ratio of fixed to variable interest rates on liabilities and derivatives 
and the proportion of financial instruments denominated in foreign 
currencies. The analyses do not account for any effects of changes in 
market variables on the carrying amounts of pension obligations and 
other post-employment benefits, provisions and non-financial assets 
and liabilities of foreign operations.

Fluctuations in the market price can result in significant cash flow 
and earnings risks for the Company. Changes in the exchange rates 
and interest rates applicable to foreign currencies impact ongoing 
operations as well as financing and investment activities. All depic­
tions of the potential financial effects are approximations and are 
based on the assumptions of the relevant sensitivity analyses and 
method. The actual effects on the income of the Group may deviate 
considerably as a result of actual market developments.

Commodity price riskCommodity price risk
Procurement prices, especially for commodities such as steel and oil 
are subject to significant fluctuations depending on the market situ­
ation. These cannot always be passed on to customers, which results 
in commodity price risks. To hedge against these risks, the Company 
endeavors to conclude long-term supply contracts and consolidate 
volumes as a way to limit volatility. Commodity futures contracts, to 
be recognized as derivatives under IAS 39, can also be entered into 
to hedge price risks related to purchases of commodities. The Group 
carefully monitors the development of markets as a basis for decision 
making about the implementation of hedging.

There were no commodity forwards for hedging of price risks in raw 
materials procurement reported at the balance sheet date in 2011 or 
2010, an no such contracts were concluded in these periods.

Currency riskCurrency risk
As a consequence of its international focus and business activities, 
the Group is exposed to currency risks. Fluctuations in exchange 
rates on markets may lead to unforeseeable and unfavorable volatil­
ity in net income and cash flow. By transacting business in curren­
cies other than the functional currencies of the respective Group 
companies, risks may arise from future payment flows. The risk is 
reduced by the requirement to invoice business transactions gener­
ally in the respective functional currency. In addition, where it is 
possible and cost-effective, commodities and services are purchased 
in the corresponding foreign currency and production takes place in 
local markets. The operating units are not permitted to raise or invest 
financial resources in foreign currencies for speculative purposes. 
Subject to the provisions of Group guidelines, currency forwards may 
be concluded to hedge specific foreign currency inflows and outflows 
amounting to 70 % – 80 % of the exposure.

Cash flow hedges
Hedging instruments recognized directly in equity include currency 
forwards measured at fair value for hedging of cash flows from 
transactions in the US, Czech Republic, Poland and Turkey. Conditions 
for currency forwards designated as hedges are in line with highly 
probable forecast transactions. Open currency forward positions the 
Hedging transactions that satisfy the requirements for cash flow 
hedging are used to hedge against risks of future EUR-denominated 
revenues of a Group company in the functional currency CZK. These 
forward transactions with a negative market value of EUR –15 thou­
sand mature during the course of 2012. In the reporting period, there 
were also currency hedges in place in PLN and TRY. Consequently, in 
the context of currency hedging, EUR –647 thousand was included 
directly in equity. Of this amount, EUR –632 thousand was taken to 
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•	 �Derivatives for the purpose of currency hedging that are 
designated as hedging instruments in the context of cash flow 
hedges have an effect on equity and are taken account of in 
the sensitivity analysis.

•	 �Currency derivatives that are not designated as hedging 
instruments in the context of cash flow hedges have an effect on 
period income and are taken account of accordingly in the sensi­
tivity analysis.

•	 �For the determination of sensitivity to exchange rate risks, a 
change in the exchange rate of +/– 10 percentage points on the 
reporting date (2010: 10) is assumed. All other variables remain 
constant.

The following table shows the sensitivity of consolidated net income 
before tax and equity to a reasonably possible change in the ex­
change rate:

EUR k

  Changes in the price of the USD Impact on profit before tax Impact on equity

2011 +10 % 5,343 –1,197

–10 % –5,341 1,196

2010 +10 % 5,099 –1,159

–10 % – 5,093 1,158

  Changes in the price of the TRY Impact on profit before tax Impact on equity

2011 +10 % –311 0

–10 % 312 0

2010 +10 % – 445 0

–10 % 445 0

  Changes in the price of the CZK Impact on profit before tax Impact on equity

2011 +10 % 2,431 430

–10 % –2,432 –351

2010 +10 % 1,318 0

–10 % – 1,318 0

  Changes in the price of the PLN Impact on profit before tax Impact on equity

2011 +10 % –310 0

–10 % 309 0

2010 +10 % – 304 0

–10 % 303 0

  Changes in the price of the MXN Impact on profit before tax Impact on equity

2011 +10 % 1,591 1,291

–10 % –1,591 –1,291

2010 +10 % 1,105 1,291

–10 % – 1,104 – 1,291

 

the net profit for the period. The settlement results are recognized 
under the financial result. There were no significant ineffective por­
tions of hedging transactions to report in the income statement in 
the year under review.

The sensitivity analysis of changes in currency is based on the 
following assumptions:

•	 �All monetary financial instruments not held in the functional cur­
rency are taken into account. The analysis is based on the original 
balance sheet items of the subsidiaries subject to a significant risk 
from functional currencies other than the Group‘s.

•	 �Changes in foreign exchange rates relating to financial instru­
ments that are part of a net investment in foreign operations have 
an impact on equity.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Interest rate riskInterest rate risk
The Group pursues the strategy of structuring its non-current bor­
rowings on a fixed-rate basis and consequently avoiding the risk of 
fluctuations in interest rates. For current loans, the market rates in 
force when the loan is concluded will apply, which means that the 
interest rate risk is limited to fluctuations in the market when the 
loan is drawn. For overdrafts, interest is agreed on a rollover basis.

The Group also hedges interest rate risks through the use of interest 
rate swaps. These hedges aim to ensure that especially short-term 
risks from changes of market interest rates are subject to as little 
fluctuation as possible. The nominal amounts of these interest rate 
derivatives on the reporting date amounted to EUR 21,429 thousand 
(2010: 29,643). They have a remaining maturity of up to two years 
(2010: three). The negative market value of EUR 644 thousand (2010: 
1,490) is reported under other current financial liabilities. The Com­
pany recognizes changes in the market value under the financial 
result in profit or loss. Accordingly, a net gain of EUR 846 thousand 
(2010: 192) is recognized in the financial result for fiscal year 2011. 
With these interest rate swaps, the underlying obligation is economi­
cally hedged without satisfaction of the requirements for hedge 
accounting.

In connection with the issue of the debenture bond in 2011 as part  
of the financial restructuring in 2011, GRAMMER AG concluded inter­
est rate swaps with a total nominal volume of EUR 43 million to 
hedge against interest rate changes affecting the variable-rate 
tranches, which share the residual maturity range of between three 
and seven years with the underlying transactions. These interest rate 
swaps qualify as cash flow hedges. The negative market value of 
EUR 931 thousand is reported under other current financial liabilities. 
The Company recognizes changes in the market value in accumulated 
other comprehensive income. 

To optimize interest expenses and minimize risk, Group Treasury man­
ages this risk centrally for all companies in the Group. To the extent 
that this is not limited by country-specific regulations, Group Trea­
sury makes financing available to all divisions and affiliated compa­
nies in the form of loans.

The interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on the following 
assumptions:

•	 �Financial instruments measured at amortized cost with a fixed rate 
of interest are not subject to interest rate risk and thus not in­
cluded in the sensitivity analysis.

•	 �Variable rate primary financial instruments, the payments from 
which are not designated as underlyings for cash flow hedges 
against interest rate risks, have an effect on period income and are 
taken account of in the sensitivity analysis.

•	 �Variable rate primary financial instruments, the payments from 
which are designated as underlyings for effective cash flow hedg­
es against interest rate risks, have synthetic fixed rates and thus 
are not subject to interest rate risks. Accordingly, they are not tak­
en into account for sensitivity analysis. 

•	 �Interest rate derivatives not designated as hedging instruments in 
the context of a cash flow hedge have an effect on period income 
and are thus taken account of in the sensitivity analysis.

•	 �Interest rate derivatives that are designated as hedging instru­
ments in the context of cash flow hedges have an effect on equity 
and are taken account of accordingly in the sensitivity analysis. 

•	 �The interest rate risk from currency derivatives is deemed 
insignificant, and thus not included in the sensitivity analysis.

•	 �For determination of the sensitivity of interest rate derivatives, 
a parallel shift of the yield curve by +/- 50 basis points (2010: 50) 
is assumed. The interest rate on deposits was reduced on interest-
bearing current account balances to a minimal level of 0.001 %. As 
a result of the current low interest rate, a minimum basic rate of 
interest of 0.000001 % was assumed for derivative financial in­
struments and otherwise a minimum basic rate of 0.001 % was 
applied.

The following table shows the sensitivity of consolidated profit before 
tax to a reasonably possible change in interest rates. All other param­
eters remain constant.

EUR k

 

Increase/ 
reduction in 
basis points

Impact on profit 
before tax

Impact on 
Equity

2011 – 50 –257 –850

+50 356 828

2010 –50 – 302 0

+50 251 0

 
Liquidity risk
The Group manages liquidity risks by holding appropriate reserves, 
lines of credit in the amount of EUR 82.1 million (2010: 119.1) with 
banks and through constant monitoring of forecast and actual cash 
flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and li­
abilities. The aim is to achieve a balance between covering the need 
for financial resources at all times and ensuring flexibility through the 
use of overdraft facilities, loans, bonds, factoring, finance leases and 
closed-end leasing agreements. In addition, internal guidelines stipu­
late a safety margin of EUR 50 million between medium-term loan 
commitments and net financial liabilities.
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The loan agreements governing the Company’s borrowing facilities 
stipulate compliance with various financial results (financial cov­
enants), which must be satisfied in all reporting periods. The most 
important figures at the reporting date are debt/EBITDA (ratio of net 
debt to EBITDA) and gearing (ratio of net debt to equity), whereas the 
syndicated loan in the previous year concentrated on net gearing and 
net debt (EBITDA to net interest expenses). Calculation of the figures 
is based on the definitions set forth in the loan contracts. In the con­
text of Group planning, compliance with the agreement terms is con­
tinually monitored reported to the creditors on a quarterly basis. If a 

covenant is violated, the creditors have the right to terminate the 
agreement for cause. 

As of December 31, 2011, the Group had unutilized lines of credit in 
the amount of EUR 75.4 million (2010: 58.0), for which all the condi­
tions required for utilization had been met. The following table shows 
the contractually agreed (undiscounted) interest and principal pay­
ments from primary financial liabilities and derivative financial in­
struments with negative fair values:

EUR k

Carrying 
amount Cashflow

2012 2013  –  2015
2016 and 
thereafter

2011

Current and non-current financial liabilities

Debenture bonds 131,430 5,603 88,682 54,520

Bank loans 5,592 5,728 228 0

Overdrafts 1,844 1,844 0 0

Current and non-current trade accounts payable 113,879 110,839 3,271 223

Current and non-current other financial liabilities

Liabilities form finance leases 975 805 242 0

Other original financial liabilities 8,430 2,151 0 6,279

Derivatives

Interest rate derivates 1,575 532 1,238 121

Currency derivates 17

Incoming payments –5,655

Payments in advance 5,673

127,520 93,661 61,143

EUR k

Carrying 
amount Cashflow

2011 2012 –  2014
2015 and 
thereafter

2010

Current and non-current financial liabilities

Debenture bonds 69,852 3,389 76,779 0

Bank loans/KfW loan 60,370 35,043 30,695 0

Overdrafts 779 779 0 0

Current and non-current trade accounts receivable 97,005 92,415 4,630 708

Current and non-current other financial liabilities

Liabilities form finance leases 2,642 1,494 1,364 0

Other original financial liabilities 5,496 583 99 4,814

Derivatives

Interest rate derivates 1,490 734 782 0

134,437 114,349 5,522

 
All instruments in the portfolio on the reporting date for which pay­
ments were already contractually agreed were included. Budget fig­
ures for future new liabilities are not included. Amounts in foreign 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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currency are converted at the spot rate on the reporting date. Finan­
cial liabilities repayable on demand are always allocated to the earli­
est maturity band. Variable interest payments under primary financial 
instruments were established on the basis of the interest rates last 
fixed before the balance sheet date. In the case of interest rate de­
rivatives, the net payments are recorded based on calculation of pay­
ment flows on the variable side using the relevant forward interest 
rates.

Other primary financial liabilities totaling EUR 6,279 thousand com­
prise interest-bearing debt. Based on the contractual terms for re­
demption, a return is not currently expected until five years have 
elapsed. 

For currency derivatives, both the payments made and corresponding 
payments received are recorded, since net cash settlement is not 
generally possible for these derivatives, which must be settled 
through provision of the countercurrency.

Capital management
In its management of capital, the Group tries to ensure that it 
achieves both a good credit rating and an equity ratio that is 
sufficient to support its operating activity and to optimize its value 
approach. The Group manages its financial structure in line with this 
objective and, taking account of general economic conditions, adapts 
it to the objective.

To monitor its financial structure, the Group uses net gearing, which 
is also a key financial parameter used by third parties to determine 
the ratio of net financial liabilities to equity. Net financial liabilities 
include current and non-current liabilities to banks as well as liabili­
ties from finance leasing, less cash and equivalents, securities and 
short-term deposits. Equity comprises the equity attributable to the 
parent company‘s shareholders. In the new credit facilities the 
following covenants have been defined: Financial leverage (net 
financial debt to EBITDA) and gearing ratio (net financial debt to 
Equity). In the period under review, the Company was able to 
maintain the conditions set out by third parties for retention of 
financing.

As a result of the financial crisis, the internal debt corridor has been 
redefined. The Group targets a safety buffer of 20 % for a gearing of 
one as defined below.

EUR k

2011 2010

Non-current bank liabilites 129,776 97,852

Current bank liabilities 9,090 33,149

Liabilities from finance lease 975 2,642

Cash and securities –46,749 –17,170

Net financial liabilitiesNet financial liabilities 93,092 116,473

Equity before minority interests 210,691 172,638

117,599
44 %

56,165
67 %

32 	E vents after the Balance Sheet Date
The following events occurred up to March 19, 2012 (date of release 
for submission to the Supervisory Board):

Chief Financial Officer, Mr. Alois Ponnath will leave GRAMMER AG at 
the close of the Annual General Meeting on May 23, 2012. No deci­
sions have yet been made with respect to Mr. Ponnath’s successor. 

33 	 Other Information

EmployeesEmployees
On average, GRAMMER Group had the following numbers of 
employees:

 

2011 2010

Wage-earning employees 6,620 5,950

Salaried employees 1,809 1,795

TotalTotal 8,429 7,745

The individual Group divisions had the following numbers of employ­
ees on the December 31 balance sheet date:

 

2011 2010

Seating Systems 3,377 2,744

Automotive 5,148 5,034

Central Services 201 177

TotalTotal 8,726 7,955

Auditors’ fees within the meaning of section 314 (1) No. 9 of the Auditors’ fees within the meaning of section 314 (1) No. 9 of the 
German Commercial CodeGerman Commercial Code
Fees for the auditor of the consolidated financial statements recog­
nized as expenses in the reporting year amounted to EUR 333.8 
thousand (2010: 295) for the audit, EUR 51.3 thousand (2010: 40) for 
other audit and assessment services and EUR 5.9 thousand (2010: 
157) for other services.

Executive Board and Supervisory Board remunerationExecutive Board and Supervisory Board remuneration

EUR k

2011 2010

Total remuneration paid to the Executive 
Board amounted to 2,050 1,495

The Supervisory Board received total 
remuneration of 477 201

 
Of the total Executive Board remuneration, EUR 441 thousand (2010: 
286) are attributable to performance-related components. These, in 
turn, are affected by performance-related remuneration from the 
previous year totaling EUR 76 thousand (2010: -100). 



107107Consolidated Financial StatementsConsolidated Financial Statements

Of the total Supervisory Board remuneration, EUR 0.0 thousand 
(2010: 0.0) are attributable to performance-related components.

Individual remuneration paid to the members of the Executive Board 
was as follows in fiscal year 2011:

EUR k

Non-perfor-
mance-related 

components

Performance- 
related com

ponents

Components 
providing long-
term incentives Total

Hartmut Müller 547 198 163 908

Alois Ponnath 368 149 109 626

Manfred Pretscher 326 94 96 516

1,241 441 368 2,050

For the period served on the Executive Board in fiscal year 2010, 
former CEO, Dr. Rolf-Dieter Kempis, received a belated payment of 
EUR 157 thousand in 2011.

A further EUR 267 thousand (2010: 258) was paid to former members 
of the management and the Executive Board and their surviving 
dependents.

In accordance with IAS 19, EUR 3,583 thousand (2010: 3,482) were 
recorded for pension payments to former members of the manage­
ment and the Executive Board and their surviving dependents.

Moreover, current service cost for allocations to pension provisions 
arose for active members of the Executive Board in the amount of 
EUR 100.9 thousand (2010: 57.4): of this, EUR 29.7 thousand is for  
Mr. Alois Ponnath, EUR 34.1 thousand for Mr. Hartmut Müller and 
EUR 37.1 thousand for Mr. Manfred Pretscher.

Individual remuneration paid to the members of the Supervisory 
Board was as follows:

EUR k

Non perfor-
mance related  

components Meeting fees Total

Dr.-Ing. Klaus Probst 60.0 12.0 72.0

Joachim Bender 45.0 8.0 53.0

Dr.-Ing. Bernd Blankenstein1 15.0 3.0 18.0

Martin Bodensteiner2 20.9 3.0 23.9

Udo Fechtner3 7.5 4.0 11.5

Dipl.-Betriebswirt (FH) Wolfram Hatz 30.0 12.0 42.0

Dipl.-Physiker Frank Himmelhuber4 26.3 3.0 29.3

Lic. Oec. HSG Ingrid Hunger5 10.8 2.0 12.8

Dipl.-Kauffrau Tanja Jacquemin 30.0 4.0 34.0

Dipl.-Betriebswirt (FH) Harald Jung6 0.7 0.0 0.7

Anton Kohl 30.0 4.0 34.0

Dipl.-Betriebswirt (FH) Georg Liebler 30.0 7.0 37.0

Wolfgang Rösl 30.0 7.0 37.0

Dr.-Ing. Peter Stehle 30.0 4.0 34.0

Dr. Bernhard Wankerl 30.0 8.0 38.0

396.2 81.0 477.2
1 Member until June 30, 2011
2 Member from April 20, 2011
3 Member until March 31, 2011

4 Member until November 15, 2011
5 Member from August 22, 2011
6 Member from December 22, 2011

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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No compensation was paid to former members of the Supervisory 
Board, and no such payments constitute a component of Supervisory 
Board remuneration. In fiscal year 2011, the Supervisory Board was 
not paid any performance-based remuneration.

34 	 Corporate Governance
The Corporate Governance Statement pursuant to section 289 a of 
the German Commercial Code (HGB) along with the Declaration of 
Conformity with the German Corporate Governance Code (section 
161 of the Stock Corporation Act (AktG)) are reproduced in the 2011 
Annual Report and are permanently available on the company 
website under www.grammer.com/en/about-grammer/
corporate-governance.
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Auditors‘ Report
 
We issued the following opinion with respect to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and the Consolidated Management Report:

“We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared 
by Grammer Aktiengesellschaft, Amberg, comprising the income 
statement, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of 
financial positions, the statement of changes in equity, the cash flow 
statement and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
together with the Group management report for the fiscal year from 
January 1 to December 31, 2011. The preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements and the Group management report in accor­
dance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as 
adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements of German com­
mercial law pursuant to Section 315 a (1) of the German Commercial 
Code (HGB) are the responsibility of the parent company’s legal rep­
resentatives. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the con­
solidated financial statements and on the Group management report 
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with Section 317 HGB and German generally accepted 
standards for the audit of financial statements as promulgated by the 
Institute of Public Auditors in Germany (IDW). Those standards re­
quire that we plan and perform the audit in such a way that mis­
statements materially affecting the presentation of the net assets, 
financial position and results of operations in the consolidated finan­
cial statements in accordance with German principles of proper ac­
counting and in the Group management report are detected with 
reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the 
economic and legal environment of the Group and expectations as to 
possible misstatements are taken into account in the determination 
of audit procedures. The effectiveness of the accounting related in­
ternalcontrol system and the evidence supporting the disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements and the Group management 
report are examined primarily on a test basis within the framework of 
the audit. The audit includes assessing the annual financial state­
ments of those entities included in consolidation, the determination 
of entities to be included in consolidation, the accounting and con­
solidation principles used and significant estimates made by manage­
ment, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consoli­
dated financial statements and Group management report.  
 
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

Our audit has not led to any reservations. In our opinion, based 
on the findings of our audit, the consolidated financial statements 
comply with the IFRS, as adopted by the EU, and the additional re­
quirements of German commercial law pursuant to Section 315 a (1) 
HGB and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position 
and results of operations of the Group in accordance with these re­
quirements. The Group management report is consistent with the 
consolidated financial statements and as a whole provides a suitable 
view of the Group’s position and suitably presents the opportunities 
and risks of future development.”

 
Nuremberg, March 19, 2012 

Ernst & Young GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

 
 
Schuberth			  Helgert
Wirtschaftsprüfer		  Wirtschaftsprüfer

Auditors‘ ReportAuditors‘ Report
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Responsibility Statement
 
 
To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable 
reporting principles, the consolidated financial statements give a true 
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or 
loss of the Group, and the Group Management Report includes a fair 
review of the development and performance of the business and the 
position of the Group, together with a description of the principal 
opportunities and risks associated with the expected development of 
the Group.

 
Amberg, March 2012

 
 
 
GRAMMER AG 
Executive Board

111111Responsibility StatementConsolidated Financial StatementsConsolidated Financial Statements
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EUR k

2011 2010

Revenue 509,256 413,193

Increase (2010: decrease) in finished goods and work in progress 1,058 –2,499

Other own work capitalized 612 898

510,926 411,592

Other operating income 8,940 12,523

Material costs 382,174 269,604

Personnel expenses 67,225 100,938

Depreciation and amortization 10,260 9,110

Other operating expenses 50,104 47,070

10,103 – 2,607

Earnings from participations 24,011 9,996

  of which from affiliated companies EUR k 24,011 (2010: 9,996)

Income from profit and loss transfer agreements 27 36

  of which from affiliated companies EUR k 27 (2010: 36)

Income from other investments and long-term loans 3,545 3,421

  of which from affiliated companies EUR k 3,114 (2010: 2,955)

Other interest and other income 2,104 1,672

  of which from affiliated companies EUR k 1,926 (2010: 1,575)

Amortisation of financial assets and investments classified as current assets 0 21

Expenses from the transfer of losses 9,495 3,573

  of which from affiliated companies EUR k 9,495 (2010: 3,573)

Interest and other expenses 12,917 13,920

  of which to affiliated companies EUR k 199 (2010: 208)

Result from ordinary activities 17,378 – 4,996

Extraordinary income 0 16,176

Extraordinary expenses 0 16,591

Extraordinary result 0 – 415

Income taxes 2,921 543

Other taxes 115 238

Net profit/net loss 14,342 –6,192

Loss carry-forward –26,009 –19,817

Releases from the reserve for own shares 0 1,997

Releases from other revenue reserves 24,811 0

Allocation to other revenue reserves 0 –1,997

Net retained profit/net retained lossNet retained profit/net retained loss 13,144  –26,009

1	 Financial statements in accordance with HGB

GRAMMER AG – Income Statement 1 
for the fiscal year ending December 31
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AssetsAssets

EUR k

2011 2010

A.	 Fixed assets

I. Intangible assets 5,636 7,431

II. Property, plant and equipment 38,110 37,922

III. Financial assets 138,203 131,733

181,949 177,086

B.	 Current assets

I. Inventories 38,216 42,563

II. Receivables and other assets 145,003 133,333

III. Cash on hand and bank balances 25,813 57

209,032 175,953

C.	D eferred items 381 1,695

D. Positive difference from asset allocation 222 0

Total assetsTotal assets 391,584 354,734

EQUITY AND LIABILITIESEQUITY AND LIABILITIES

EUR k

2011 2010

A.	E quity

I. Subscribed capital 29,555 26,868

   Own shares –845 –845

   Issued capital (conditional capital EUR k 13,434; 2010: 13,434) 28,710 26,023

II. Capital reserve 74,651 58,236

III. Revenue reserves 1,183 25,995

IV. Net profit (2010: net loss) 13,144 –26,009

117,688 84,245

B.	 Provisions

1. Pension provisions 49,166 60,845

2. Provisions for taxation 0 2,214

3. Other provisions 26,156 25,924

75,322 88,983

C.	 Liabilities

1. Liabilities to banks 130,001  127,060

2. Prepayments received 3,478 6,679

3. Trade accounts payable 12,992 18,240

4. Liabilites to related parties 45,456 24,736

5. Other liabilities 6,647 4,791

198,574 181,506

Total equity and liabilitiesTotal equity and liabilities 391,584 354,734

1	 Financial statements in accordance with HGB

GRAMMER AG – Balance Sheet 1

for the fiscal year ended December 31 
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GRAMMER Group Five-year Overview according to IFRS

in EUR m

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Group revenue 1,093.5 929.7 727.4 1,007.0 998.1

Automotive revenue 680.3 610.2 495.5 637.6 657.7

Seating Systems revenue 438.0 341.9 247.1 390.0 363.3

Income statement

Gross profit 142.5 119.6 76.0 129.8 126.7

EBIT 49.4 32.9 –23.9 32.0 32.1

EBIT margin (in %) 4.5 3.5 –3.3 3.2 3.2

Financial result –15.1 –12.3 –7.6 –12.4 –9.3

Profit/loss (–) before tax 34.3 20.6 –31.5 19.6 22.8

Income taxes –12.2 –4.2 3.3 –5.4 –5.3

Net profit/loss (–) 22.1 16.3 –28.2 14.1 17.6

Balance sheet

Total assets 625.2 559.4 500.4 481.0 497.5

Non-current assets 260.6 245.9 228.0 216.7 201.6

Current assets 364.6 313.5 272.4 264.3 296.0

Equity 211.2 173.1 151.0 173.0 184.7

Equity ratio (in %) 34 31 30 36 37

Net financial debt 92.1 113.8 106.2 80.2 69.9

Cash flow statement

Capital expenditure (without M & A) 37.6 38.1 32.7 39.9 34.6

Depreciation and amortization 27.5 26.3 26.5 23.4 23.5

Cash flow from operating activities 58.0 38.0 1.7 40.8 38.6

Employees

Annual average 8,429 7,745 7,474 9,493 9,326

thereof in Germany 2,177 2,147 2,354 2,682 2,754

thereof outside Germany 6,252 5,598 5,120 6,811 6,572

Personnel expenses 229.6 208.4 199.1 238.7 232.0

Key share data

Share price at year-end (XETRA, in EUR) 13.02 18.30 6.05 6.90 16.02

Market capitalization at year-end (in EUR m) 150.3 192.1 63.5 72.4 168.1

Dividend (in EUR) 0.40* 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00

Earnings per share (in EUR) 2.02 1.60 –2.77 1.38 1.72

* proposal
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Financial Calender 2012 and Trade Fair Date

Important dates for shareholders and analysts

Annual Report 2011 	 03/29/2012

Annual analyst and press conference fiscal year 2011 	 03/29/2012

Interim Report, first quarter 2012 	 05/09/2012

Annual General Meeting 2012
Location: ACC (Amberger Congress Centrum), 92224 Amberg 	 05/23/2012

Interim Report, second quarter and first half-year 2012 	 08/08/2012

Interim Report, third quarter 2012 	 11/07/2012

Important trade fair dates

Busworld 2012, Istanbul, Turkey  	 04/19 – 04/21/2012

Innotrans 2012, Berlin	 09/18 – 09/21/2012

IAA Nutzfahrzeuge 2012, Hanover 	 09/20 – 09/27/2012

IZB 2012, Wolfsburg 	 10/10 – 10/12/2012

GIE+Expo 2012, Louisville, USA 	 10/24 – 10/26/2012

Mets 2012, Amsterdam, The Netherlands 	 11/13 – 11/15/2012

Bauma China 2012, Shanghai, China   	 11/27 – 11/30/2012
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